## ANALYSIS OF DRINKING WATER QUALITY AND SANITATION IN A PERI-URBAN AREA OF DAR ES SALAAM, TANZANIA

By

Tulakemelwa Mhamilawa Ngasala

## A DISSERTATION

Submitted to Michigan State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Civil Engineering – Doctor of Philosophy

#### ABSTRACT

### ANALYSIS OF DRINKING WATER QUALITY AND SANITATION IN A PERI-URBAN AREA OF DAR ES SALAAM, TANZANIA

#### By

#### Tulakemelwa Mhamilawa Ngasala

While the Sustainable Development Goal 6 called for universal access to water and sanitation by 2030, the challenge of achieving this goal seems daunting in the context of the bourgeoning peri- urban communities of the developing world. These areas are often in a regulatory grey area, receiving municipal water on an irregular basis and lacking sanitation and other basic services. And yet, SDG 6 recognizes that improving global health and wellbeing is critically linked to addressing this problem. A multi-method study of the peri-urban area of Dar es Salaam was conducted to determine the extent of the problem and to make recommendations for system-wide approaches to alleviate the risk of waterborne disease. Existing water sources in the area were identified. Water collection and storage practices were assessed at the household level to determine how water from relatively clean sources becomes contaminated. Escherichia coli (E. coli), nitrate, and total dissolved solid (TDS) were analyzed as indicators for the sewage contamination. Bivariate correlation and univariate regression analyses were used to identify the sources of contamination. The assessment focused on the relationship and association of water contamination with site-specific variables. The variable that had the highest negative impact to the water source was analyzed by using a groundwater flow and contaminant transport model as a tool to make recommendations for proper site-specific sanitation practices. Of the three water sources identified (city water, vendors, and domestic wells), water quality analysis showed that city water at the point of collection (POC) was deemed excellent, whereas it diminished at the point of use (POU) for all three water sources. Reasons for change in water quality at POU and POC were due

to mixing of water from different water sources at homes during storage. Using a multinomial regression model, the main reason for mixing water was determined to be the dilution of the salty taste of well water (p < 0.05) and insufficient storage containers (p < 0.05). Of the three water sources identified, domestic wells were found to be the most contaminated. Further analysis on the domestic wells showed a significant contamination, where 80% of wells tested contained E. coli. Also, 58% and 81% of wells tested had concentrations of nitrate and TDS, respectively, that exceeded the WHO guidelines. Univariate regression analysis confirmed the association of contaminants with distance of a well from a sanitation system and well depth (p < 0.05). Groundwater transport modeling showed a strong correlation between the tracer and contaminants and the tracer and distance and helped identify the safe well setback distance that is specific to site conditions, soil type, and aquifer properties. Groundwater modeling was shown to be a good assessment tool for contamination within an aquifer system in urban overpopulated areas of developing countries. Our findings also indicate that the risk of exposure to waterborne disease comes from a combination of factors that involve multiple actors, from improved awareness and sanitation practices to improved regulatory oversight, supply practices, and sanitation technologies.

Copyright by TULAKEMELWA MHAMILAWA NGASALA 2019 I dedicate this thesis to my three beautiful girls, Atuganile, Rachael and Serena. You are the reason I didn't give up! You too, can do all things through Christ who strengthens you (Philippians 4:13)

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, to the Almighty GOD for allowing me to do this and bring the right people to help me. I would like to acknowledge the great support I received from my advisors, Dr. Susan Masten and Dr. Phanikumar Mantha for their constant guidance, encouragements, research ideas and support throughout my Ph. D program. My research ability was developed mainly under your supervision. Special thanks to my committee members, Drs. Steven Gasteyer, Steve Safferman and David Wiggert for their constant guidance, supports and thoughts on my research.

To Bakily Gulam and Kisibwi Maendeka, we did this together. Thank you for being the best partners! Special thanks to the community members of Mabibo Dar es Salaam for their tremendous support during my data collection. To the Microbiology Lab staff under the leadership of Dr. Billy Ngasala from Muhimbili University of Health and Allied Sciences (MUHAS) for supporting me in the conducting the experimental works. I am also very grateful for the support I received from Michigan State University through Tanzania Partnership Program (TPP), Environmental Science and Policy Program (ESPP) and Miriam J Scholarship.

Words cannot describe the support from my parents Dr. and Mrs. Edward Mhamilawa for giving me life, believing in me, praying for me and for words of encouragement throughout these years. To my siblings, Malumbo, Sarah and Lwidiko, you have always supported me in my personal and professional career. Special thanks to Bibi Jengo (a.k.a Mrs. Rosemary Ngasala), you have been there with me and for me through thick and thin. To all my colleagues and friends at Michigan State University for their continuous support throughout my program.

To Sifa, Atuganile, Rachael and Serena, this has been truly a memorable journey and would not have been complete without you!

vi

LIST OF TABLES	X
LIST OF FIGURES	. xii
KEY TO ABBREVIATIONS	. XX
CHAPTER 1: Introduction 1.1 Background 1.2 Objectives REFERENCES	1 1 2 5
<ul> <li>CHAPTER 2: Risk Perceptions of Environmental and Health Impacts of Water</li> <li>Contamination in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania</li> <li>Abstract</li> <li>2.1 Introduction</li></ul>	8 8 8 9 . 10
<ul> <li>2.1.2 Case Study: Water and Sanitation Challenges in a Dar Es Salaam Neighborhood</li> <li>2.2 Related Studies</li></ul>	. 12 . 15 . 18 . 19
<ul> <li>2.4.1 Water Scarcity</li> <li>2.4.2 Sanitation Practice</li> <li>2.4.3 Water Quality</li> <li>2.4.4 Additional Field Observations</li> </ul>	. 19 . 22 . 24 . 27
<ul> <li>2.5 Discussion</li></ul>	. 28 . 29 . 30 . 30
2.6 Conclusion	. 31 . 33
CHAPTER 3: Linking Cross-Contamination of Domestic Water with Storage Practices at the Point of Use in Urban Areas of Dar es Salaam, Tanzania	. 38
Abstract         3.1       Introduction         3.2       Methods	. 38 . 39 . 43
<ul> <li>3.2.1 Study Area and Data Collection</li></ul>	. 43 . 45 . 48
<ul> <li>3.3 Results</li></ul>	. 50 . 50 . 53
3.4 Discussion	. 56

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

3.4.2 Water Storage Practices	59 61
3.5 Conclusion	61
3.6 Acknowledgments	65
APPENDIX	66
REFERENCES	71
CHAPTER 4: Impact of Domestic Wells and Hydrogeologic Setting on Water Quality in peri-	
urban Dar es Salaam. Tanzania	77
Abstract	77
4.1 Introduction	78
4.2 Methods	82
4.2.1 Study Area Description	82
4.3 Data Collection	85
4.3.1 Radius of Influence	86
4.3.2 Statistical Analysis	86
4.4 Results	90
4.4.1 Bivariate Correlations	91
4.4.2 Univariate Multiple Linear Regressions	96
4.5 Discussion	01
4.6 Recommendations	05
4.6.1 Sanitation	05
4.6.2 Water Supply	06
4.6.3 Water Resources Management	08
4.7 Acknowledgements	09
APPENDICES	10
Appendix A: Sanitation Facilities in Dar-es-Salaam	11
Appendix B: Hydrogeology and Domestic Wells	12
Appendix C: Methodology for Sampling and Analysis	14
Appendix D: Statistical Analysis	15
REFERENCES	44
CHAPTER 5: Identifying Safe Sanitation Practices in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania using	
Groundwater Transport Modeling and Water Ouality Monitoring Data	50
Abstract	50
5.1 Introduction	52
5.2 Methods	56
5.2.1 Study Area	56
5.2.2 Data Collection	57
5.2.3 Hydrogeology	58
5.2.4 Groundwater Flow and Transport Modeling	59
5.2.5 Statistical Analyses	61
5.3 Results	63
5.3.1 Groundwater Flow Model Simulation and Calibration	63
5.3.2 Tracer Transport	64
5.3.3 Bivariate Correlations	66

5.3.4	Linear Regression	
5.4	Discussion	
5.5	Conclusion	
APPEND	IX	
REFERE	NCES	
CHAPTE	R 6: Conclusion	
6.1	Summary	
6.2	Recommendations	
6.2.1	Engineering and Economic Aspects	
6.2.2	Social Aspects	
6.2.3	Future Work	
REFERE	NCES	

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 2-1. Community Capitals   11
Table 3-1. Summarized laboratory methods used for water quality testing
Table 3-2. Assigned and relative weight of the water quality parameters (Al-Barakah et al., 2010;Ramakrishnaiah et al., 2009; Saana et al., 2016)
Table 3-3. Water Quality Index classification adopted and modified (Ramakrishnaiah et al., 2009)
Table 3-4. Multinomial logistic regression showing the relationship between type of mixingcombination and the reasons for mixing water during storage
Table A3-1. Number of households reported different mixing combinations and the reasons for mixing water during storage.       70
Table 4-1. Pearson's r values from linear correlation analysis of three combination of contaminants
Table 4-2. Bivariate correlation of distance, age, or depth of the well with water quality
Table 4-3. General Linear Model analysis results from 7 combinations of independent variables of nitrate with four independent variables
Table 4-4. Generalized linear model results from 8 combinations of independent variables with <i>E. coli</i>
Table 4-5. Generalized linear model results from 8 combinations of independent variables with TDS.      100
Table A4-1. General Linear Model analysis results from 7 combinations of independent variables of nitrate that describe the graphs for <i>nitrate</i>
Table A4-2. General Linear Model analysis results from 7 combinations of independent variables of nitrate that describe the graphs for <i>E. coli</i>
Table A4-3. General Linear Model analysis results from 7 combinations of independent variablesof nitrate that describe the graphs for Total Dissolved Solids (TDS)
Table 5-1. Bivariate correlations of tracer transport with water quality parameters 166
Table 5-2. Bivariate correlations of distance from shallow and deep wells to pit latrines with tracer transport and water quality parameters.         167

Table 5-3. Linear regression summary results from all wells with tracer transport and distance, nitrate, <i>E. coli</i> and TDS
Table 5-4. Linear regression summary results from all wells with tracer transport and distance, nitrate, <i>E. coli</i> and TDS
Table 5-5. The recommended minimum distance based on the fitted distance from the wells to pit latrines
Table A5-1. Different recommended well setback distances from literature
Table A5-2. MODFLOW model input parameters for the groundwater flow
Table A5-3. MT3DMS model input parameters for the contaminant transport

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2-1. Preferences of water sources by the interviewees, considering its availability ( $N = 60$ ). 20
Figure 2-2. The immediate alternative water sources used by the interviewees, considering its availability $(N = 60)$
Figure 2-3. Woman waiting to collect city water from one of the public standpipes
Figure 2-4. Challenges related to the maintenance of their sanitation systems reported by interviewees $(N = 57)$
Figure 2-5. Observed site condition of household interviewed
Figure 2-6. Small scale water-vendor delivering water to a customer
Figure 3-1. Location of the study area in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania
Figure 3-2. WQI comparison of (a) city water samples tested at the point of collection (POC, $n = 7$ ) and at the households (i.e., the point of use, POU, $n = 48$ )
Figure 3-3. WQI comparison of <i>domestic well</i> water samples tested at the POC ( $n = 6$ ) and at the households (i.e., the POU, $n = 46$ )
Figure 3-4. WQI comparison of <i>water from private vendors</i> water samples tested at the POC ( $n = 7$ ) and at the households (i.e., the POU, $n = 8$ )
Figure 3-5. Percentages of survey responses showing three different mixing combination of water sources during storage at the household
Figure 3-6. Percentage of survey responses for residents' tendency to mix water during storage.
Figure A3-1. <i>E. coli</i> concentration comparison at the Point of Collection (POC) on the left, and Point of Use (POU) on the right
Figure A3-2. Ammonia concentrations comparison at the Point of Collection (POC) on the left and Point of Use (POU) on the right
Figure A3-3. Total Dissolved Solids (TDS) concentrations comparison at the Point of Collection (POC) on the left, and Point of Use (POU) on the right
Figure A3-4. Chloride concentrations comparison at the Point of Collection (POC) on the left, and Point of Use (POU) on the right

Figure A3-5. Nitrate concentrations comparison at the Point of Collection (POC) on the left, and Point of Use (POU) on the right
Figure A3-6. pH levels comparison at the Point of Collection (POC) on the left, and Point of Use (POU) on the right
Figure A3-7. Nitrite concentrations comparison at the Point of Collection (POC) on the left, and Point of Use (POU) on the right
Figure 4-1. Location of the study area in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania showing 71 domestic wells that were used for water quality testing and statistical analyses. Our study area is located about 7 km from the Indian Ocean
Figure 4-2. Profile of the hydrogeological map showing types of aquifer and the water level in our study area (Mjemah et. al., 2009)
Figure 4-3. Photograph of a domestic well in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. Herein, the well, though deep, is positioned only 3 m from the nearest "pit latrine", which may influence well water quality
Figure 4-4. Box plots showing the upper adjacent, median and lower adjacent values of nitrate (4-4a), TDS (4-4b) and <i>E. coli</i> (4-4c) for all domestic wells analyzed
Figure 4-5. The spatial distribution of nitrate, <i>E. coli</i> , and TDS concentrations from the wells analyzed within the study area
Figure 4-6. Box plots showing the upper adjacent, median and lower adjacent values of well depth (4-6a), well age (4-6b) and distance (4-6c) from a well to the nearest pit latrine for domestic wells
Figure 4-7. Plot of histogram of raw residual for nitrate and distance of well from "pit latrine" 97
Figure 4-8. Plot of Regression Standardized Residual for nitrate and distance
Figure 4-9. Plot of Observed Cumulative Probability and Expected Cumulative Probability for nitrate and distance of well from the "pit latrine"
Figure 4-10. (a) Histogram of raw residuals for <i>E. coli</i> and distance, (b) plot of standardized Pearson residuals for <i>E. coli</i> and distance
Figure 4-11. (a) Plot of histogram of raw residuals for TDS and distance, (b) Plot of standardized Pearson residuals for TDS and distance
Figure A4-1. Pearson's <i>r</i> correlation between nitrate concentration and <i>E</i> . <i>coli</i> count
Figure A4-2. Pearson's <i>r</i> correlation between nitrate and TDS concentration

Figure A4-3. Pearson's <i>r</i> correlation between TDS concentration and <i>E. coli</i> count 116
Figure A4-4. Pearson's <i>r</i> correlation between nitrate concentration and depth of the well 116
Figure A4-5. Pearson's <i>r</i> correlation between <i>E. coli</i> count and depth of the well 117
Figure A4-6. Pearson's $r$ correlation between TDS concentration and depth of the well 117
Figure A4-7. Pearson's $r$ correlation between nitrate concentration and age of the well 118
Figure A4-8. Pearson's <i>r</i> correlation between <i>E. coli</i> and age of the well 118
Figure A4-9. Pearson's <i>r</i> correlation between TDS concentration and age of the well 119
Figure A4-10. Pearson's r correlation between nitrate concentrations with distance from a domestic well to its nearest "pit latrine"
Figure A4-11. Pearson's r correlation between <i>E. coli</i> with distance from a domestic well to its nearest "pit latrine"
Figure A4-12. Pearson's r correlation between TDS concentrations with distance from a domestic well to its nearest "pit latrine"
Figure A4-13. Plot of histogram of raw residual for <i>nitrate and age</i> , herein, the figure does not emulate the shape of a Normal (bell-curved) distribution
Figure A4-14. Plot of Observed Cumulative Probability and Expected Cumulative Probability for <i>nitrate and age</i> , the points here partly form linear pattern, which indicates normal distribution is a poor model for this data set
Figure A4-15. Plot of Regression Standardized Residual for <i>nitrate and age</i> which shows some heteroscedasticity because dependent variable is not equal across the values of independent variables
Figure A4-16. Plot of histogram of raw residual for <i>nitrate and depth</i> , herein, the figure does not emulate the shape of a Normal (bell-curved) distribution
Figure A4-17. Plot of Observed Cumulative Probability and Expected Cumulative Probability for <i>nitrate and depth</i> , the points here form linear pattern, which indicates normal distribution is a good model for this data set
Figure A4-18. Plot of Regression Standardized Residual for nitrate and depth which shows some heteroscedasticity because dependent variable is not equal across the values of independent variables

Figure 5-1. Conceptual model of contaminant transport in groundwater with  $C_0$  representing the initial source concentration of the contaminant, Z is the soil layer thickness, and Y as the width of the modeling area. 153

Figure 5-3. Step by step procedure for the groundwater simulation process
Figure 5-4. Groundwater flow (top) and calibration of the hydraulic head (bottom) 164
Figure 5-5. Plume transport at 90 days (top left), 365 days (top right) and 730 days (bottom) with red dots representing monitoring wells receiving contamination from the source (pit latrines) 165
Figure 5-6. Linear regression model results of distance measured with numerical tracer concentration for all wells combined (shallow and deep)
Figure 5-7. Linear regression model results of nitrate with numerical tracer concentration for all wells combined (shallow and deep)
Figure 5-8. Linear regression model results of <i>E. coli</i> with numerical tracer concentration for all wells combined (shallow and deep)
Figure 5-9. Box plots showing the upper adjacent, median and lower adjacent values of fitted distance for all wells analyzed (blue box) with wells that met WHO standard (red box) for nitrate, <i>E. coli</i> and TDS levels
Figure A5-1. The top view (a) and side view (b) of the 3D conceptual model of the study area with three soil layers, fine sand aquifer, clayey sand with layers of clay aquitard and the sandy clay mixed with clay lenses
Figure A5-2. A flow vector map corresponding to groundwater flow and calibration of the hydraulic head
Figure A5-3. Tracer breakthrough curves generated for selected domestic wells
Figure A5-4. Plume migration at 1 <sup>st</sup> , 2 <sup>nd</sup> and 3 <sup>rd</sup> layers after 730 days, showing a well located about 9 m from the pit latrine
Figure A5-5. Linear regression model results of the measured distance from pit latrine with numerical tracer concentration for shallow wells
Figure A5-6. Linear regression model results of the measured distance from pit latrine with numerical tracer concentration for deep wells
Figure A5-7. Linear regression model results of TDS with numerical tracer concentration for all wells combined
Figure A5-8. Linear regression model results of fitted distance with nitrate for all wells combined
Figure A5-9. Linear regression model results of fitted distance with <i>E. coli</i> for all wells combined 183

Figure A5-10.	Linear	regression	model	results	of fitted	distance	with	TDS	concentrat	ion for	all
wells combined	d									1	83

# **KEY TO ABBREVIATIONS**

CCF: Community Capitals Framework
CDC: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
DAWASCO: Dar es Salaam Water and Sewerage Corporation
E. coli: Escherichia coli
EPA: Environmental Protection Agency
GIS: Geographic Information System
IWRM: Integrated Water Resources Management
KAP: Knowledge, Attitude and Practices
MCL: Maximum Contaminant Level
MODFLOW: Modular Three-Dimensional Finite-Difference Groundwater Flow Model
MT3DMS: Modular Three-Dimensional Multispecies Transport Model for Simulation
NO <sub>3</sub> -: Nitrate
POC: Point of Collection
POU: Point of Use
TANROADS: Tanzania National Roads Agency
TDS: Total Dissolved Solids
UNDP: United Nations Development Programme
UNICEF: Nations International Children's Emergency Fund
WQI: Water Quality Index
WHO: World Health Organization

#### **CHAPTER 1: Introduction**

#### **1.1 Background**

Approximately 663 million people around the world do not have access to potable drinking water, with half of these people living on the continent of Africa and 23 million living in Tanzania (Water Aid, 2016; WHO & UNICEF, 2015). Safe drinking water is considered a basic human right and a crucial part of implementing an effective health protection policy (WHO, 2011). It is recognized that the availability of potable water is key to achieving the UN Millennium Development Goals (MDGs) (Murphy & Fukuda-Parr, 2004; UNICEF, 2004). Inadequate access to water and sanitation is responsible for ~829,000 deaths a year, and debilitating illness for millions (WHO, 2019). Goal 6 of the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) focuses on ensuring the availability of water and the sustainable management of water and sanitation by 2030, with the main goal of eliminating waterborne disease. It is critical to tackle the problem of poor access to water and sanitation in order to achieve improvements in quality of life and meaningful development gains.

Many peri-urban communities in the developing world have a particular challenge, as they often have a deeply inadequate supply of municipal water, inadequate or nonexistent sanitation systems, and other basic services such as lack road access in informal settlements. The risk of contracting waterborne diseases in these environments is high. Within these communities, the use of pit latrines and the reliance on groundwater is high and it is expected to increase as Sustainable Development Goals for safe sanitation are increasingly being met (Graham & Polizzotto, 2013; Ravenscroft et al., 2017). In Dar es Salaam City where this study was conducted, the main source of city water supply has been the surface water, however, in the recent years, these sources have become unreliable due to declining in water levels due to human activities, including climate

change (Mato, 2002; Ngoye & Machiwa, 2004). As a result, the city is unable to supply water to all residents resulting in increased reliance on groundwater. The majority of homes in this area use unimproved pit latrines. The lack of access to well-designed and operating sewerage systems along with poor management of wastewater results in the contamination of ground and surface water (Ngasala et al., 2019).

### **1.2 Objectives**

The main objective of this study was to use multi-method study of a peri-urban area of Dar es Salaam to determine the extent of the problem and make recommendations for system-wide approaches to alleviate the risk of waterborne disease. Specific objectives were to:

- Identify and assess the implications of poor water scarcity, water quality, household water management, water hygiene practices issues, as well as environmental concerns that lead to poor sanitation practices.
- 2. Asses the aspect of cross contamination of domestic water from the use of multiple water sources at the household level
- 3. Determine the association and the relationship of domestic water contamination with sitespecific variables.
- 4. Use groundwater modelling contaminant transport model as a tool to make recommendations for proper site-specific sanitation practices.

Building on prior studies of poor sanitation practices and domestic water contamination (e.g., Kyessi, 2005; Schouten & Moriarty, 2003), this study uses an interdisciplinary approach to identify the barriers to improving water quality, household hygiene practices, and general environmental conditions related to water sanitation in the densely populated, peri-urban area community. A multi-method study of the peri-urban area of Dar es Salaam was conducted to determine the extent of the problem and to make recommendations for system-wide approaches to alleviate the risk of waterborne disease. It was argued that the action of reducing the severity of this risk in the African peri-urban community context must involve an approach that simultaneously addresses infrastructure upgrades, and improvement of governance, individual and household knowledge about water quality, hygiene, and sanitation. Such an approach can involve better insights about how best to assess and plot public health responses to frequent outbreaks of waterborne diseases. The study draws on results from a field study about water quality, sewage contamination, and water supply in a densely-populated neighborhood of Dar es Salaam. The complete analysis was done in 4 different stages.

The first chapter explored cross-cultural perceptions of environmental risks of water contamination, water sanitation, and water quality in an urban community. It provided an insight on how best to assess public health responses to frequent outbreaks of water borne diseases in the city of Dar es Salaam. Specifically, it focused on the implications of water scarcity for water quality issues, household water management, water hygiene practices, and environmental concerns arising out of poor sanitation practices. The analysis built on two arguments, first, health communication that improves household knowledge, attitudes and practice, should be combined with initiatives to create community level management structures and infrastructure investments (Schouten & Moriarty, 2003). Second, ultimately communities can improve access to potable water through a combination of advocacy and implementation by community-level non-governmental organizations and political parties (Kyessi, 2005). An asset-based approach was used that identifies deficits, but also investment opportunities at the neighborhood level.

The second chapter focused on the aspect of cross contamination of domestic water from the use of multiple water sources at the household level. Jensen et al. (2002) and Wright et al. (2004) provided much information about the importance of community education to address the issue of contamination during water storage and the impact of poor water storage practices on water quality at the household level. The focus of this study was to assess how water becomes contaminated between the point of collection (POC) and the point of use (POU) due to practices such as mixing and storage at POU.

The third chapter expanded on chapter 2, which provided an insight into the origins of water contamination and identified the most contaminated water sources. The analysis went further to assess the relationship and association of water contamination with site-specific variables. Numerous studies have analyzed the impact of contamination in surface and ground water sources by focusing on each factor individually, but this chapter uniquely identified the sources and used statistical methods to evaluate the correlation between site-specific parameters and levels of contamination. It was hypothesized that positive bivariate correlations exist between nitrate, TDS, and *E. coli* levels, which means that all three contaminants originate from the same sources.

The last chapter used groundwater modelling contaminant transport model as a tool to make recommendations for proper site-specific sanitation practices. The variables (based on chapter 3 results) that had the highest negative impact to the water source were analyzed using a groundwater flow and contaminant transport model. A numerical tracer was used to represent contaminant transport and find its correlation with distance and the contaminants (nitrate, *E. coli* and TDS).

REFERENCES

### REFERENCES

- 1. Graham, J. P., & Polizzotto, M. L. (2013). Pit latrines and their impacts on groundwater quality: A systematic review. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 121(5), 521. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1206028.
- Jensen, P. K., Ensink, J. H. J., Jayasinghe, G., Hoek, W. V. D., Cairncross, S., & Dalsgaard, A. (2002). Domestic transmission routes of pathogens: the problem of in-house contamination of drinking water during storage in developing countries. *Tropical Medicine* & *International Health*, 7(7), 604–609. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-3156.2002.00901.
- 3. Kyessi, A. (2005). Community-Based urban water management in fringe neighbourhoods: The Case of Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. *Habitat International*, 29, 1–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0197-3975(03)00059-6.
- 4. Mato, R. R. A. M. (2002). Groundwater pollution in urban Dar es Salaam, Tanzania: Eindhoven: *Printed by University Press, Technische Universiteit Eindhoven*.
- 5. Murphy, C., & Fukuda-Parr, S. (2004). Cultural liberty in today's diverse world. UNDP.
- 6. Ngasala, T. M., Masten, S. J., & Phanikumar, M. S. (2019). Impact of domestic wells and hydrogeologic setting on water quality in peri-urban Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. *Science of The Total Environment*, 686, 1238–1250. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.05.202.
- 7. Ngoye, E., & Machiwa, J. F. (2004). The influence of land-use patterns in the Ruvu river watershed on water quality in the river system. *Physics and Chemistry of the Earth*, Parts A/B/C, 29(15), 1161–1166. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pce.2004.09.002.
- Ravenscroft, P., Mahmud, Z. H., Islam, M. S., Hossain, A. K. M., Zahid, A., Saha, G. C., Zulfiquar, A.H., Islam, K., Cairneross, S., Clemens, J.D., Sirajul, M., & Islam, M. S. (2017). The public health significance of latrines discharging to groundwater used for drinking. *Water Research*, 124, 192–201. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.- watres.2017.07.049.
- 9. Schouten, T., & Moriarty, P. B. (2003). Community water, community management. Retrieved from http://agris.fao.org/agris-search/search.do?recordID=US201300090091.
- 10. UNICEF. (2004). The millennium development goals: They are about children. UNICEF.
- 11. Water Aid. (2016). Tanzania | WaterAid America.
- 12. WHO. (2019). Drinking-water. Retrieved from https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/drinking-water.
- 13. WHO | Enterohaemorrhagic Escherichia coli (EHEC). (2011). WHO Factsheet.

- 14. WHO, & UNICEF. (2015). Progress on sanitation and drinking water. WHO.
- 15. Wright, J., Gundry, S., & Conroy, R. (2004). Household drinking water in developing countries: A systematic review of microbiological contamination between source and point-of-use. *Tropical Medicine & International Health*, 9(1), 106–117. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-3156.2003.01160.x.

#### **CHAPTER 2:** Risk Perceptions of Environmental and Health Impacts of Water

#### Contamination in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania

#### Abstract

Much has been written about the urgent need to address the public health implications of water in peri-urban communities in developing countries. Issues related to water supply in peri-urban communities are often quite different compared to those rural water communities in developing countries. This is due to the fact that peri-urban residents often have partial access to water and sanitation services, but these supplies may be significantly compromised. Conventional approaches to improving access to water and sanitation have been siloed. Additionally, agencies tended to look either at the provision of centralized infrastructure (water delivery systems, for instance), the implementation of decentralized systems for service delivery, regulatory mechanisms or at programs to improve individual and household knowledge, management, and practices. We found that these sectoral attempts to address water and sanitation concerns ultimately fail to adequately capture both the full scope of the problem, and to propose the full range of activities that might address persistent community risk of waterborne disease. Based on a multimethod used in the peri-urban area of Dar es Salaam, we argue that more system wide approaches are needed to alleviate the risk of waterborne disease. Our findings indicate that the risk of exposure to waterborne disease comes from a combination of factors that involve multiple actors, from improved awareness and sanitation practices to improved regulatory oversight, supply practices, and sanitation technologies.

#### **Keywords:**

#### Risk perception, developing country, Dar es Salaam, water supply, community

### **2.1 Introduction**

Sustainable Development Goal 6 (SDG 6) calls for universal access to water and sanitation by 2030, specifically with the laudable goal of eliminating waterborne disease among other benefits (United Nations, 2019). Inadequate access to water and sanitation is responsible for millions of deaths a year, and debilitating illness for countless others (Water Aid, 2016; WHO & UNICEF, 2015). Tackling this problem is critical to achieving improvements in quality of life and meaningful development gains. The peri-urban communities in the developing world present a particular challenge, as they often have partial but a deeply inadequate supply of water, and marginal sanitation, at best. In these environments, the risk of contracting waterborne diseases, including cholera, dysentery, and typhoid, all of which can be fatal, is high. This chapter will assess the sources of risk in a case study of access to water supply in a densely populated, peri-urban, Tanzania community.

This chapter builds on a decade's old literature on community water supply and sanitation (e.g., Schouten & Moriarty, 2003). We argue that mitigation of this risk in the African peri-urban community context must involve an asset-based approach that simultaneously addresses infrastructure upgrades, improvements in governance in terms of actions and decisions, and improved individual and household knowledge about water quality, hygiene, and sanitation. Such an approach can involve better insights about how best to assess and plot public health responses to frequent outbreaks of waterborne diseases. We employ the community capitals framework (CCF) as an analytical tool (Flora et al., 2016). This integrated asset-based framework, allows us to see the integrated nature of addressing the challenge of waterborne disease by identifying the integrated issues of governance, infrastructure, hygiene behavior, and individual. We explore how cross-cultural perceptions of environmental risks about water contamination, water sanitation, and

water quality in an African urban community provide valuable insight about how best to assess and plot public health responses to frequent outbreaks of waterborne diseases in the city of Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. This research draws on results from a field study about water quality, sewage contamination, and water supply in one of the densely populated, informal settlements of Dar es Salaam.

### 2.1.1 Using the Community Capitals Framework to Assess Water and Sanitation

Schouten & Moriarty, (2003) documented community water management as a viable strategy for addressing the rural water challenges. The crux of the strategy was to build on participatory frameworks for the development of systems that would ensure improved water supply to communities (Chambers, 1983). Their point was that rural water systems would not be improved through the application of technologies such as hand pumps, borehole wells, etc. The application of these technologies, specifically in the context of Africa, rather has had an inglorious history of the short-term success that left communities without basic services. The proposed solution was a development approach that aimed to engage the community in identifying issues, finding solutions, and managing the implemented water systems. The results were systems for water delivery in rural communities that built into the design community management structures often in the form community-level water committees that oversaw maintenance, collection of user fees to finance management, and rules and regulations (e.g. Lockwood, 2004). A key insight from this work was that communities themselves could identify the community concerns, including the issues with water delivery and the exposure to risk.

A recurring problem, however, was that community water committees found themselves lacking both the resources and the necessary expertise to manage the water supply. Over time, it

became increasingly clear that both the discovery of community water issues and work toward developing solutions to those issues could be facilitated through repeated engagement by outside organizations. We draw from this literature the importance of taking an approach that is simply not technology-focused, and the importance of working with the community to address issues and solutions. We argue here that this community- level analysis can help inform how to address issues of water and sanitation in the peri-urban context. Given the need to assess water and sanitation as integrated issues in the community, we chose an analytical framework through which we could look at these issues as integrated assets. The CCF conceptualizes community development as occurring through the interaction of seven integrated stocks and flows of assets as described in Table 2-1:

Community Capital	Description
Social	Networks of trust and reciprocity between close friends and relations (bonding social capital) and those with whom people have fewer intimate relationships (bridging social capital)
Political	Access to financial capital and other resources through the political process
Cultural	Worldview and attributes or assets associated with the community
Human	Skills, knowledge, and abilities
Natural	Natural assets, ranging from air quality to biodiversity and open space
Financial	Available monetary resources – investment capital
Built	Housing stock, industrial stock, transportation, water, and wastewater infrastructure

Table 2-1. Community Capitals

The capitals are conceptualized as interrelated. As one capital changes, others will also change. The key to development is when community investments can lead to positive changes across capitals. Emery and Flora (2006) described this process as "spiraling up" in describing a community in Nebraska, USA, that invested in built capital that created inviting spaces for youth in the center of town, which led to greater engagement of youth in the community (cultural capital),

which improved community interaction (social capital), and ultimately the willingness of youth to stay in the community (human capital).

### 2.1.2 Case Study: Water and Sanitation Challenges in a Dar Es Salaam Neighborhood

The study area is home to people of different ethnicities representing multiple cultural groups. As with many developing countries, water scarcity, poor water quality, and wastewater management are complex and on-going challenges facing low-income and underserved communities. Whereas water scarcity and its implications for environmental health is a global problem, the situation is particularly dire for several countries in sub-Saharan Africa. Recent studies estimate that as many as 4 billion people worldwide may be facing serious water shortages. While China and India are most seriously affected, as many as 250 million people in Africa may be impacted by water scarcity (Mekonen et al., 2016; UN Water, 2016). The World Wildlife Fund (WWF) says "Fourteen countries in Africa are already experiencing water stress; another 11 countries are expected to join them by 2025 at which time nearly 50 percent of Africa's predicted population of 1.45 billion people will face water scarcity or stress" (World Wildlife Fund, 2016). Tanzania has been listed among those African nations suffering from multiple forms of water scarcity (Kitundu, 2016; Kyessi, 2005; Mbani, 2017).

Specifically, of interest to our study, new research indicates that access to a consistent and reliable water supply is a widespread problem for households in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania (Reweta & Sampath, 1998; Smiley, 2016, 2017). At a micro level, the impact of water scarcity on environmental health is evident in peri-urban areas of Dar es Salaam, where scarcity is compounded by poor environmental sanitation, poor household and public health hygiene practices, poor water quality, and poverty. Residents of the area are low and middle-income wage

earners who spend a high proportion of their income on purchasing water for domestic use and for wastewater management. Human waste from the area is discharged into poorly constructed septic tanks and pit latrines that subsequently contaminate groundwater sources, affect drinking water quality, and pose significant environmental and human health hazards. Consequently, preventable waterborne diseases like cholera, diarrhea, and typhoid occur in the study area and Dar es Salaam city every year (Ngasala et al., 2018). Additionally, the burden of finding clean water and averting the health impacts of waterborne diseases falls disproportionately on women and children who constitute the most vulnerable segments of the study area.

Building on prior studies of poor sanitation practices and domestic water contamination (Kyessi, 2005), the study adopts an interdisciplinary approach for identifying the barriers to improving water resource management, water quality improvement, household and public health hygiene practices, and general environmental conditions related to water sanitation. Furthermore, the study explores how local capacity for managing water sanitation and water quality issues can be developed from existing community resources and household assets related to water supply, water storage, and water usage.

In reporting our findings to-date, we focus specifically on the implications of water scarcity for water quality issues, household water management, and water hygiene practices, as well as the larger environmental concerns arising out of poor sanitation practices in the community. Using the CCF, we identify strategies to address these water quality challenges. Building human capital through improved health communication is critical, as it can address risk perception about water quality and sanitation practices in the study area. These improvements must also be combined with improved social and political capital in the form of regulatory systems to ensure that: a) city water supplies are delivered in ways that mitigate risk; b) when communities are hit by water stoppages, an alternate and quality supply of water is ensured; and c) social systems and the necessary infrastructure are developed to improve wastewater management. Such a holistic approach must not exceed financial feasibility, especially keeping in mind the current constraints to addressing water and sanitation issues this context:

- There are not immediate infrastructural solutions to Dar es Salaam's water scarcity problem, as population growth has exceeded the capacity of water storage systems, a situation compounded by financial shortfalls (Smiley, 2016).
- 2. To prevent waterborne disease outbreaks, residents must be aware of the risks that inadequate water supply and related poor water quality pose to the health of individual households and neighborhoods.
- 3. It is essential for those who suffer from water scarcity problems to know how to protect their own health and the health of their community in spite of acute water shortage problems.
- 4. It is crucial for public health workers to take advantage of the cultural knowledge, beliefs, practices, and assets already present in the community so as to create effective public health communication and education programs to alleviate the public health crises that frequently plague the community.

We underscore these four issues because existing literature shows that risk perception, *'principles knowledge*,' coupled with self-efficacy, and cultural knowledge, as well as cultural beliefs, all play important roles for attitude formation, behavioral intentions, and behavioral practice. It is known that perceptions of risk, knowledge about risk, the means to protect oneself from risk, and protecting oneself from risk are all quite complicated. There is some evidence to show that when people perceive they have little control over their own situation (*a low self- efficacy condition*), they are less likely to act to protect themselves from risk (Bandura, 2004; Flammer,

2001; Witte & Allen, 2000). Moreover, people sometimes refuse to protect themselves from *functional risk (fear and doubt)* because they do not believe in the effectiveness of recommended measures (*low response self-efficacy*) (Lattimore et al., 1992; Rimal, 2001; Thrasher et al., 2016).

Finally, we cannot minimize the importance of what Felt and others have termed the importance of *cultural beacons* and *overlooked grassroots wisdom* (Felt, 2014). By this, they emphasize the importance of ground-level field observation, user-defined, and user-generated cultural referents, coupled with external indicators that could validate assumptions. This cultural framework is essential for health communication practice and for people's attitude toward health, well-being, and disease states. If people are to have buy-in to public health messages that are addressed to them, the messages must not only be culturally appropriate, the messages must be crafted in ways that create self-efficacy and self-empowerment for the intended audience of the message. In other words, people are more likely to act to protect their health if they believe they can best impact their health status and have some control over their health outcomes.

#### **2.2 Related Studies**

Diarrheal diseases kill 1800 children under the age of five each day worldwide, with nearly half of these occurring in sub-Saharan Africa (Mattioli et al., 2015). Areas that have water scarcity also tend to have poor water quality. One of the main sources of contamination is poor sanitation practices. According to Kotloff et al. (2013), sanitation infrastructure and management ranks among the most deficient in Sub-Saharan Africa and southern Asia compared with the rest of the world. The practice of open defecation in the fields and uninhabited spaces is widely practiced in many African and South Asian countries. In Africa alone, 26% of the population are reported to practice open defecation while 44% are said to use shared defective sanitation facilities that were constructed without following approved local engineering design standards (Kotloff et al., 2013).

About one-third of the population of the countries are said to use poorly constructed septic tanks or pit latrines. In Bagamoyo, Tanzania, children between ages 3-5 years are reported to ingest water that is contaminated with high levels of feces, thus highlighting the importance of examining the sources of water contamination at the household level (Mattioli et al., 2015).

Public officials and technical experts often conceive technical solutions as ways to minimize water contamination problems in developing countries through investments of public funds and resources in the construction and maintenance of septic tanks and septic systems. While properly constructed and operated, decentralized systems (e.g., septic tanks) can protect public health and the environment, septic tanks are sometimes placed too close to domestic wells that also serve as sources of drinking water as was shown by Ngasala et al. (2019). Similarly, a study in Zanzibar, Tanzania demonstrated the seasonal microbial and nutrient contamination in domestic wells. Out of 19 water samples tested, only 5% of the collected water samples met WHO drinking water standards (Kiptum & Ndambuki, 2012).

In areas where water is scarce, people often rely on multiple water sources (Ngasala et al., 2018). As shown by Ngasala et al. (2019), in the study area, the common water sources of water supply are domestic wells, rainwater harvesting, vendors, and city water. The quality of water varies with the source of supply. Similarly, water quality can be compromised at the household level because of household usage and water storage practices (Ngasala et al., 2019). Water consumers at local levels are typically unaware of the variations in quality depending on the source of the supply, many believing that when water looks "*clear*" it means it is "*clean*". By not knowing the quality of water from these sources, clean water becomes contaminated simply by mixing it with contaminated water (Ngasala et al., 2018).

As emphasized in the work of Ngasala et al. (2019), it is important to not only improve
health education but also people's knowledge, attitudes, and practices about water sanitation (WHO, 2013). The success of this approach has been demonstrated by several researchers (Crocker et al., 2017; Garn et al., 2017; Woode et al., 2018). For example, researchers in Bangladesh reported that households that received health education showed significant improvements when compared to those that did not receive education in water and sanitation practices (WHO, 2013). In Zimbabwe, there was a significant improvement in the hygiene behavior of those who were involved in community health clubs (Waterkeyn & Cairncross, 2005). These health clubs are a good resource for community members and usually provide training that focuses on health and well-being. Cutler & Miller (2005) show that improving a city's water supply can potentially reduce the mortality rate due to waterborne diseases by about half.

Schouten & Moriarty (2003) note that sustainable solutions must move beyond health communication. Focusing their work on rural communities, they argue that health communication that improves household knowledge, attitudes, and practice, should be combined with initiatives to create community-level management structures and infrastructure investments. Kyessi (2005) applies this approach to two peri-urban ("fringe") neighborhoods of Tungi and Yombo Dovya in Dar es Salaam. He argues that these two settlements have been disadvantaged by the "spaghetti-like" implementation of water infrastructure in Dar, owing to a combination of persistent water scarcity and lack of financing to improve water delivery infrastructure. He argues ultimately that communities improve access to potable water through a combination of advocacy and implementation by community level, non-governmental organizations, and political parties. Our analysis builds on these insights by taking an asset-based approach that identifies deficits, but also investment opportunities, at the neighborhood level.

## 2.3 Methodology

The pilot study in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania, uses a multi-method investigation. We implemented a combination of a household survey, interviews with women, key informant interviews, and field observations. These methods were implemented to make deductions about household water storage and hygiene practices, as well as assess the level of knowledge, attitudes, and behavioral practices by household members on water and sanitation issues.

The household survey of the study area involved a stratified cluster sampling technique that combines a random starting point with a standard assessment interval to select households from which survey respondents were chosen. In developing countries where population lists are not readily available, such cluster sampling techniques have been considered adequately represent community profiles (Henderson & Sundaresan, 1982). The research team conducted face-to-face interviews with adult women from 63 households (aged 18 years and above), representing 6% of the households in the community. Women have the primary responsibility for procuring water and managing household water supply. The response rate was 97%; two households were not interviewed because there was no adult (under 18 years) in the home. The interview was designed to assess respondents' knowledge, attitudes, practices (KAP), and perceptions as they relate to water sanitation, water quality, and water management issues. We also attempted to assess the degree of self-efficacy in the study area.

Additionally, we interviewed 15 key informants representing community and religious opinion leaders, water vendors, public health workers, water and wastewater management officials, and local government officials with responsibility for the city water supply and wastewater management. They were interviewed about the status of water quality, water supply, water sanitation, and what they know about household water storage practices, as well as community environmental conditions. The findings from these interviews and household surveys are presented in this paper. The research team used field observations to verify interview responses. After each household interview, the team conducted field observations with additional questions to the residents if needed. The observations included the location of water sources as well as environmental pollution caused by poor sanitation practices and poor water and wastewater management.

## 2.4 Findings

The results from the study were divided into three main issues: water scarcity, sanitation practices, and water quality. Additionally, we report some observed behaviors and narratives from the field about the water and sanitation problem in the study area.

## 2.4.1 Water Scarcity

# Household Interview Responses

The built capital for water delivery in the study area facilitates an extreme natural capital deficit. Our survey indicates that 87% of household respondents reported water scarcity issues. Municipal water supply did not provide sufficient supply for household needs and community members reported that they have to use a combination of sources to meet their needs. This combination consists of connections to city water supply system, water sourced from city vendors, rainwater harvesting, shallow wells, and deep wells (boreholes). The majority of interviewees (i.e., households) (51%) said they prefer to get their water from the city supply system (Figure 2-1), but as this is not frequently available, they rely on other sources. Thirty-nine percent of respondents reported having a connection to city water supply lines operating as standpipes. Of those, one-half reported that water flows through the pipes infrequently. Respondents reported many reasons for

the unreliability of city water supply, including poor design of city water infrastructure; inefficiency of city water management, and suspicion of corruption by city officials. In other words, household respondents associated the deficit in water supply (natural and built capital) with weak political capital (management and governance) and poor design of the infrastructure. More than 50% of households surveyed rely on domestic wells (Figure 2-2).



Figure 2-1. Preferences of water sources by the interviewees, considering its availability (N = 60).

One consequence of the water scarcity problem is that women spend a disproportionate portion of their day fetching water. In 9 of 10 households surveyed, women were primarily responsible for fetching water. They spend an average of 20 minutes a day (waiting time) fetching water (Figure 2-3). Households use between 7.5 and 12.5 liters of water per day per person on average for their cooking, bath, laundry, and cleaning (44% of sample). The recommended WHO standard is 20 liters per person per day for food and drinking only. The lack of reliable water has significant detrimental effects on human capital at the community level.



Figure 2-2. The immediate alternative water sources used by the interviewees, considering its availability (N = 60)

## Key Informants and Field Observations

Interviews with key informants such as city officials and local water vendors confirm the reports from the households about the infrequency of city water supply in the study area. City water is available from once a week to once a month from public standpipes located within the community. As shown on Figure 2-3, woman waiting to collect city water from one of the public standpipes. The officials attributed the instability of the water supply to frequent breakages and leakages of the city water piping system. Our field observations and investigation show that water scarcity has other impacts on sanitation, proper hygiene, disease prevention, and general public health management. For example, medical practitioners who spoke about hygiene practices in the community said few people wash their hands after using the toilet, thus heightening the likelihood of infections and disease outbreaks. The water scarcity also compromises the quality of sanitation in public hospitals and clinics and it was reported that the recurrence of waterborne diseases is frequent. The health officials interviewed stated that 80% of school-aged children who miss school

because they contracted a waterborne disease. Urinary Tract Infections (UTI) are prevalent, especially among women.



Figure 2-3. Woman waiting to collect city water from one of the public standpipes

# **2.4.2 Sanitation Practice**

## Household Interview Responses

Our household surveys indicate that more than 50% of respondents report that they dispose of wastewater from household cleaning, laundry, and dishwashing on the surface of the ground outside their premises or in septic systems. As shown in Figure 2-5, the area surrounding more than half of the homes visited had swampy areas, stagnant pools, soap residues, green slime, and foul odors within their yards. Nearly 51% of the homes surveyed had toilets that collect sewage in a single pit, 39% had an outside pit latrine, and 8% had an unimproved pit latrine. About 23% stated that they separate bathing water from sewage but that they release shower water on the ground surface outside their homes. Furthermore, more than 50% of households state their sewage

pits fill up between 6 months and 2 years. In comparison, a properly designed and constructed septic tank should take between 3 and 5 years to fill up with solids, depending on household size and frequency of use (US EPA, 2015). Also, 23% of households surveyed said their pits overflow, especially during the rainfall season, and 18% reported that shower water runs freely in front of their yard. When asked if public health inspectors visit their households for sanitation inspection, 50% say they do so occasionally (once a month on average). The other one-half say they had never been visited by public health inspectors.

#### Key Informants and Field Observations

Our field observations indicated that none of the homes are connected to the city sewer system. Wastewater management officials from the city reported that all residents rely on private companies that use tanker trucks to empty the sewage from their septic tanks/pit latrines. In some cases, the homes do not have access to roads, thereby preventing truck access. The officials also stated that the contamination of well water with sewage is the result of poor municipal planning and the close proximity of water sources to septic systems, which was confirmed by Ngasala et al. (2019). Sewage management officials stated that the sewage management practices used by private contractors pose significant risks to water sources.

Public health officials reported that due to a lack of resources, inspections are infrequently conducted unless it has been reported to the official agencies that wastewater is being discharged improperly. When public health officials visited homes, they would only alert health authorities or local government through filing reports to official agencies that wastewater was being discharged improperly. These often did not result in action, but even more rare were efforts to provide technical assistance to improve household wastewater management. Another recurring issue that

was mentioned with representatives of private waste management companies is that the impoverished residents placed a low priority on waste removal, including the evacuation of pit latrines because they cannot afford the cost. Consequently, pit latrines are allowed to fill beyond capacity, overflow, and pose visible health risks (Figure 2-4). Furthermore, the waste stabilization ponds that service the community are quite distant from the community, which increases disposal costs.



Figure 2-4. Challenges related to the maintenance of their sanitation systems reported by interviewees (N = 57)

# 2.4.3 Water Quality

## Household Interview Responses

As indicated by the survey responses and shown by Ngasala et al. (2018), poor sanitation practices impair water quality. To determine the level of sensitivity and the implications of poor sanitation practices for water quality in the study area, we assessed the KAP and perception of respondents with regards to water quality issues. Forty percent of survey respondents reported wastewater overflowing septic and storage tanks during rainy seasons, thereby contaminating both surface and groundwater. As shown in Figure 2-5 (and discussed earlier), more than one-half of the households surveyed had wastewater discharges, soapy residues, and green slimes outside their premises. Nearly 7 in 10 had never repaired their septic systems, thus increasing the likelihood of sewage leakages into groundwater. Most respondents rated the quality of city water as average even though the supply is poor. Well water, which is the most common alternative source of supply, was rated as average as well, but respondents stated that it tasted very salty. Most respondents reported that they do not treat their water before drinking because of the high associated cost.



Figure 2-5. Observed site condition of household interviewed.

## Key Informants and Field Observations

Community leaders made four main observations:

- Well water is readily available, safe to drink, but the taste is poor.
- Water from shallow wells is not safe to drink because the wells are too close to the septic system/pit latrines and is likely contaminated by sewage.

- Aware that deep wells are preferable to shallow wells as a source of drinking water, but they say most people cannot afford the cost of installing deep wells in their homes, so they resort to installing shallow wells.
- Recognize that the quality of city water is sometimes compromised by dirt and sewage contamination because of frequent breakages of the pipe network and leakages, which expose the pipes to contamination.

Our field observation shows that the pipe network is often exposed above ground and sometimes the pipes were located near sewage disposal. Interviews with water vendors (N = 8) that serve the community show that there is a great deal of uncertainty about the source of the waters sold. Some of them admit that they collect water from water leakages and retail the likely contaminated water to unsuspecting households. One informant vendor put it this way:

"We think water is clean but because our containers are dirty, we end up contaminating clean water. Our customers complain because most of the contamination is coming from our containers."

Small-scale vendors admit that their customers complain about the quality of water they supply (Figure 2-6). The vendors suspect some of these complaints may be legitimate because they are uncertain about the provenance of the water that they purchase from the wholesale water distributors. Vendors also say the quality of city water is very poor after a long interruption in the supply, with city water being heavily tainted by dirt, malodorous compounds, and the taste of chlorine, especially during the rainy season. Vendors also cast doubt about the quality of well water that they retail to their customers because they say wholesale distributors sometimes mix city water with well water to dilute the taste so that the wholesalers can sell more to increase their profit margins.

The problems of affordability extend beyond drinking water. Most of the household respondents stated that they cannot afford to pay a private company to empty their septic tanks. Residents of the study area reported that they commonly discharge their overflowing septic tanks and toilet pits into the Ng'ombe River, especially at night or during the rainy season.



Figure 2-6. Small scale water-vendor delivering water to a customer

# 2.4.4 Additional Field Observations

There are other endemic but structural and systemic issues that affect water quality and water sanitation in the study area beyond those previously mentioned. Local officials and some community leaders say these issues are no less important and represent intrinsic factors for managing and improving the overall environmental conditions of the neighborhood. At the individual level, they point to the unwholesome character of some residents who engage in illegal practices that threaten public health. They point to the example of a resident who connected a sewage pipe to the water supply pipe network of the city at a time when water was not flowing through the pipes. The resident was caught, prosecuted, and jailed. Officials at the city water agency, DAWASCO, also say water pipes are frequently damaged during road and street construction projects. They regard such damages as avoidable if road building projects are properly coordinated between the water management agency and the city road building authority, TANROADS.

#### **2.5 Discussion**

# Summary of Findings

The goal of this research was to comprehensively address the barriers to meeting SDG 6 in a peri-urban neighborhood of Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. The occurrence of waterborne disease remains a significant challenge for this community, with significant effects on health. Recognizing the integrated nature of this challenge, we took community assets approach to address the issue. In setting out our objectives for this pilot study and reporting the data, we wanted to explore the extent to which assets, knowledge, attitudes, and practices about water use have resonance for the ways people in the study area obtain and use water. Another objective was to understand how the residents perceive and assess risk as it relates to water scarcity, water quality, and sanitation, and how such risk perception affects personal health, household well-being, public health, and general environmental conditions in the study area.

From the findings, we have reported in this chapter, the residents of the study area appear highly vulnerable to the outbreak of serious waterborne diseases, some of which might spread rapidly because of a host of problems that are related to water supply, water quality, and sanitation. We have reported that although more than 80% of the households say they rely on water sourced from domestic wells, the quality of this water is not just average, it is also salty and contaminated with bacterial matter, some of which might be human waste from septic tanks as reported by Ngasala et al. (2019). The contamination of domestic wells in the study area is due to the depth and proximity to septic tanks or pit latrines (Ngasala et al., 2019). Furthermore, we reported that even though only one-third of the households are connected to the city water pipe network, the availability of this water is not reliable, and its quality was also judged as average by community residents.

We reported that city water is also often contaminated because of exposure of the pipes above ground level. These findings are consistent with those of Ngasala et al. (2019), who found that city water in this area is contaminated at home during storage and the main source of contamination of city water is the mixing of it with water from domestic wells that are located too close to septic tanks and pit latrine. The finding that sewage and wastewater disposal practices at the household level contribute in a significant way to the contamination of groundwater supply and freshwater that people depend on for drinking, cooking, and bath is alarming and particularly troubling because there appears to be no discernible sense of urgency on the part of public health and local government authorities to do something about the situation in order to prevent disaster. Treatment cost appears to be a significant barrier to consuming relatively clean water even though we are yet to isolate what most people mean by "treatment cost", including whether a significant portion of the population regards boiling water before drinking as a cost barrier.

## 2.5.1 Risk Perception from the Household Interviews

Risk perception in the community is very low with regard to the safety of the water they use for drinking, cooking, bathing, and general household hygiene maintenance. We reported data that show that because of scarcity, people's water use is not only much less than recommended WHO daily use standards for drinking and cooking, the quality of the water is also very poor due to a combination of factors. Some of these factors have to do with water source and supply issues, household water storage and distribution practices, and physical infrastructure issues such as the siting of septic tanks and septic systems much closer to water supply facilities. Community members have a low risk perception in regard to the quality of their water, equating quality to whether the water looks *clear* or not, or to how it *tastes*. We also found that despite the suspect quality of the water and knowledge that some of the water may be from highly contaminated sources, a substantial proportion of our study population reported that they do not treat their water before use. The few households that reported treating their water, reported that they did so by boiling. The main reason reported of not boiling is the high cost of fuel irrespective of the suspected quality of the water.

#### 2.5.2 Risk Perception from the Key Informants

Responses from key informants show high risk perception especially when it comes to water quality. They agree that water taste from deep domestic wells is poor and that there is a difference in the quality of water from shallow wells and deep wells because of the proximity of the wells to septic systems. Community leaders also recognize that many of the city water pipe network leakages are exposed above ground which increases the risk of contamination compromised by soil and sewage. Responses from water vendors show that there is a great deal of uncertainty about the source(s) of water that they sell. Some of them admit that they collect water from pipe leakages and retail the likely contaminated water to unsuspecting households.

## 2.5.3 Attitude Towards Change

Although not definitive, we suspect that these results clearly point to both high risk and low risk perception from the study area. Frequent outbreaks of cholera, diarrhea, and urinary tract infections occur every year and unless there are changes in household hygiene practices, improvements in infrastructure, and/or wastewater management practices, these problems will continue to occur. The urgency for the need to do something about the household and public hygiene situation related to water safety, sanitation, and household hygiene practices is highlighted by the finding that 80% of school age children who miss school each year in this area do so because of illness attributed to waterborne diseases. The solution(s) to the problem will require massive commitment of public investments for urban planning, urban redesign and renewal, engineering assessments, and reconstruction of the area. Additionally, it is imperative that more manageable and cost-effective approaches like public health education, communication, and disease management be explored to change household practices and behaviors in ways that ensure buy-in by target communities.

To succeed, the communities must see a need for change, they must be willing to do something about change, and must feel empowered in doing so. This is why we incorporated selfefficacy theory in our analysis and why we also explore the role that field observation and grassroots folk wisdom might play in the change process. Our discussion of the theory of selfefficacy and risk perception shows that if change is to occur, people must be armed with the right kind of knowledge, they must be able to perceive risk, know they can do something about it, they must believe in recommended measures, know they have control over their own situation, and must be willing to act to protect their health and the health of their families and neighbors. The literature is fairly well established about this process being at the heart of the change process in behavior change scenarios involving health communication practice.

## **2.6 Conclusion**

To conclude, we want to stress that although our results are based on small-scale pilot data representing 6% of households, we believe we have established the case that there is a need for

urgency in addressing the public health and environmental problems related to water scarcity, sanitation, water quality, and household hygiene practices. Our data and our discussion show that absent major urban renewal project(s) that will immediately relocate the entire population of the study area, it is imperative that we to invest in programs that will educate, and inform the residents to take the kind of actions that will protect their own health, the health of their neighbors, and their own community. In the absence of large-scale surveys and controlled studies, we are not definitive about how serious problems like poor risk perception, low self-efficacy, and low response self-efficacy are, but we have shown enough evidence to support the view that this might be a problem in this community.

Finally, we were able to draw much from our field observations and the ground-level, grassroots, official and folk wisdom of people and the wider Dar es Salaam city. This is important for providing context for our findings and assumptions made during field observation. This is a crucial point because data is neither value-neutral nor one-dimensional. Unless put in its proper context, an outsider's perception of risk, might be colored by assumptions and pre-existing frames that may be alien to the lived reality of residents. Since context matters, this is why health communication theorists believe that people who are targets of attitude and behavior change programs must be active participants in the conception and design of solutions to problems that seek to address their health situations. We hope that based on our work so far, we have provided some insight into the way forward to address some of the enduring and endemic public health and environmental conditions affecting the study area.

REFERENCES

# REFERENCES

- 1. Bandura, A. (2004). Health promotion by social cognitive means. *Health Education & Behaviour*, 31(2), 143–164. https://doi.org/10.1177/1090198104263660.
- 2. Chambers, R. (1983). Rural development: Putting the last first. Retrieved from https://opendocs.ids.ac.uk/opendocs/handle/123456789/178.
- 3. Crocker, J., Saywell, D., & Bartram, J. (2017). Sustainability of community-led total sanitation outcomes: Evidence from Ethiopia and Ghana. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health*, 220(3), 551–557. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2017.02.011.
- 4. Cutler, D., & Miller, G. (2005). The role of public health improvements in health advances: The twentieth-century United States. *Demography*, 42(1), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1353/dem.2005.0002.
- 5. Emery, M., & Flora, C. (2006). Spiraling-up: Mapping community transformation with community capitals framework. *Community Development*, 37(1), 19–35.
- 6. Durá, L., Felt, L. J., & Singhal, A. (2014). What counts? For whom?: Cultural beacons and unexpected areas of programmatic impact. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, 44, 98–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2014.01.001.
- 7. Flammer, A. (2001). Self-Efficacy. *International Encyclopedia of the Social & Behavioral Sciences*, (pp. 13812–13815). https://doi.org/10.1016/B0-08-043076-7/01726-5.
- 8. Flora, C. B., Flora, J. L., & Gasteyer, S. P. (2016). Rural communities: legacy and change. Fifth edition. Boulder, CO: *Westview Press*.
- Garn, J. V., Sclar, G. D., Freeman, M. C., Penakalapati, G., Alexander, K. T., Brooks, P., Rehfuess, E.A., Boisson, S., Medlicott, K.O., & Clasen, T. F. (2017). The impact of sanitation interventions on latrine coverage and latrine use: A systematic review and metaanalysis. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health*, 220(2, Part B), 329– 340. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2016.10.001.
- 10. Henderson, R. H., & Sundaresan, T. (1982). Cluster sampling to assess immunization coverage: A review of experience with a simplified sampling method. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 60(2), 253–260.
- 11. Kiptum, C. K., & Ndambuki, J. M. (2012). Well water contamination by pit latrines: A case study of Langas. *International Journal of Water Resources and Environmental Engineering*, 4(2), 35–43. https://doi.org/10.5897/IJWREE11.084.
- 12. Kitundu, T. (2016). East African Business Week: River protection starts in Tanzania 2030 *Water Resources Group World Bank Group*. Retrieved

fromhttps://www.2030wrg.org/east tanzania/.

- 13. Kotloff, et al. (2013). Burden and aetiology of diarrhoeal disease in infants and young children in developing countries (the Global Enteric Multicenter Study, GEMS): A prospective, case-control study. *The Lancet*, 382(9888), 209–222.https://doi.org/10.1016/S0 140-6736(13)60844-2.
- 14. Kyessi, A. (2005). Community-based urban water management in fringe neighbourhoods: The case of Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. *Habitat International*, 29, 1–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0197-3975(03)00059-6.
- 15. Lattimore, P. K., Baker, J. R., & Witte, A. D. (1992). The influence of probability on risky choice: A parametric examination. *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization*, 17(3), 377–400. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-2681(95)90015-2.
- 16. Lockwood, H. (2004). Scaling Up Community Management of Rural Water Supply. *IRC International Water and Sanitation Centre*.
- Mascie-Taylor, C. G. N., Karim, R., Karim, E., Akhtar, S., Ahmed, T., & Montanari, R. M. (2003). The cost-effectiveness of health education in improving knowledge and awareness about intestinal parasites in rural Bangladesh. *Economics & Human Biology*, 1(3), 321–330. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ehb.2003.08.001.
- 18. Mattioli, M. C. M., Davis, J., & Boehm, A. B. (2015). Hand-to-mouth contacts result in greater ingestion of feces than dietary water consumption in Tanzania: A quantitative fecal exposure assessment model. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 49(3), 1912-1920. https://doi.org/10.1021/es505555f.
- 19. Mbani, M. (2017). Report: Tanzania faces severe water scarcity. The Citizen. Retrieved from https://www.thecitizen.co.tz/news/Report-Tanzania-faces-severe-water-scarcity/1840340-4177292-format-xhtml-12k9whuz/index.html.
- Mekonen, S., Argaw, R., Simanesew, A., Houbraken, M., Senaeve, D., Ambelu, A., & Spanoghe, P. (2016). Pesticide residues in drinking water and associated risk to consumers in Ethiopia. *Chemosphere*, 162, 252–260. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2016.07.09.
- 21. Ngasala, T. M., Masten, S. J., & Phanikumar, M. S. (2019). Impact of domestic wells and hydrogeologic setting on water quality in peri-urban Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. *Science of The Total Environment*, 686, 1238–1250. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.05.202.
- 22. Ngasala, T. M., Masten, S. J., Phanikumar, M. S., & Mwita, E. J. (2018). Analysis of water security and source preferences in rural Tanzania. *Journal of Water, Sanitation and Hygiene for Development*, 8(3): 439-448. https://doi:10.2166/washdev.2018.169.

- 23. Ngasala, T. M., Gasteyer, S. P., Masten. S. J., & Phanikumar, M. S. (2019). Linking cross contamination of domestic water with storage practices at the point of use in urban areas of Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. *Journal of Environmental Engineering*, 145(5), 04019017. https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)EE.1943-7870.0001516.
- 24. Reweta, W. S. J., & Sampath, R. K. (1998). Sustainability of a water supply system: The case of Hai Water Project in Tanzania. *International Journal of Water Resources Development*, 14(2), 249–270. https://doi.org/10.1080/07900629849439.
- 25. Rimal, R. N. (2001). Perceived risk and self-efficacy as motivators: Understanding individuals' long-term use of health information. *Journal of Communication*, 51(4), 633–654. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-2466. 2001.tb02900.x.
- 26. Schouten, T., & Moriarty, P. B. (2003). Community water, community management. *Retrieved from http://agris.fao.org/agris-search/search.do?recordID=US201300090091*.
- 27. Smiley, S. L. (2016). Water availability and reliability in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. *The Journal of Development Studies*, 52(9), 1320–1334. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220388.-2016.1 146699.
- 28. Smiley, S. L. (2017). Defining and measuring water access: Lessons from Tanzania for moving forward in the post-Millennium Development Goal era. *African Geographical Review*, 36(2), 168–182. https://doi.org/10.1080/19376812.2016.1171154
- Thrasher, J. F., Swayampakala, K., Borland, R., Nagelhout, G., Yong, H.-H., Hammond, D., Bansal-Travers, M., Thompson, M., & Hardin, J. (2016). Influences of self-efficacy, response efficacy, and reactance on responses to cigarette health warnings: A longitudinal study of adult smokers in Australia and Canada. *Health Communication*, 31(12), 1517– 1526. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 10410236.2015.1089456.
- 30. UN Water. (2016). First steps towards implementing the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. *Retrieved from http://www.unwater.org/publications/un-water-annual report-2016/.*
- 31. United Nations. (2019). Goal 6. Sustainable development knowledge platform. *Retrieved from https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/sdg6*.
- 32. US EPA. (2015). How to care for your septic system: Overviews and factsheets. *Retrieved from https://www.epa.gov/septic/how-care-your-septic-system*.
- 33. Water Aid. (2016). Tanzania | WaterAid America. Retrieved from /us/where-we-work/Tanzania.
- 34. Waterkeyn, J., & Cairncross, S. (2005). Creating demand for sanitation and hygiene through community health clubs: A cost-effective intervention in two districts in

Zimbabwe. Social Science & Medicine, 61(9), 1958–1970. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.-socscimed.2005.04.012.

- 35. WHO. (2013). Household water treatment and safe storage: Manual for the participant. *WHO*.
- 36. WHO, & UNICEF. (2015). Progress on sanitation and drinking water. *WHO*.
- 37. Witte, K., & Allen, M. (2000). A meta-analysis of fear appeals: Implications for effective public health campaigns. *Health Education & Behavior*, 27(5), 591–615. https://doi.org/10.1177/109019810002700506.
- 38. Woode, P. K., Dwumfour-Asare, B., Nyarko, K. B., & Appiah-Effah, E. (2018). Cost and effectiveness of water, sanitation and hygiene promotion intervention in Ghana: The case of four communities in the Brong Ahafo region. *Heliyon*, 4(10), e00841.https://doi.org/-10.1016/j.heliyon.2018.e00841.
- *39.* World Wildlife Fund. (2016). Water: Facts and Futures. *Retrieved from http://awsassets.-wwf.org.*

# CHAPTER 3: Linking Cross-Contamination of Domestic Water with Storage Practices at the Point of Use in Urban Areas of Dar es Salaam, Tanzania

## Abstract

In this study, water samples from 123 households were collected from the point of collection (POC) to the point of use (POU) in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. The objectives were to assess water collection and storage practices at the household level and to determine how water becomes contaminated. Household interviews revealed three main mixing combinations used in households: (1) city water with well water (CW); (2) water purchased from vendors with city water (VC); and (3) city, vendor, and well water (WVC). The quality of city water at the POC was deemed excellent (low water quality index), whereas it diminished at the POU for all water sources. Statistical analysis showed that the main reason for mixing well water with city water was to dilute the well water's salty taste (p < 0.05). It was found that the practice of mixing all three water sources was due insufficient storage containers (p < 0.05). These impairments to water quality require an integrated response that combines hygiene education and improvements to water storage, water treatment, and regulation of vendors.

## Keywords:

Developing country, Tanzania, water quality index, city water, water vendors, domestic well, storage practices

## **3.1 Introduction**

About 780 million people worldwide still do not have access to safe water and it is estimated that 2.5 billion people in the world lack access to adequate sanitation (CDC, 2014). Nearly 88% of the deaths in sub-Saharan Africa are caused by waterborne diseases from drinking or ingestion of water contaminated by pathogenic organisms (CDC, 2014; Montgomery & Elimelech, 2007). These diseases include cholera, typhoid, and amoebic dysentery. According to Montgomery and Elimelech (2007), the estimated annual morbidity due to diarrheal diseases (~1 billion episodes) and the estimated annual mortality (~2.2 million) are caused by the improper disposal of human and animal excreta, contaminated drinking water, and poor hygiene. While these general pathways to morbidity and mortality are well documented, this paper will aim to better specify the drivers of these pathways and to recommend ways of mitigating those drivers.

In areas where water is scarce, people tend to rely on more than one source of water for domestic use. Examples of the types of water sources that people commonly use in water-limited areas include: rain water, publicly piped water (also known as city water), domestic wells, and private water vendors. Past research suggests that the predominant factor determining water quality in a household is the type of water source (Trevett & Carter, 2008). Source water quality is likely to vary significantly over time and depends on the location and how each source is maintained, stored and/or distributed. Water usage and storage practices likely contribute to the contamination of drinking water, especially at the household level. In many cases, water users are not aware of how water quality can vary from one source to another and many users believe that "clear" means "clean"; however, this is unlikely and requires investigation. Consequently, a lack of community awareness of the variability of water quality with its source likely leads to clean water being mixed with contaminated water during household storage.

Some studies (Brick et al., 2004; Steele et al., 2008) highlight that certain storage practices and storage container characteristics are directly associated with the contamination of household drinking water. In a town in south India, 67% of water samples collected from "treated" municipal water were contaminated by E. coli during household storage (Brick et al., 2004). The researchers also tested different storage container materials, and brass proved to decrease contamination levels, as compared to other materials (Brick et al., 2004). This is likely due to the antimicrobial properties of zinc and copper (components of brass) (Yasuyuki et al., 2010). The positive impacts of health education and efforts to improve knowledge, practices, and attitudes to prevent contamination from poor water storage practices are well-known in places where such programs were implemented. For example, a study in Bangladesh demonstrated that households that received health education showed significant improvements in water and sanitation compared to those that did not (Mascie-Taylor et al., 2003). In Zimbabwe, researchers described significant improvement in the hygienic behaviors of members of community health clubs compared to those who were not involved in such groups (Waterkeyn & Cairncross, 2005). Such health clubs raise awareness amongst members, thus allowing them to help make their households and communities healthier.

In the last ten years, most of the work in the area of water usage and storage behavior has focused on interventions to reduce drinking water contamination in the household (Davis et al., 2011; Kamara et al., 2017). The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) and the Pan American Health Organization (PAHO) developed the following intervention guidelines to reduce water contamination: (i) disinfect water using sodium chloride manufactured locally through electrolysis of brine; (ii) use proper water storage vessels or containers that help minimize or prevent contamination; and (iii) distribute community hygiene education and training materials for families (CDC, 2000; Clasen & Bastable, 2003). Studies of intervention programs showed

reductions of 44% in the incidence of diarrhea in Bolivia and up to 62% in Uzbekistan postintervention (Rangel et al., 2003). In rural Malawi, improved water collection and storage methods were associated with a 69% reduction in fecal coliform counts in drinking water and a 31% reduction in diarrhea in children under five years, despite the lack of use of disinfectants such as chlorine (Roberts et. al., 2001). In the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries in America, the availability of clean water reduced the mortality rate by about half in large cities (Cutler & Miller, 2004).

Integrated approaches are necessary to address domestic water quality issues. Everard (2014) calls for system-wide, integrated approaches to water quality assessment and management (Everard, 2014). Participatory management initiatives are seen as a key tool in integrated approaches in as much as they can systematize governance, including the assessment and maintenance of technologies (Adams & Zulu, 2015; Schouten & Moriarty, 2003). One of the key challenges to ensuring widespread water access in peri-urban Africa is the number of sources of water that residents must utilize, given the unreliability of the city water supply. The World Bank (2004) argued that this necessitated the overhaul of regulatory frameworks, ensuring that they are compatible with facilitating quality service from private sector actors. Alternatives have included the facilitation of vendor unions that self-police quality service standards (Wutich et al., 2016).

This study was conducted in one of the peri-urban areas of Dar es Salaam, Tanzania, where water is relatively scarce compared to other tropical areas. People in Dar es Salaam rely on three different water sources for household consumption. The first source is domestic wells, which are often privately or publicly owned, from which people can purchase water. Due to water scarcity and a lack of regulatory control in this area, there are a relatively high number of private and public domestic wells. The average density is 12 wells per square mile, however, the cost associated with

purchasing water from domestic wells is high. Water from most domestic wells is contaminated by household sewage due to the wells' close proximity to poorly constructed septic tanks and pit latrines (Arwenyo et al., 2017). Additionally, water from domestic wells is typically salty to the taste, which is perhaps due to salt water intrusion from the nearby Indian Ocean (Mtoni et al., 2013). A second water source in Dar es Salaam is provided by the City. Water from the Ruvu River is treated by coagulation, flocculation, sedimentation, filtration, and disinfection and then distributed to the community through shared standpipes.

City water is the only source that is considered safe to drink; however, due to aged and poorly constructed and maintained water infrastructure, city water is highly unreliable. Complicating water availability even further, in Dar es Salaam, city water is usually available intermittently (up to once every two weeks). When city water is available, however, the costs associated with purchasing it are less compared to water from domestic wells (Smiley, 2013). The cost of water from domestic wells is high because well owners charge what the market will bear while city water is subsidized. The third community source is water provided by private vendors. These are individuals who sell water in the city. The source of this water is highly varied and often unknown. As such, the quality of water from such sources is also varied and questionable. Water from vendors is often expensive because vendors take economical advantage of customers during the dry season when water is extremely scarce.

While city water is the only source that is considered to be safe for consumption, because it is unreliable, people rely on the other water sources. This aspect of cross contamination of water in areas that rely on multiple water sources has not yet been investigated comprehensively until now. In the published literature (Jensen et al., 2002; Wright et al., 2004) there is much information about the impact of poor water storage practices on water quality at the household level as well as

42

the importance of education provided to communities in need to address this issue. However, correlations between water storage practices and the extent of water contamination in households due to poor storage practices have not yet been studied in detail. Therefore, to help fill this key knowledge gap, the objectives of our study were to (1) assess water collection and water use practices at the household level and (2) determine how water becomes contaminated because of practices such as mixing and storing water. The hypothesis is that poor water storage practices and non-hygienic behaviors are the main cause of contamination of city water at the household level in Dar es Salaam.

## **3.2 Methods**

## 3.2.1 Study Area and Data Collection

The study area is one of the densely populated, informal settlements in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania, which is located on the East African coast and borders the Indian Ocean to the east (Figure 3-1). The city is the major seat of government institutions and the largest urban center in Tanzania. Dar es Salaam is highly populated with significant economic development. Residents of this settlement are low-income wage earners who spend a significant portion of their income to purchase water for domestic use and for wastewater management. The study was conducted during the dry season when water is usually scarce.



Before data collection, the study received exempt status from the Institutional Review Board (IRB) at Michigan State University and the Tanzania Commission of Science and Technology (COSTECH). The researchers conducted qualitative and quantitative surveys of 123 Dar es Salaam households in July 2016 to identify water storage practices, hygienic behaviors, and the extent of water contamination at the household level. The household survey involved a stratified cluster sampling technique that combined a random starting point with a standard assessment interval to select households from which survey respondents were chosen (Teddlie & Yu, 2007). In developing countries where population lists are not readily available, such cluster sampling techniques have been considered to provide adequate representation of community profiles (Henderson & Sundaresan, 1982). The team utilized a household survey, interviews with adult women who are responsible for water collection, and field observations to make preliminary deductions about household water storage and hygiene practices related to water and sanitation issues. From each household, detailed information on the type of water source commonly used, location of water source(s), costs associated with purchasing water, typical water usage and storage practices, and location of nearby sanitation facilities for wastewater management were obtained. In addition, water samples were collected from each household's disclosed water source and storage container(s) for subsequent analysis for general quality.

## 3.2.2 Water Quality Analysis

The term point of collection (POC) refers to the location (or water source) where water is collected and carried to a household for domestic use. In this peri-urban area of Dar es Salaam, water is not distributed into the home by transmission lines. On the contrary, point of use (POU) is the location where water is used at the household level for different purposes, such as drinking, cooking and bathing. Water samples were collected at the POU from covered storage containers stored either in the kitchen (about 30% of the households) or from one of the storage rooms in the home (about 70% of the households). All samples (POC and POU) were collected in the afternoon between 12 pm and 3 pm. More than 80% of the households visited were observed to have water stored in 20 L plastic buckets with lids. The rest were stored in 20 L jerry cans that have small opening with lids. The average length of time that water is usually stored depends on the type of source from which the water was collected, household size, and water usage. However, when residents had water stored in the home, it was likely well water, because well water is more easily accessible than city water, which is available only once or twice a week.

Water sampling and laboratory storage techniques followed WHO standards and the US Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA) Interactive Sampling Guide for Drinking Water System Operators (U.S. EPA, 2015). Water samples were analyzed for seven different parameters:

nitrate, nitrite, ammonia, chloride, total dissolved solids (TDS), pH, and *Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*). Nitrate, nitrite, and chloride were analyzed by using ion chromatography. Ammonia was tested using U.S. EPA Method 350.1 via semi-automated colorimetry (Pfaff, 1993). TDS concentrations were quantified using Method 8163, the Gravimetric Method (Total Filterable Solids) (U.S. EPA, 2012), which was adapted from Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater, Part 2540C. Finally, *E. coli* concentrations was measured using Method 1603, by Membrane Filtration using modified membrane-thermotolerant *Escherichia coli* Agar (Modified mTEC) (U.S. EPA, 2009). See Table 3-1 for details of the laboratory testing methods and measuring units.

Parameter	Methods of Analysis	Measurement units	
Turbidity	Turbidometric/Turbidity tube	NTU	
Chloride	Ion chromatography	mg/L	
Ammonia (NH <sub>3</sub> -N)	Titration by H <sub>2</sub> SO <sub>4</sub>	mg/L	
Nitrate -N (NO <sub>3</sub> -N)	Ion chromatography	mg/L	
Nitrite-N (NO <sub>2</sub> -N)	Ion chromatography	mg/L	
E. coli	Membrane Filtration	<i>E. coli</i> count/100 mL	
pH	Electrometric/pH meter	N/A	

Table 3-1. Summarized laboratory methods used for water quality testing

Water Quality Index (WQI) was used to assess source water quality by comparing values estimated with maximum contaminant levels (MCL) according to Tanzania or World Health Organization (WHO) guidelines. The WQI is a way of calculating a single score from multiple water quality parameters and is also one of the criteria for water classifications with respect to standard parameters for water characterization (Mophin-Kani & Murugesan, 2011; Ngasala et al., 2018). WQI were computed using the seven water contaminants mentioned previously. Each contaminant was assigned a weight based on its perceived effect on primary health or the relative importance of the parameter in terms of the overall quality of water for drinking purposes (Vasanthavigar et al., 2010). The assigned weight ranged from 1 to 5. An assigned weight of 1 indicates the parameter has low negative impact on human health and 5 indicates that the detrimental impact is high. The relative weight of each parameter was calculated using equation (1) where, RW is the relative weight, AW is the assigned weight of each parameter and n is the number of parameters. The *RW* values are shown in Table 3-2.

Parameters	Water Quality Standard	Assigned Weight	Relative Weight
Total Dissolved Solids (TDS)	500	4	0.129
Nitrate (mg/L)	10	5	0.161
Nitrite (mg/L)	3	4	0.129
Ammonia (mg/L)	1.5	5	0.161
Chloride (mg/L)	250	5	0.161
pH	6.5-8.5 (7.0)	3	0.097
<i>E. coli</i> (CFU/100mL)	0	5	0.161

Table 3-2. Assigned and relative weight of the water quality parameters (Al-Barakah et al., 2010; Ramakrishnaiah et al., 2009; Saana et al., 2016)

The quality rating scale  $(Q_i)$  for all the parameters was calculated using equation (2), where,  $Q_i$  is the quality rating,  $C_i$  is value of the water quality obtained from the test conducted in the laboratory,  $S_i$  is the recommended maximum contaminant level according to WHO standards. Before calculating WQI, equation (3) was used to calculate sub-indices  $(SI_i)$  for each contaminant, then equation (4) was used to calculate the WQI for each water sample (Ramakrishnaiah et al., 2009). The overall water quality based on the computed WQI is classified into five categories and these are shown in Table 3-3.

$$RW = \frac{AW_i}{\sum_{i=1}^n AW_i} \tag{1}$$

$$Q_i = \frac{C_i}{S_i} \times 100 \tag{2}$$

$$SI_i = RW \times Q_i \tag{3}$$

$$WQI = \sum_{i=1}^{n} SI_i \tag{4}$$

Classification	Range	Description
Excellent	<50	Water quality is protected with no impairment; This
		range can be obtained if all measurements meet
		recommended guidelines
Good	50-200	Water quality is protected with only a minor degree
		of impairment; conditions rarely depart from
		recommended guidelines.
Poor	200-300	Water quality is usually protected but occasionally
		impaired; conditions sometimes depart from
		recommended guidelines.
Very Poor	>300	Water quality is almost always impaired;
		conditions usually depart from recommended
		guidelines.

Table 3-3. Water Quality Index classification adopted and modified (Ramakrishnaiah et al., 2009)

#### 3.2.3 Statistical Analysis

Survey responses were analyzed by using a multinomial logistic regression model. The goal of the analysis was to understand why people mix water during storage. Multinomial regression is a generalization of the binary logistic model that predicts binary outcomes with two levels only (e.g., pass/fail) to include categorical or qualitative variables with more than two levels (e.g., a person's political affiliation or the state they live in). Given a *mixing combination* (X) such as WC (well water mixed with city water), the model predicts the most likely *reason* (Y) for that mixing combination which is represented as a categorical variable with one of three possible values (e.g., 1, 2, or 3 to denote the three possible reasons why residents mix water). Therefore, multinomial logistic regression is usually used when the categorical dependent outcome has more than two levels (Chan, 2005). For this analysis, the model used water *mixing combination* as the independent variable and the *reason* for mixing (1, 2 or 3 as described above) as the dependent variable. Multinomial logistic regression was used to model the nominal outcome variable (i.e., water storage behavior was coded as a categorical variable with three levels; see below), in which the log-odds of outcomes are modeled as a linear combination of predictor variables (equation 5).

Out of 123 households surveyed, 63 households reported mixing water from different sources during storage. Therefore, 63 households that reported mixing water were analyzed. The model provides *p*-values and 95% confidence intervals for model predictors as well as odds ratios that characterize the log-odds of outcomes for the households (Hosmer & Lemeshow, 2004; Monyai et al., 2016).

Three pairs of water mixing combinations were identified: well water, vendors and city water (WVC), well water and city water (WC), and vendors and city water (VC). Residents were also asked to select one or more main reasons for mixing water during storage, which were used as predictors of different water mixing combinations. This increased the total number of responses from 63 to 133. The mixing combination of the water sources is thus a categorical dependent variable with three predictors as describe above: 1) insufficient number of water storage containers, 2) no perceived difference in the quality of water, and 3) dilution of the salty taste from well water (J = 3; see equation 5). The independent variable mixing combinations (k) are WVC, WC and VC (k = 1, 2 and 3). Each individual survey observation was counted as one response, which resulted in a total of 133 observations (i = 1...133). For a categorical dependent variable with J categories, the multinomial regression model estimates (J-1) logit equations. One category was picked as a baseline and used to calculate the odds that a member of group *i* falls in category *j* as opposed to the baseline. Odds ratio was used to measure the association between the *mixing* combinations with the reasons by using equation 6. Finally, statistical package for the Social Sciences (SPSS version 22) was used for all of the statistical analyses.

$$log\left(\frac{\pi_{ij}}{\pi_{ij}}\right) = \sum_{k=1}^{3} \beta_{kj} x_{ik} \quad , \qquad j = 1 \dots \dots , J - 1 \text{ and } i = 1 \dots . 133$$
 (5)

$$Odds \ Ratio = \frac{\pi_{ij}}{\pi_{ij}} = e^{\sum_{k=1}^{3} \beta_{kj} x_{ik}} \tag{6}$$

Where:

 $\pi_{ij}$  = Probability that the i-th response falls in the j-th category

 $\beta$  = Regression coefficient

 $x_{ik}$  = The binary predictor variable that describes whether the i-th individual belongs to the kth outcome.

# 3.3 Results

## 3.3.1 Water Quality

A total of 20 POCs were identified based on the survey responses - seven public standpipes that intermittently deliver city water, six public wells and seven vendors. Water samples collected from these sources were tested. A total of 101 samples were identified by families as being mixed in the home during storage, 45 were reported to have been obtained from public wells, 48 from city water standpipes, and 8 from water vendors. Figure 3-2 through 3-4 show the comparison between the quality of water at the original source with water collected and that stored at home for all three water sources. The calculated WQI of each sample was used to determine the average value for samples that were collected from the same source. As shown on Figure 3-2, the WQI of the city water at the standpipes is excellent whereas the WQI indices for city water stored at home range from "good" to "very poor". Although WQI for water from domestic wells and vendors does not fall under the category "excellent", there is a noticeable difference between water quality at the POC and POU, as shown in Figure 3-3 and 3-4.



Figure 3-2. WQI comparison of (a) city water samples tested at the point of collection (POC, n = 7) and at the households (i.e., the point of use, POU, n = 48)



Figure 3-3. WQI comparison of *domestic well* water samples tested at the POC (n = 6) and at the households (i.e., the POU, n = 46).



Figure 3-4. WQI comparison of *water from private vendors* water samples tested at the POC (n = 7) and at the households (i.e., the POU, n = 8).
Overall, water from domestic wells had the poorest quality, followed by water from vendors. City water had the best quality. However, the quality of city water from samples collected at the households is poor compared to city water at the POC. Figures A3-1 through A3-7 in Appendix show a series of box plots depicting the variation of all seven contaminants tested for city water, domestic wells, and private vendors collected from POC, which can be compared ith the red dotted line indicating the maximum contaminant level (MCL) according to WHO guidelines. Concentration levels above the dotted lines indicate violations of drinking water standards. On average, water from the domestic wells exceeded WHO's guideline levels for all seven contaminants. Water from vendors also exceed MCLs, except for nitrite, ammonia and chloride. City water shows high variation for all seven contaminants whereas about 50% of the city water samples were above MCLs and the other 50% were below MCLs.

# **3.3.2 Impact on Water Storage Practices**

Household interviews revealed that in this informal settlement, one family of between 5-7 people uses 2-4 twenty-liter buckets of water per day. On average, one household stores 6 to 10 twenty-liter buckets of water. Survey questions allowed interviewees to select more than one response; therefore, the total number of responses were greater than the number of households that reported that they mix water during storage. Approximately 50% of households interviewed indicated that they mix water from different sources during storage. Survey responses showed that individuals of various households use two different mixing combinations (WC and WVC) more commonly than the combination of city water and vendor water (VC) (see Figure 3-5). Most people reported that the main reason they mix water during storage is due to a lack of a sufficient number of containers followed by the need to dilute the salty taste of well water (Figure 3-6). Only 25%

of participants reported that they did not know the difference in the quality of water from one water source to another. Nearly 75% of individuals mix city water with at least one water source and less than 25% exclude well water when mixing (Figure 3-5).



Figure 3-5. Percentages of survey responses showing three different mixing combination of water sources during storage at the household.



Figure 3-6. Percentage of survey responses for residents' tendency to mix water during storage.

Multinomial logistic regression analysis was used to evaluate patterns of water storage behaviors. The results indicate that people will more likely mix water from all three water sources (city water, vendors, and well water), and this pattern is best explained by having an insufficient number of containers with *p*-values of 0.035 and 0.001, respectively (Table 3-4). Those who mix water to dilute the salty taste are more likely to mix well water and city water (*p*-values = 0.001 and 0.000) than those who mix all three sources. Results also showed that people are more likely to mix water from vendors with city water when they believe that there is no difference in the quality of water between those two sources (*p*-value = 0.028). In summary, it was found that two main reasons that indicate why individuals mix WVC or WC in households are: insufficient number of water storage containers and the need to dilute the salty taste of well water. Also, most people believe the quality of water from vendors is similar to city water, and their reason for mixing

VC was that they did not know the difference in water quality. From these results, it is possible that the main source of contamination at the point of consumption is poor storage practices.

Reasons for mixing water during	β	<i>p</i> -value	95% CI for Odds Ratio			
storage	,	•	Lower	Odds Ratio	Upper	
WC vs WVC (n = 133)						
Insufficient number of containers	-0.633	0.035*	0.295	0.531	0.957	
No perceived difference in water quality	-0.511	0.323	0.218	0.600	1.651	
Dilute the salty taste	1.322	0.001*	1.719	3.750	8.180	
VC vs WVC (n=133)						
Insufficient number of containers	-1.269	0.001*	0.134	0.281	0.589	
No perceived difference in water quality	0.531	0.183	0.778	1.700	3.713	
Dilute the salty taste	-0.693	0.258	0.151	0.500	1.660	
VC vs WC (n=133)						
Insufficient number of containers	-0.636	0.123	0.236	0.529	1.188	
No perceived difference in water quality	1.041	0.028*	1.117	2.833	7.186	
Dilute the salty taste	-2.015	0.000*	0.047	0.133	0.378	

 Table 3-4. Multinomial logistic regression showing the relationship between type of mixing combination and the reasons for mixing water during storage

\*Regression is significant at the 0.05 level

# 3.4 Discussion

Our water quality analysis showed that there is a significant difference in water quality between the POC and POU. At the POC, city water was consistently of high quality as shown in Figure 3-2 and well water had the poorest quality (Figure 3-3). However, the quality of the water from vendors was highly variable, ranging from very poor to very good. This difference of water quality at POC and POU indicates the possibility of mixing water during storage at the household. During the interview process, the interviewer recorded observations regarding water use and storage. In addition, interviewees were asked about sources of water, storage practices, and water usage. The length of water storage varied, depending on the type of water source, household size, and water usage. Interviewees reported that they clean the containers before collecting and storing water; however, it is impossible to confirm these reports. We observed that all water storage containers were covered. Statistical analysis of the survey responses about mixing combinations and the reasons for mixing explain the ways in which household members mix water during storage. Multinomial logistics regression analysis supports the fact that the main reason for mixing water from all three sources (city, wells, and vendors) during storage is an insufficient number of containers, and the main reason of mixing water from the city and vendors is the perception that there is no difference in the quality of water.

# 3.4.1 Extent of Contamination

While the nitrate concentrations exceeded MCLs in domestic well water, nitrate levels did not exceed MCLs in water obtained from vendors and the city. WHO (2017) recommends that the concentration of nitrate in drinking water not exceed 11 mg/L as N (50 mg/L as nitrate ion). The U.S. EPA has set the MCL of 10 mg/L as N for the regulatory limit. High levels of nitrate in drinking water are usually associated with human activities, and the presence of nitrate might indicate presence of other contaminants that originate from human and animal waste, and agricultural activities. Ammonia and nitrite are other forms of inorganic nitrogen. Results also show both ammonia and nitrite did exceed the MCL in domestic well water tested from the POU. Common sources of inorganic nitrogen are fertilizers, human waste, and animal waste from feedlots, septic systems, and leaky pit latrines. In the study area, due to close proximity of wells and septic tanks, the main source of nitrogen compound is thought to be from sewage seeping from septic tanks (Elisante & Muzuka, 2017).

Extremely high TDS levels were found in water from domestic wells as compared to city water and water from vendors. TDS levels in Dar es Salaam city water, tested at the POC, were >50 mg/L, whereas the TDS levels at most of the domestic wells were above the secondary

standard of 500 mg/L set by the U.S. EPA. However, the TDS measured at the POU ranged from very low (23 mg/L) to very high (2,030 mg/L), possibly due to the mixing water from multiple sources. One of the reasons for high TDS levels in domestic wells is likely due to salt water intrusion, due to the proximity of the wells to the ocean (Mtoni et al., 2013). It is also possible that TDS levels are high because of the proximity of wells to septic tanks. High concentration of TDS might indicate the possibility of other chemical contaminants such as calcium, chlorides, nitrate, phosphorus, iron, sulfur, and other ions particles (WHO, 2017). Further testing is necessary to determine the ions that contribute to TDS.

Similar to TDS levels, high concentrations of chloride, especially in domestic wells, also suggest possible saltwater intrusion from the Indian Ocean. One of the reasons that people mix well water with city water during collection and storage is because of high salinity. Our results show very low chloride content in city water at the POC, but a few samples had high chloride content when tested at the POU. High concentrations of chloride can give a salty taste to drinking water; however, to date, no health-based guideline exists for evaluating levels of chloride in drinking water (WHO, 2017). Chloride can increase the electrical conductivity of water and increases its corrosivity, which may also influence the levels of heavy metal compounds in drinking water distributed by city water through metal pipes due to the chemical reaction of chloride and metals.

Our results showed that all samples at the POU were contaminated with *E. coli*, a type of gram-negative non-spore forming bacterium that is found in the intestines of mammals. *E. coli* is used as an indicator of sewage and animal waste in water because this bacterium can be easily and inexpensively detected. No *E. coli* were detected in city water samples at the POC, however, that water is treated and disinfected, unlike the well water. On the contrary, domestic well and vendor

samples were already contaminated by *E. coli* at the POC (Figure A3-1 in Appendix), *E. coli* were detected in all POU water samples at levels in exceedance of the MCL, irrespective of the water sources suggesting that city water became contaminated in the household level.

The pH of all water sources tested at the POC and POU was between 6.5 and 8.5, except for in the water from few domestic wells (about 10%) where the pH was <6.5. These wells were located in the east side of the study area. The reason for the reduced pH is unknown at this point. Acceptable pH levels are usually in the range 6.5–8.5. pH levels below 7 may be corrosive but there are no health-based guidelines proposed for pH (WHO, 2017).

#### **3.4.2 Water Storage Practices**

The main focus of our study is to analyze the storage practices at the household level. Our study collected POU samples from water storage containers stored in the homes only and therefore our water storage practices findings reflect what was observed at home. The main reason residents identified for mixing different water sources during storage was the lack of availability of a sufficient number of water storage containers. The lack of containers is due to the inability of the residents to purchase additional containers. As such, regardless of community awareness about the quality of their water, to our knowledge, the fact that most residents have limited income, restricts the ability of the residents of this settlement in Dar es Salaam to practice safe water storage at the household level.

Our results also show that the TDS levels in most water samples and the chloride levels in some of the water samples were above WHO guidelines, likely contributing to a salty taste to well water. Therefore, to make well water less salty and more palatable, residents tend to dilute salty well water by mixing it with more palatable city water. To some extent, this storage practice appears to be purposeful. Unbeknownst to the residents, the disadvantage of this approach is that well water is often highly contaminated. Most people interviewed did not know that city water and vendor water differed in quality. However, some residents did report that vendors claim that their water originates from the city water supply even if this is not true. As shown by our water quality results (Figures 3-2 and 3-4), water from vendors tested at the POC is poorer in quality as compared with water obtained from the city. However, residents who choose to believe that the vendors' water is obtained from the city supply commonly mix that water with city water thinking that it is from the same source. For them, the salty taste of water from vendors did not seem to be a concern.

Findings from this study did not show a big difference from those conducted in other parts of the world with similar challenges. In Sierra Leone, water samples from 20 unimproved water sources and 100 from the stored household water were collected and analyzed for pathogenic bacteria in 13 different villages in the Kailahun district along with 85 household interviews on demographics, hygiene practices, sanitation, water collection and storage practices (Clasen & Bastable, 2003). Results from unimproved water sources showed that all samples were contaminated by pathogenic bacteria and 92.9% of samples that were collected from households had high levels of fecal contamination (Clasen & Bastable, 2003). In Bagamoyo, Tanzania, a study involving hand-to-mouth contacts found out that a child consumes a total 0.098 mg or 0.93 mg of feces per day through drinking water stored and hand-to-mouth contacts (Mattioli et al., 2015). Children 3 to 6 months old consumed more feces per day from hand-to-mouth transfer while older children (3-5 years) consumed feces mainly through drinking water. Results from this study show the importance of focusing on interventions to minimize diarrhea by addressing hygiene in addition to water itself (Mattioli et al., 2015).

Regardless of other circumstances such as economic status, education and capacity building are important in these communities. In places such as Upper Egypt, where four districts (Itssa, Nasser, Samalot and Abou-Korkas) were monitored to observe how the behavior at the community level changes from education on personal hygiene and environmentally-appropriate water usage and sanitation (WES) (Metwally et al., 2007). The education focused on personal hygiene such as hand washing, especially after using the toilet, before eating, before preparing food and serving food and personal hygiene for children. Other relevant practices that were taught were proper drinking water storage and proper use and maintenance of pour flush latrines, for example, covering the latrine while not using it and pouring water in the latrine before and after use. The progress was monitored over a three-year period by conducting household surveys. Results from this study showed improvements in human behaviors towards water handling after hygiene health education increasing from the baseline, midterm and final survey which can highly minimize water contamination at the household level (Metwally et al., 2007).

# **3.5** Conclusion

The main objective of this study was to assess the water collection and storage practices at the household level and to analyze the extent of contamination of city water, which is safe at the POC but becomes contaminated at the households due to poor storage practices. The hypothesis tested positive by confirming that poor water storage practices in this community are the main cause of city water contamination at the household level. The study was able to identify existing water sources and determine the quality of water at the POC and at the POU. WQI classification demonstrated the level of contamination in a comprehensive manner based on scientific criteria for water quality. Water quality varied depending on the type of water source and storage practices. WQI results showed different levels of water quality in a given water source and the statistical analysis results indicated that, there are reasons why people mix water during storage. Under conditions where safe water is available, it should not matter whether one mixes water or not during storage. However, this informal Dar es Salaam community is largely unaware of the variations in quality of their water between sources and therefore are likely to use storage practices that lead to the contamination of higher quality city water.

Financial limitations and low-economic conditions prevent the residents from practicing proper water storage (Clasen & Bastable, 2003). The default for addressing household water quality concerns is often to either demand for more reliable city water service, and/or more attention to hygiene education. These either wholly institutionalize or individualize the problem. Our findings, however, indicate that addressing household water quality in the peri-urban context necessitates a combination of actions. Given the challenges of municipal water supply in a place like Dar es Salaam, it would be naïve to simply demand consistency of supply. Our data indicate that peri-urban household water quality concerns involves a) blending water; b) inadequate storage; c) misplaced trust in vender water; d) use of contaminated groundwater. The survey analysis indicates that people make these choices because of both lack of education and because of what amount to institutional constraints.

This implies a need for an integrated approach that addresses education, technology, and governance. Better (and more) storage facilities could be about education, yes, but also improving the availability of inexpensive and functional storage containers. Likewise, given frequency of discontinuation city water, water vendors provide an important service for households. It seems then, that a key to better household water quality is to develop mechanisms that ensure better standards of practice and labels. In other words, regulations of vendors. While the World Bank

(2004) proposed such regulation as the role of the state, Wutich et. al. (2016) suggest that such regulation could be ensured through unionization of vendors.

The data indicate that wells are badly contaminated and are also salty. Because our study examined POC and POU, it was clear that poor quality of water was coming from domestic wells and end up contaminating other sources at POU, specifically city water. Observations from site visits at these wells during water collection showed how close domestic wells were to septic systems, which suggests the likelihood of well contamination (Arwenyo et al., 2017). Education about the proper placement of domestic wells to lower groundwater contamination, proper wastewater management as well as proper construction of septic tanks should be emphasized. At the household level, education about better choices of water treatment technologies will help improve the quality of drinking water (Rajasingham et al., 2018).

Basic education about household water management as well as water treatment through use of inexpensive water filters could provide knowledge that may lead to a multi-barrier system to protect water quality. Also, knowledge about the sources of water and their quality is the key component to improving water quality and human health. When residents become aware of the differences in water quality from different sources, it will change their perspective and can encourage them to pay more attention during storage. Once the community is aware of the condition of their water, education about proper water storage practices can be implemented along with cost effective household drinking water treatment methods. Beyond education and awareness, however, there are additional actions that would be important to implement the multi-barrier approach, including: 1) improving the access to and availability of adequate numbers of containers so that water can be segregated; 2) developing a feasible regulatory system so that tankers and other suppliers are held to account for the quality of water that they provide; 3) better access to and management household filtering and treatment systems to improve water quality; and 4) improved systems for waste disposal and management to minimize contamination in the first place.

In other words, we argue that addressing water quality concerns, such as we document in peri-urban Dar es Salaam, must be addressed through an integrated domestic water management approach. Future research needs to address how to implement such an integrated approach.

# 3.6 Acknowledgments

We are grateful to the Environmental Science and Policy Program (ESPP) and the Miriam J. Kelley African Scholarship Grant Program at Michigan State University for financial support. Special thanks to Michigan State University Centre for Statistical Training and Consulting (CSTAT) for their assistance with our statistical analysis. APPENDIX

# APPENDIX



Figure A3-1. *E. coli* concentration comparison at the Point of Collection (POC) on the left, and Point of Use (POU) on the right



Figure A3-2. Ammonia concentrations comparison at the Point of Collection (POC) on the left and Point of Use (POU) on the right



Figure A3-3. Total Dissolved Solids (TDS) concentrations comparison at the Point of Collection (POC) on the left, and Point of Use (POU) on the right



Figure A3-4. Chloride concentrations comparison at the Point of Collection (POC) on the left, and Point of Use (POU) on the right



Figure A3-5. Nitrate concentrations comparison at the Point of Collection (POC) on the left, and Point of Use (POU) on the right



Figure A3-6. pH levels comparison at the Point of Collection (POC) on the left, and Point of Use (POU) on the right



Figure A3-7. Nitrite concentrations comparison at the Point of Collection (POC) on the left, and Point of Use (POU) on the right

Table A3-1. Number of households reported different mixing combinations and the reasons for mixing water during storage.

Reason for Mixing	Ň	Percentage (%)
Insufficient number of containers	58	44
No difference in the quality of water	33	25
Dilute the salty test	42	32
TOTAL	133	100
Mixing Combination	Ν	Percentage (%)
Well, Vendors & City water	50	38
Well & City water	53	40
Well & Vendors	30	23
TOTAL	133	100

REFERENCES

# REFERENCES

- 1. Adams, E. A., & Zulu, L. C. (2015). Participants or customers in water governance? Community-public partnerships for peri-urban water supply. *Geoforum*, 65, 112–124. http://doi.org/10. 1016/j.geoforum.2015.07.017.
- 2. Al-Barakah, F. N., Al-jassas, A. M., & Aly, A. A. (2017). Water quality assessment and hydrochemical characterization of Zamzam groundwater, Saudi Arabia. *Applied Water Science*, 7(7), 3985–3996. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13201-017-0549-x.
- 3. Arwenyo, B., Wasswa, J., Nyeko, M., & Kasozi, N. (2017). The impact of septic systems density and nearness to spring water points, on water quality. *African Journal of Environmental Science and Technology*, 11(1), 11–18. https://doi.org/10.5897/AJEST2016.2216.
- 4. Brick, T., Primrose, B., Chandrasekhar, R., Roy, S., Muliyil, J., & Kang, G. (2004). Water contamination in urban south India: Household storage practices and their implications for water safety and enteric infections. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health*, 207(5), 473–480. https://doi.org/10.1078/1438-4639-00318.
- 5. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). (2014). Disease and impact: *The Safe Water System, CDC*. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/safewater/disease.html.
- 6. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). (2000). Safe water systems for the developing world: A handbook for implementing household-based water treatment and safe storage projects, 218. *Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/safewater/pdf/sws-for-the-developing-world-manual.pdf*.
- 7. Chan, Y. H. (2005). Biostatistics 305. Multinomial logistic regression. *Singapore Medical Journal*, 46(6), 259.
- 8. Clasen, T., & Bastable, A. (2003). Fecal contamination of drinking water during collection and household storage: The need to extend protection to the point of use. *Journal of Water and Health*, 1, 109–115. https://doi.org/10.2166/wh.2003.0013.
- 9. Cutler, D., & Miller, G. (2004). The role of public health improvements in health advances: The 20th century United States. *National Bureau of Economic Research*, (Working Paper 10511).
- 10. Davis, J., Pickering, A. J., Rogers, K., Mamuya, S., & Boehm, A. B. (2011). The effects of informational interventions on household water management, hygiene behaviors, stored drinking water quality, and hand contamination in peri-urban Tanzania. *The American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, 84(2), 184–191. https://doi.org/10.4269/ajtmh. 2011.10-0126.

- 11. Elisante, E., & Muzuka, A. N. N. (2017). Occurrence of nitrate in Tanzanian groundwater aquifers: A review. *Applied Water Science*, 7(1), 71–87. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13201-015-0269-z.
- 12. Everard, M. (2014). Integrating integrated water management. *Proceedings of the ICE Water Management*, 167, 512–522. http://doi.org/10.1680/wama.12.00125.
- 13. Henderson, R. H., & Sundaresan, T. (1982). Cluster sampling to assess immunization coverage: A review of experience with a simplified sampling method. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 60(2), 253–260. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2535957/.
- 14. Hosmer, D., & Lemeshow, S. (2004). Applied Logistic Regression. John Wiley & Sons.
- Jensen, P. K., Ensink, J. H. J., Jayasinghe, G., Hoek, W. V. D., Cairncross, S., & Dalsgaard, A. (2002). Domestic transmission routes of pathogens: The problem of in-house contamination of drinking water during storage in developing countries. *Tropical Medicine* & *International Health*, 7(7), 604–609. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-3156.2002.00901.x.
- 16. Kamara, J. K., Galukande, M., Maeda, F., Luboga, S., & Renzaho, A. M. N. (2017). Understanding the Challenges of Improving Sanitation and Hygiene Outcomes in a Community Based Intervention: A Cross-Sectional Study in Rural Tanzania. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 14(6). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph14 060602.
- Mascie-Taylor, C. G. N., Karim, R., Karim, E., Akhtar, S., Ahmed, T., & Montanari, R. M. (2003). The cost-effectiveness of health education in improving knowledge and awareness about intestinal parasites in rural Bangladesh. *Economics & Human Biology*, 1(3), 321–330. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ehb.2003.08.001.
- 18. Mattioli, M. C. M., Davis, J., & Boehm, A. B. (2015). Hand-to-mouth contacts result in greater ingestion of feces than dietary water consumption in Tanzania: A Quantitative fecal exposure assessment model. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 49(3), 1912–1920. https://doi.org/10.1021/es505555f.
- 19. Metwally, A., Saad-Hussein, A., Ibrahim, N., Emam, H., & Etreby, L. (2007). Monitoring progress of the role of integration of environmental health education with water and sanitation services in changing community behaviors. *International Journal of Environmental Health Research*, 17, 61–74. https://doi.org/10.1080/09603120600937856.
- 20. Montgomery, M. A., & Elimelech, M. (2007). Water and Sanitation in developing countries: Including health in the equation. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 41(1), 17–24. https://doi.org/10.1021/es072435t.
- 21. Monyai, S., Lesaoana, M., Darikwa, T., & Nyamugure, P. (2016). Application of multinomial logistic regression to educational factors of the 2009 general household survey

in South Africa. *Journal of Applied Statistics*, 43(1), 128–139. https://doi.org/10.1080/02664 763.2015.1077941.

- 22. Mophin-Kani, K., & Murugesan, A. G. (2011). Evaluation and classification of water quality of Perennial river Tamirabarani through aggregation of water quality index. *International Journal of Environmental Protection*, 1, 24–33. https://doi.org/10.5963/IJEP 0105004.
- Mtoni, Y., Mjemah, I. C., Bakundukize, C., Camp, M. V., Martens, K., & Walraevens, K. (2013). Saltwater intrusion and nitrate pollution in the coastal aquifer of Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. *Environmental Earth Sciences*, 70(3), 1091–1111. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12665-012-2197-7.
- 24. Ngasala, T. M., Masten, S. J., Phanikumar, M. S., & Mwita, E. J. (2018). Analysis of water security and source preferences in rural Tanzania. *Journal of Water, Sanitation and Hygiene for Development*, 8(3), 439-448. https://doi:10.2166/washdev.2018.169.
- 25. Pfaff, J. D. (1993). Method 300.0 Determination of inorganic anions by ion chromatography. US Environmental Protection Agency, *Office of Research and Development, Environmental Monitoring Systems Laboratory*, 28, Cincinnati, OH.
- 26. Rajasingham, A., Leso, M., Ombeki, S., Ayers, T., & Quick, R. (2018). Water treatment and handwashing practices in rural Kenyan health care facilities and households six years after the installation of portable water stations and hygiene training. *Journal of Water and Health*, 16(2), 263–274. https://doi.org/10.2166/wh.2018.149.
- 27. Ramakrishnaiah, C. R., Sadashivaiah, C., & Ranganna, G. (2009). Assessment of water quality index for the groundwater in Tumkur Taluk, Karnataka State, India. *Journal of Chemistry*, 6(2), 523–530. https://doi.org/10.1155/2009/757424.
- 28. Rangel, J. M., Lopez, B., Mejia, M. A., Mendoza, C., & Luby, S. (2003). A novel technology to improve drinking water quality: A microbiological evaluation of in-home flocculation and chlorination in rural Guatemala. *Journal of Water and Health*, 1(1), 15–22. https://doi.org/10.2166/wh.2003.0003.
- 29. Roberts, L., Chartier, Y., Chartier, O., Malenga, G., Toole, M., & Rodka, H. (2001). Keeping clean water clean in a Malawi refugee camp: A randomized intervention trial. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 79(4), 280–287. https://10.1590/S0042-96862001000400003.
- 30. Saana, S. B. B. M., Fosu, S. A., Sebiawu, G. E., Jackson, N., & Karikari, T. (2016). Assessment of the quality of groundwater for drinking purposes in the Upper West and Northern regions of Ghana. *SpringerPlus*, 5(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40064-016-3676-1.
- 31. Schouten, T., & Moriarty, P. B. (2003). Community water, community management.

*ITDG.* Retrieved from http://agris.fao.org/agris-search/search.do?recordID=US201300090091.

- 32. Smiley, S. L. (2013). Complexities of water access in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. *Applied Geography*, 41, 132–138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apgeog.2013.03.019.
- 33. Steele, A., Clarke, B., & Watkins, O. (2008). Impact of jerry can disinfection in a camp environment experiences in an IDP camp in Northern Uganda. *Journal of Water and Health*, 6(4), 559–564. https://doi.org/10.2166/wh.2008.072.
- 34. Teddlie, C., & Yu, F. (2007). Mixed methods sampling: A typology with examples. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 1(1), 77–100. https://doi.org/10.1177/234567890629 2430.
- 35. Trevett, A. F., & Carter, R. C. (2008). Targeting appropriate interventions to minimize deterioration of drinking-water quality in developing countries. *Journal of Health, Population, and Nutrition*, 26(2), 125–138. https://doi.org/10.3329/jhpn.v26i2.587.
- 36. US Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). (2012). Total Solids: Monitoring & Assessment. *Retrieved from https://archive.epa.gov/water/archive/web/html/vms58.html*.
- 37. US Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). (2009). Method 1603: Escherichia coli (E. coli) in water by membrane filtration using modified membrane-Thermotolerant Escherichia coli Agar (Modified mTEC). Office of Water., Washington, DC. Retrieved from https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-08/documents/method\_1603\_2009.pdf.
- Vasanthavigar, M., Srinivasamoorthy, K., Vijayaragavan, K., Rajiv Ganthi, R., Chidambaram, S., Anandhan, P., Manivannan, R., & Vasudevan, S. (2010). Application of water quality index for groundwater quality assessment: Thirumanimuttar sub-basin, Tamilnadu, India. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 171(1–4), 595–609. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10 661-009-1302-1.
- 39. Waterkeyn, J., & Cairncross, S. (2005). Creating demand for sanitation and hygiene through Community Health Clubs: A cost-effective intervention in two districts in Zimbabwe. *Social Science & Medicine*, 61(9), 1958–1970. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2005.04.012.
- 40. WHO. (2017). Guidelines for drinking-water quality, Fourth edition, *IGO, Geneva*.
- 41. World Bank (Ed.). (2004). Water resources sector strategy: strategic directions for World Bank engagement. Washington, DC: *World Bank*.
- 42. Wright, J., Gundry, S., & Conroy, R. (2004). Household drinking water in developing countries: A systematic review of microbiological contamination between source and point-of-use. *Tropical Medicine & International Health*, 9(1), 106–117.

https://doi.org/10.1046/j. 1365-3156.2003.01160.x.

- 43. Wutich, A., Beresford, M., & Carvajal, C. (2016). Can informal water vendors deliver on the promise of a human right to water? Results from Cochabamba, Bolivia. *World Development*, 79, 14–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2015.10.043.
- 44. Yasuyuki, M., Kunihiro, K., Kurissery, S., Kanavillil, N., Sato, Y., & Kikuchi, Y. (2010). Antibacterial properties of nine pure metals: A laboratory study using Staphylococcus aureus and Escherichia coli. *Biofouling*, 26(7), 851–858. https://doi.org/10.1080/08927014.2010. 527000.

# CHAPTER 4: Impact of Domestic Wells and Hydrogeologic Setting on Water Quality in peri-urban Dar es Salaam, Tanzania

#### Abstract

In densely populated urban areas of many low-income countries, water scarcity, poor water quality, and inadequate wastewater management present complex challenges to ensuring health and wellbeing. This study was conducted in an impoverished peri-urban community in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania that experiences water scarcity and relies on domestic wells for drinking water. The objective of this study was to identify the sources of domestic well water contamination and assess the relationship and association of water contamination with three variables 1) the proximity of the well to a sanitation system, 2) well age, and 3) well depth. Out of the 71 wells tested, samples from >80% of wells contained Escherichia coli (E. coli) and 58% had nitrate levels above WHO guidelines. The average concentration of total dissolved solids (TDS) was 882 mg/L, which exceeded the WHO guideline of 600 mg/L. Bivariate correlation analysis showed a strong correlation between water contamination and proximity of the well to a sanitation system along with well depth. Univariate regression analysis confirmed the association of contaminants with distance of a well from a sanitation system and well depth (p<0.05) but age of the well did not show any significant influence on water quality. Our findings indicate significant contamination of wells from nearby septic tanks and pit latrines. New regulatory mandates for the distance of domestic wells from sanitation systems are essential to prevent groundwater contamination and to protect human health.

# Keywords:

Low-income countries, water quality, pit latrine, shallow and deep well, public health, sanitation

# 4.1 Introduction

Water scarcity and poor water quality are major issues facing densely populated urban communities in developing countries. Contamination of groundwater as a result of poor sanitation practices represents a major threat to the safety of drinking water resources throughout the world. Urban areas are of particularly high risk due to population growth rates of greater than 5% per year. This rapid population growth results in the concentration of poverty, which together result in the rapid spread of waterborne disease (WHO, 1992). A major challenge for those concerned with environmental health is the design and introduction of excrete disposal systems appropriate to these high-density, low-income communities. Untreated groundwater is a major source of enteric diseases causing significant morbidity and mortality globally. An estimated 1.77 billion people worldwide use pit latrines and global reliance on groundwater and pit latrines is only expected to increase as Sustainable Development Goals for safe sanitation are increasingly being met (Graham & Polizzotto, 2013; Ravenscroft et al., 2017). Previous research has demonstrated that trade-offs exist between the SGD goals of water supply (SGD 6.1) and sanitation (SGD 6.2) with increased latrine coverage and adoption linked to increased contamination (Sorensen et al., 2016).

In Dar es Salaam City, where this study was conducted, the main source of city water supply has been the Ruvu River. However, the water level in Ruvu River has been declining in recent years due to human activities (Mato, 2002; Ngove & Machiwa, 2004). As a result, the water supply from Ruvu River has been unreliable and the City is unable to supply water to all residents. Population growth, surface water contamination, and dwindling surface water supplies have resulted in heavy reliance on groundwater. More than 50% of residents in Dar es Salaam rely on groundwater for their daily use (Mtoni et al., 2013). There are more than 7,500 active boreholes/wells in the city and annual withdrawals from the aquifer exceeds 69 million cubic meters of water (Mtoni et al., 2011).

As Graham and Polizzotto (2013) pointed out, despite the global reliance on groundwater and issues surrounding groundwater contamination by pit latrines, few studies directly examined the links between groundwater pollution and contamination from pit latrines and one of the objectives of this work is to address this gap in the context of urban areas in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. Over-extraction of groundwater often leads to detrimental effects, such as seawater intrusion into freshwater aquifers and contamination from improper sewage and industrial waste disposal. Improper human waste management is known to result in the contamination of groundwater with contaminants such as nitrate ( $NO_3^-$ ), enteric bacteria i.e., *Escherichia coli (E. coli)*, viruses, and total dissolved solids (TDS). There are several factors that can result in the contamination of domestic wells. In our study, we focused on three factors – well depth, age of the well, and proximity of the well to a septic system.

The first variable assessed is the well depth. Several studies such as Elisante and Muzuka (2016) found that the depth of the well can affect the level of contamination. In our study area, the depth of shallow wells ranges from 1 to 15 m. Deep wells extend to depths up to 120 m. The extent of contamination of shallow wells depends on the depth and the condition of sanitation facilities in the area. In our study area, nearly 90% of the homes use either an unventilated pit latrine or a single unlined septic tank without a soakaway pit. Herein the two types of units will be referred to as "pit latrines". On the contrary, residents typically refer to these facilities as septic tanks although many of them are not constructed to meet the definition of a properly constructed septic tank (See Appendix A in the Appendices for more details). More than 50% of residents in the study area have to mechanically empty their pit latrines between 1 to 24 months (Ngasala et al., 2016). This

compares to typical times of between 3 and 5 years to fill the pits (Orner, 2018).

The rate of contaminant migration is a function of soil type. The soil type in our study area is sandy clay (Mtoni et al., 2012). The permeability of this type of soil is relatively high and is estimated to be between 0.5 - 15 cm/hr (USEPA, 1980). More than 50% of the study area has a shallow water table that is less than 5 m below ground surface. During the rainy season, when the water table rises, many "pit latrines" in this area fill with groundwater because they are not sealed, thereby potentially contaminating the nearby shallow wells, as shown by (Mkude & Saria, 2012). These researchers observed extensive contamination of nine shallow wells (1.5 to 8 m deep) with total and fecal coliform bacteria in three districts of Dar es Salaam. The main source of contamination in those wells was reported to be improper on-site waste disposal.

The second factor studied is the age of the well. Well age is an important factor in predicting the likelihood of well contamination. High pumping rates, the high-water demand, along with the high permeability of soils in the study area exacerbate the risks of well contamination which increase over time. For example, 35,000 private rural wells in Ohio, Indiana, Illinois, West Virginia, and Kentucky, U.S.A., were tested for different contaminants including nitrate. Concentrations were found to be higher in wells that are shallower, older, located in sandy soils or in close proximity to feedlots, or chemical mixing sites (Richards et al., 1996). Wells constructed in urban areas are likely to be surrounded by many potential sources of contamination. For example, older well pumps are more likely to leak lubricating oils, which can seep into the well. Corroded and perforated casings can also result in well contamination. In areas where water is scarce, privately owned domestic wells supply water to the public, which results in high pumping rates and increases the rate of well contamination overtime (Mtoni et al., 2013).

The third factor is the proximity (or distance) of the well to a pit latrine. According to WHO (1997), septic tanks or pit latrines should be placed down gradient from the well. If latrines and septic tanks are poorly sited, they can lead to the contamination of drinking water sources (WHO 2017a). The distance from the well to septic systems has been reported to be at least 15 meters (Sphere Project, 2011; CDC, 2009; US EPA, 2002), although the actual distance will depend on the aquifer properties along with the rate of transport of microbiological and chemical contaminants in the aquifer (Graham & Polizzotto, 2013). Vinger et al. (2012) noted that wells are most likely to be contaminated where the separation distance between pit latrines and wells is less than 12 m. In Zanzibar, Tanzania, the study assessed seasonal microbial and chemical contamination in domestic wells, where 50% of the domestic wells were located less than 15 m from a septic tank or pit latrine. Only 5% of water samples tested from these wells met WHO drinking water guidelines (Vuai, 2012). Although the study did not clearly establish a correlation between microbial and chemical contaminants, the researchers concluded that the major sources of contamination were septic systems and pit latrines. The decision on the safe distance from the well to the septic tank is site specific and it varies depending on the soil type and aquifer properties.

Numerous studies have analyzed the impact of contamination in domestic wells by focusing on each factor individually. Most research focused on the proximity of the well to the source of contamination and used a simple correlation analysis. The objective of this study is to identify sources of drinking water contamination and analyze the relationship and association of water contamination with all three variables 1) the proximity (distance) of the well to a sanitation system, 2) age of the well, and 3) well depth. Herein, we test two main hypotheses. First, we hypothesized that positive bivariate correlations exist between nitrate, TDS, and *E. coli* levels; in other words, we propose that all three contaminants exist simultaneously because they originate

from the same sources. Also, we hypothesize that negative bivariate correlations exist between contaminants and the three well variables mentioned in drinking water from domestic wells in the study area. Second, we propose that meaningful linear relationships exist between contaminants and the three variables previously mentioned. The location of domestic wells near a sanitation system influences the level of contamination, especially in places (such as the study area) where the hydraulic conductivity of the aquifer material is high as this promotes the seepage of sewage into nearby wells.

#### 4.2 Methods

#### 4.2.1 Study Area Description

The study area is located on the East African coast in Dar es Salaam City, Tanzania. The country borders the Indian Ocean to the east (Figure 4-1). Dar es Salaam is the major seat of government institutions and the largest urban centre in Tanzania. It is highly populated (~6 M) with significant economic development. The climate of Dar es Salaam region is tropical with high temperatures (up to 35 °C) in November through February and cooler temperatures between May and September with annual average temperature about 22°C. There are two wet seasons in a year, short rains and long rains. Long and heavy rains occur from March to May, while short rain storms occur in October to December. The dry season is typically from June to September. The average monthly rainfall during the long rainy season is 253 mm and 117 mm during the short rainy season (Mtoni et al., 2012)

The study area is one of the densely populated, informal settlements in Dar es Salaam. The wards within the study area are Mabibo, Mburahati Makurumla, Kigogo, and parts of Mzimuni, Makuburi, Manzese and Ubungo (Figure 4-1). The population density of the study area is about

14,250/km<sup>2</sup> (United Republic of Tanzania, 2013). Residents are low-income wage earners who spend a significant portion of their income to purchase water for domestic use and for wastewater management (Ngasala et al., 2019). The houses are in close proximity to one another and none of the households are connected to the sewer system. Human waste from this area is discharged to "pit latrines", most of which have been poorly constructed with little or no regard for human health or the environment.



Figure 4-1. Location of the study area in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania showing 71 domestic wells that were used for water quality testing and statistical analyses. Our study area is located about 7 km from the Indian Ocean.

The Dar es Salaam City consists of mainly two aquifers: an upper unconfined sand aquifer and a lower semi-confined sand aquifer that are separated by a clay aquitard of between 10 and 50 m (Mtoni et al., 2012). Details of the aquifer systems and the hydrogeology of the region are provided in Appendix B in the Appendices. Figure 4-2 shows the hydrogeology of our study area. The uppermost water-bearing unit in the study area is the unconfined sand aquifer. The majority of the wells in our study area draw water from the upper and the lower semi-confined sand aquifers. The depth of the water table in the unconfined aquifer averages tens of meters below the land surface. The average static water table level in the 71 wells in the study area is about 15 m. The average yield of these wells is approximately 130,000 L/d. The average hydraulic conductivity (k) of the aquifer material was 0.14 m/d and the average drawdown at the well was 8.15 m during pumping. More than 90% of all wells in this study area are privately owned, but they are considered public wells because residents purchase water from the owners for their daily use. About 20% of the wells are shallow wells. Water is typically pumped from these wells between 5 to 6 hours per day.



Figure 4-2. Profile of the hydrogeological map showing types of aquifer and the water level in our study area (Mjemah et. al., 2009).

Water supply and sewerage system in Dar es salaam is managed by Dar es Salaam Water and Sewerage Corporation (DAWASCO). EWURA (2013) reports that 40.7% of the population obtains water directly from DAWASCO, however, being connected to a DAWASCO piped water system does not guarantee access to water supply. According to the Ministry of Water, 49% of water produced is lost due to old infrastructure and illegal water connections (URT, 2013), although Nganyanyuka et al. (2014) suggested that the figure may be closer to 80% with only 18% of the total number of households receiving this service. In Dar-es-Salaam, most people purchase water from either public standpipes, private boreholes, or fetch water from shallow open wells (Kjellén, 2006). Similarly, in our study area, the majority of the population relies on domestic wells, public standpipes and small scale vendors (Ngasala et al., 2018), although some residents access water from DAWASCO by making illegal connections into the distribution network (Nganyanyuka et al., 2014).

#### 4.3 Data Collection

Prior to data collection, we obtained permission from the Tanzania Commission for Science and Technology (COSTECH) in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania and from the Human Research Protection Program (IRB) at Michigan State University to conduct this investigation. Seventy-one domestic wells were located in the study area (as shown in Figure 4-1). The official well reports were collected from the Drilling and Dam Construction Agency (DDCA) in Dar es Salaam, with information such as the date the well was drilled and the depth of the well. The latitude and longitude for each well was recorded using a GPS unit. The distance from the well to the closest "pit latrine" was measured. Water samples were collected from each well during the dry season (June - August 2016). While much work has been done during the rainy season when the water table is higher, very few studies have been conducted during the dry season. Additionally, the several cholera outbreaks that occurred during the dry seasons in the two years prior to our study indicate the importance of understanding water quality issues in both the wet and dry seasons. The concentrations of nitrate, TDS and *E. coli* were determined in all water samples obtained from the wells. Details of the sampling and analysis are provided in Appendix C of the Appendices.

# 4.3.1 Radius of Influence

The radius of influence R of a pumping well is defined as the radial distance from the well, where the drawdown is a maximum, to a point where the drawdown is negligible. Although R is time-dependent, the Thiem equation (Bear, 1979) shows that the piezometric head, which depends on  $\ln(R)$ , is not very sensitive to errors in R. One of the most commonly used empirical equations for R, known as the Sichardt formula (equation 1 below), where the number 3000 is an empirical constant) is used to estimate R in the present work (Bear, 1979):

$$R = 3000 \, s_w \, \sqrt{k} \tag{1}$$

Where:

R =influence radius (m)

k = hydraulic conductivity (m/s)

 $s_w$  = drawdown in the borehole (m)

#### 4.3.2 Statistical Analysis

To understand the relationships between water contaminants and well characteristics, two statistical analysis methods were applied to water quality data 1) bivariate correlation to determine the empirical relationship between contaminants and the three explanatory variables (distance, depth, and age) and 2) multiple linear regression to confirm whether meaningful linear relationships exist between contaminants and the three well characteristics (distance, depth and age). IBM Statistical Package for the Social Science (SPSS) version 24.0 (IBM Corp, 2016) was

used for all analyses.

#### **Bivariate Correlation**

Pearson's r correlation was used to characterize linear relationships between contaminants: 1) *E. coli* and nitrate, 2) nitrate and TDS, and 3) *E. coli* and TDS. We then explored the linear relationships between contaminants and well characteristics. Based on results from Pearson's rcorrelation (bivariate correlation), we focused our investigation on the relationship between contaminants and well characteristics by using multiple linear regression models.

#### Multiple Linear Regression for Nitrate

With respect to the regressions, a general (Gaussian) linear model (Univariate General Linear Model) was fit to nitrate concentrations as a function of all three well characteristics. The multiple linear regressions (MLR) were used to evaluate nitrate concentrations due to the continuous nature of the dependent data (DeMaris, 2004; Cleophas & Zwinderman, 2012). All possible model parameter combinations were evaluated in order to identify the MLR models that best explained the data based on the adjusted R<sup>2</sup> and residual diagnostics. Three factors were used to select the best MLR model. First, we examined the collinearity of data. Collinearity happens when one predictor variable in a MLR model can be linearly predicted from the others. High collinearity between predictors indicates that variables share significant amount of information. This can be a problem for parameter estimation for any descriptive data set because it increases the variance of regression parameters which can cause the wrong identification of predictors (Dormann et al., 2013). Second, the Variance Inflation Factor (VIF) was used to measure the degree of multi-collinearity of the *i*-th independent variable with the other independent variables

(O'Brien, 2007). We tested whether any pairs of variables are correlated at all (negative or positive) such that they can be considered numerically redundant with one another (Zuur et al., 2010). Independent predictor variables with VIF < 3.0 were used for data analysis.

The second factor is adjusted  $R^2$ . This is a measure of the accuracy of linear models to identify the percentage of variance in the input(s). The closer the adjusted  $R^2$  is to 1.0, the more the variation in the dependent variable can be explained by the independent variables in the regression model (Kvålseth, 1985). Last, is the significance where *p*-values less than 0.05 indicated the significance of the relationship of that combination. Additionally, model residual patterns were used to visually confirm the single best fitting model to each dependent variable, including 1) histogram plots of raw residuals whereas the histogram should emulate the shape of a normal (bellcurved) distribution, 2) quantile plots of observed versus expected cumulative probability of raw residuals whereas the points need form a nearly linear pattern, and 3) standardized Pearson residuals model versus predicted values whereas residuals should be randomly spread above and below y = 0 without any funnel shape or linear patterns in residuals that could indicate heteroscedasticity. If the residuals have a stark funnel or linear pattern to them, then re-fitting the model was considered with a transformed y variable. This visual confirmation procedure was employed to identify any residual departures from model assumptions of normality and homoscedasticity.

#### Multiple Linear Regression for TDS and E. coli

In contrast to general linear model, a generalized linear model (univariate generalized models with a log-link function) was used to evaluate the remaining dependent variables, *E.coli* and TDS, which represent positive-definite discrete data (Molenberghs & Verbeke, 2006). As
mentioned above, all possible model parameter combinations were assessed to identify the best explanatory negative binomial models based on the adjusted R<sup>2</sup> and residual diagnostics. Three factors were used to select the best model. First, the omnibus test was used to assess whether or not the model fit (with x predictors) outperforms a null (intercept-only) model in terms of its explained variance about y. Overall, when significant, the fitted model better explains variability in y than an intercept-only model [i.e.  $y \sim 1$ ]) (Epps & Singleton, 1986; IBM Corp, 2011). Second, the Akaike's Information Criterion (AIC) score was used to report model quality in terms of interpolative prediction accuracy and model deviance (the log-likelihood) (Burnham & Anderson, 2002). This value was used to compare the 8 models (per y variable) to each other. The model with the lowest AIC (of its 7 other complements) is the best-fitting model to the data (Yamaoka et al., 1978) as the AIC penalizes models with a large number of explanatory variables. Third, p-values less than 0.05 indicated the significance of the relationship of that combination. Residual diagnostics with plots of histograms and standardized Pearson residuals were also used for generalized liner model. The same criteria were used for linear regression to determine the best-fit model. Equations 2 and 3 formulaically describe the general form of the regressions considered:

$$Y = \beta_0 + \beta_1 x_1 + a\beta_2 x_2 + \beta_3 x_3 + \varepsilon \tag{2}$$

$$Y = \beta_0 + a\beta_1(distance) + \beta_2(depth) + \beta_3(age) + \varepsilon$$
(3)

Where:

Y= Dependent variables (contaminant concentrations)  $\beta_{1-3}$  = Linear regression coefficients  $\beta_0$  = an intercept

 $x_{1-3}$  = Independent variables (well characteristics)

 $\varepsilon$  = Unexplained error variance

### 4.4 Results

In sparsely-populated areas and where pumping is infrequent or sporadic, subsurface contaminant plumes travel following the natural gradient flow direction. To determine if septic systems are located within the area influenced by a pumping well, we computed the radius of influence, R using the drawdown values measured at the wells with hydraulic conductivity values obtained from site-specific aquifer tests. The Sichardt formula used in our analysis produced the smallest R values compared to other empirical and semi-empirical equations described in Bear (1979) and estimates obtained from groundwater modeling results (e.g., Hatari Water, 2016). The median radius of influence in our study area was calculated to be 84.1 m. All "pit latrines" used to measure distance to domestic wells were therefore within the radius of influence (R). All wells were located within 35 m of a latrine. Considering the long periods (5 to 6 hours) of pumping and the proximity of wells to latrines, the direction of groundwater flow due to the natural hydraulic gradient is expected to have minimal effect on well contamination. As a result, natural groundwater flow direction was not considered as one of the metrics in our analysis and will be examined in a future groundwater modeling study, which is beyond the scope of the present chapter. Figure 4-3 shows one of the domestic wells in the study area located only 3 meters away from the "pit latrine". Although the well is 40 meters deep, the radius of influence was significantly larger than the distance to the "pit latrine".



Figure 4-3. Photograph of a domestic well in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. Herein, the well, though deep, is positioned only 3 m from the nearest "pit latrine", which may influence well water quality

## 4.4.1 Bivariate Correlations

Water samples collected from all 71 domestic wells were found to have nitrate levels between 0 - 45.7 mg/L as N with an average of 19.5 mg/L as N (Figure 4-4a). Nearly 58% of these samples were above the WHO drinking water guideline of 10 mg/L as N. TDS concentrations were between 71-1910 mg/L with an average of 882 mg/L (Figure 4-4b). The WHO guideline for TDS is 600 mg/L (WHO, 2017). More than 80% of these samples were contaminated with *E. coli* (Figure 4-4c).



Figure 4-4. Box plots showing the upper adjacent, median and lower adjacent values of nitrate (4-4a), TDS (4-4b) and *E. coli* (4-4c) for all domestic wells analyzed.

Figure 4-5 shows the spatial mapping of the nitrate, *E. coli*, and TDS concentrations in all wells in the study area. The wells located on the north and the west side of the study area had higher nitrate and *E. coli* contamination levels than those on the east and southern areas. TDS levels were a concern on the east and west side of the study area. The reason could be to the proximity of pit latrines in that area. Spatial maps for nitrate and *E. coli* correlate with scatter plots in Appendix D (Figures A4-10 and A4-11). TDS levels were highest on the southwest side of the study area, which is different compared to *E. coli* and nitrate. Distance did not appear to be a factor for high TDS levels as is shown in Figure A4-12 in Appendix D.



Figure 4-5. The spatial distribution of nitrate, *E. coli*, and TDS concentrations from the wells analyzed within the study area.

Pearson's r correlations from three combinations of contaminants: 1) *E. coli*- nitrate, 2) nitrate - TDS, and 3) *E. coli*-TDS revealed that nitrate and *E. coli* are positively correlated with an r of 0.806 (Table 4-1). Nitrate-TDS and *E. coli*-TDS combinations had r values of -0.082 and 0.058 respectively, suggesting that these parameters are not well correlated. Figures A4-1, A4-2 and A4-3 in Appendix D show the scatter plots from Pearson's r correlation between *E. coli*-nitrate, TDS-nitrate and TDS- *E. coli* with R<sup>2</sup> values of 0.651, 0.007 and 0.004 respectively for all 71 wells analyzed to support values in Table 4-1.

	Pearson Coefficient			
Independent variable	Nitrate	E. coli	TDS	
Nitrate	1.000			
E. coli	0.807*	1.000		
TDS	-0.082	0.058	1.000	

Table 4-1. Pearson's r values from linear correlation analysis of three combination of contaminants

\**Correlation is significant at p*<0.01 *level (2-tailed test)* 

Out of 71 wells analyzed, 26% were found to be less than 30 meters deep. The depth for both shallow wells and deep wells ranges between 2 and 120 meters with an average of 51.1 m (Figure 4-6a). The age of most wells at the time of sampling was between 1 year and 26 years, with an average of about 9 years, with one outlier that was 56 years old (Figure 4-6b). Field investigations found that 65% of domestic wells were located less than 15 m from septic tanks. The maximum distance was found to be 35 m and minimum was 3 m with an average of 13.4 m (Figure 4-6c).



domestic wells

Bivariate correlation of well distance, age, or depth with TDS showed no correlation. However, when paired with well age, there was a weak negative correlation with Pearson's r value of -0.156 (Table 4-2). Correlative comparisons showed that nitrate and distance between wells and pit latrines (hereafter, distance) and *E. coli* and distance exhibit strong negative correlations with Pearson's r coefficients -0.846 and -0.794, respectively. Bivariate combinations of well age for nitrate and *E. coli* (-0.047 and 0.025 respectively) showed no correlation but showed weak negative correlation for well depth with Pearson's r coefficients of 0.0391 and -0.472, respectively (as shown in Table 4-2).

Indonondont Variable	Pearson's r Coefficient			
independent variable	Nitrate	E. coli	TDS	
Age	-0.047	0.025	-0.156	
Depth	-0.391*	-0.472*	-0.093	
Distance	-0.846*	-0.794*	-0.007	

Table 4-2. Bivariate correlation of distance, age, or depth of the well with water quality

<sup>\*</sup>*Correlation is significant at* p < 0.01 *level (2-tailed test)* 

Figures A4-4, A4-5 and A4-6 in Appendix D show the scatter plots for Pearson's r correlation of *E. coli*, nitrate and TDS respectively with R<sup>2</sup> values of 0.153, 0.223 and 0.009 respectively for well depth. Figures A4-7, A4-8 and A4-9 in Appendix D show Pearson's r correlation for nitrate, *E. coli* and TDS with R<sup>2</sup> values of 0.002, 5.267E-40 and 0.024 respectively, for well age. Figures A4-10, A4-11 and A4-12 in Appendix D show the scatter plots for Pearson's r correlation of nitrate, *E. coli*, and TDS with distance from the well to a pit latrine with R<sup>2</sup> values of 0.715, 0.632 and 0.000548 respectively.

### 4.4.2 Univariate Multiple Linear Regressions

#### **General Linear Model**

Table 4-3 summarizes the multiple linear regression results for all 7 combinations of independent variable tested for nitrate. *Nitrate-depth* and *nitrate-age-depth* combinations showed significant differences with *p*-values of 0.001 and 0.000, respectively, as well as the best observed cumulative probability and expected cumulative probability plots (see Figures A4-13 through A4-30 in Appendix D). Water quality results for wells that were < 40 m deep had the highest levels of contamination compared to wells deeper than 40 m. When *nitrate-distance, nitrate-age-distance, nitrate-distance-depth, nitrate-age-distance-depth,* combinations were analyzed, they showed significant difference with *p*-value of 0.000 for all of them as well as the best histogram plot (see Figure 4-7 and Figures A4-22, A4-25, and A4-28 in Appendix D). Regression standardized residual plot for nitrate and distance, showed heteroscedasticity because the dependent variable is not equal across the values of independent variables (Figure 4-8) and the plot of observed cumulative probability and expected cumulative probability show nearly linear patterns, which indicates that the normal distribution is a good model for this data set (Figure 4-9). Since distance

is the common variable for all four combinations, it indicates that the proximity of the well to the pit latrine seems to explain the high nitrate levels in water samples. The figures showing histograms and scatter plots for depth and age can be found in Appendix D.

Independent	Adjusted	<i>p</i> -value			Variance Inflation	
Variable	R <sup>2</sup>	Age	Depth	Distance	Factors (VIF)	
Age	-0.012	0.700			1.000	
Depth	0.141		0.001*		1.000	
Distance	0.711			0.000*	1.000	
Age & Depth	0.154	0.152	0.000*		1.082	
Age & Distance	0.707	0.694		0.000*	1.001	
Distance &						
Depth	0.708		0.667	0.000*	1.230	
Age, Distance &						
Depth	0.705	0.579	0.560	0.000*	1.112, 1.265, 1.367	

 Table 4-3. General Linear Model analysis results from 7 combinations of independent variables of nitrate with four independent variables.

Note: Adjusted  $R^2$  and p-values in bold are significant at 0.05 level and VIF are all less than 3 which shows that distance and depth explains the high nitrate levels.



## **Regression Standardized Residual**

Figure 4-7. Plot of histogram of raw residual for nitrate and distance of well from "pit latrine"



Figure 4-8. Plot of Regression Standardized Residual for nitrate and distance



**Observed Cum Prob** 

Figure 4-9. Plot of Observed Cumulative Probability and Expected Cumulative Probability for nitrate and distance of well from the "pit latrine".

#### **Generalized Linear Model**

Table 4-4 summarizes the generalized linear model results for all 8 combinations of independent variable tested for *E. coli* and TDS. When the following combination were analyzed: *E. coli-distance*, *E. coli-age-distance*, *E. coli-distance-depth*, *E. coli-age-distance-depth*, results indicated a statistically significant correlation between *E. coli* and the independent variables (see Table 4-4 for *p*-values), as well as the best histogram of raw residual residuals (Figures 4-10(a) and A4-37, A4-39 and A4-41 in Appendix D) and regression standardized residuals (Figures 4-10(b) and A4-38, A4-40, and A4-42 in Appendix D). Figures 4-10 (a) shows a histogram of raw residuals for *E. coli* and distance which does not emulate the shape of a normal (bell-curved) distribution. The distribution is slightly multimodal instead of being normal. Figure 4-10(b) is a plot of standardized Pearson residuals for *E. coli* and distance showing dependent variable is equal across the values of independent variables which means there is no heteroscedasticity.

Since distance is the common variable for all four combinations, the proximity of the well to the "pit latrine" best explains the high level of *E. coli* in the water samples. As shown in Table 4-5, TDS results for all seven combination factors did not show the best model fit except for histogram of raw residual and regression standardized residual plots for *TDS-distance* and *TDS-distance-depth* (Figure 4-11(a) and (b) and Figures A4-51 and A4-52 in Appendix D). Figure 4-11 (a) is a plot of histogram of raw residuals for *TDS - distance* which doesn't emulate the shape of a Normal (bell-curved) distribution - it shows a slightly multimodal distribution instead of a normal distribution. Figure 4-11(b) is a plot of standardized Pearson residuals for *TDS-distance* showing no heteroscedasticity because the dependent variable is equal across the values of independent variables. Figures A4-43, A4-45, A4-47, A4-49, A4-53 in Appendix D show the histograms of raw residual and figures A4-44, A4-46, A4-48, A4-50, A4-54 show regression

standardized residual for TDS-age, TDS-depth, TDS-age-depth, TDS-age-distance, and TDS-age-depth-distance respectively.

1.000						
	ndependent Variable Omnibus Test	<i>p</i> -value				Akaike's
Independent Variable		Intercept	Age	Depth	Distance	Information Criterion (AIC)
Intercept (null)	-	0.000	-	-	-	-
Age	0.213	-	0.201	-	-	364
Depth	0.661	-	-	0.658	-	366
Distance	0.003*	-	-	-	0.002*	357*
Age & Depth	0.460	-	0.237	0.972	-	366
Age & Distance	0.013*	-	0.809	-	0.007*	359
Distance & Depth	0.012*	-	-	0.579	0.003*	360
Age, Distance & Depth	0.027*	-	0.616	0.484	0.005*	361

Table 4-4. Generalized linear model results from 8 combinations of independent variables with  $E_{coli}$ .

Note: Here in, omnibus test values show four independent variables fitted that are significantly different from a null model, p-values are significant at 0.05 level and Akaike's Information Criterion (AIC) scores report the quality of the model fit with distance showing the lowest AIC as the best-fitting model.

Table 4-5. Generalized linear model results from 8 combinations of independent variables with TDS.

		<i>p</i> -value				Akaike's
Independent Variable Omnibus Test	Intercept	Age	Depth	Distance	Information Criterion (AIC)	
Intercept (null)	-	0.000	-	-	-	-
Age	0.561	-	0.551	-	-	1093
Depth	0.733	-	-	0.733	-	1094
Distance	0.977	-	-	-	0.977	1094
Age & Depth	0.772	-	0.671	0.516	-	1095
Age & Distance	0.844	-	0.996	N/A	0.551	1095
Distance & Depth	0.931	-	-	0.706	0.872	1095
Age, Distance & Depth	0.899	-	0.493	0.616	0.792	1097

Note: Here in, omnibus test values show four independent variables fitted that are significantly different from a null model, p-values are significant at 0.05 level and Akaike's Information Criterion (AIC) scores report the quality of the model fit with age showing the lowest AIC in bold as the best-fitting model.



Figure 4-10. (a) Histogram of raw residuals for *E. coli* and distance, (b) plot of standardized Pearson residuals for *E. coli* and distance.



Figure 4-11. (a) Plot of histogram of raw residuals for TDS and distance, (b) Plot of standardized Pearson residuals for TDS and distance.

### 4.5 Discussion

*Bivariate correlations between contaminants* partially supported our first hypothesis that there is a common source of nitrate, TDS, and *E. coli* in the wells. Results showed a strong correlation between nitrate and *E. coli* but a very weak correlation between TDS with both nitrate and *E. coli*. Such positive strong correlations between nitrate and *E. coli* suggest that nitrate and *E. coli* might originate from the same source. As mentioned in the study area description, our study area is peri-urban and there are no agricultural activities or known waste dumping, therefore, the only source of nitrate and *E. coli* is expected to be from human waste. Residents reported that water from most of these wells has a salty taste, which is not surprising as the average TDS concentration from all 71 wells was 882 mg/L. As the study area is located within 7 km of the Indian Ocean, the source of the TDS could be the result of salt water intrusion rather than from sewage contamination.

*Bivariate correlation of distance* from the well to the septic tank and well depth with all three contaminants showed a negative correlation for nitrate and *E. coli* but no correlation from TDS, which suggests that TDS levels may not have any relationship with distance, age, or depth. No correlation was found from well age with any of the contaminants, which means, it is likely that there is no relationship between well age and contaminants, however, it is likely that there is a relationship with the existence of the contaminants and the location of the well and the well depth. Nearly 65% of the wells were located less than the recommended safe distance of 15 meters or more (CDC, 2009; US EPA, 2002). Strong correlations for both distance and depth and distance.

Univariate MLR analysis supports the second hypothesis by showing linear relationships between contaminants and two well characteristics: distance from a nearest pit latrine and the well depth. Results strongly explain the relationship between water quality and well characteristics because they support the bivariate correlation analysis. Our findings clearly demonstrate how poor sanitation practices contribute to groundwater contamination. Linear regression and generalized linear model analyses indicated that there is a relationship between nitrate and distance as well as *E. coli* and distance from a pit latrine and depth of the well. TDS did not show any relationship with any of the three variables. High nitrate levels and the presence of *E. coli* in domestic water sources indicate the possibility of contamination from nearby septic tanks and pit latrines. Water quality did not appear to be influenced by well age.

More than 90% of the wells sampled in this study operate as public wells by supplying water to the community. Additionally, hydraulic properties such as hydraulic conductivity of the soil, discontinuity of clay aquitard, and depth of groundwater table could affect significantly the levels of contaminants. Islam et al. (2016) made similar conclusions regarding their study in Bangladesh where they conclude that the minimum safe distance of a tube well from a pit latrine is a function of hydrogeological conditions and horizontal and vertical distances of the well from the latrine. Some studies have shown that certain soil types can be used to filter and decontaminate water during seepage. For example, in a study conducted in Maputaland, South Africa, Still and Nash (2002) found that fine sandy soil is an effective filter medium and that pit latrines pose a very small health risk as long as they are at least 20 m from the nearest septic system. In our study area, which is also in a fine to medium sand aquifer, the average distance measured from wells to latrines in is 10 m, with only 15% of wells located greater than 20 meters (Figure 4-6). Additionally, because these wells are used to supply water to the public with pumping times of up to 6 hours per day, it is unlikely that the soil type will effectively act as a filter medium. Our findings are supported by the work of Foppen and Schijven (2006), who demonstrated that even with the soil types that can act as filter media, bacteria can still be detected up to 10 meters from the source. With viruses, these distances can be expected to be even longer due to their smaller size compared to bacteria.

Our findings are similar to a study in Uganda that investigated the impact of the proximity of septic systems to spring wells on water quality. The researchers found that as the distance between spring wells and septic systems increased, a decrease in both coliform counts and nitrate concentration was observed (Elisante & Muzuka, 2016; Arwenyo et al., 2017). Arnade (1999) also found a statistically significant correlation between domestic well contamination and distance from the septic system in a research study she did in Palm Bay, Florida. In Zanzibar, Tanzania, researchers assessed microbial and chemical contamination of domestic wells and found that many of the wells were located near pit latrines, and 95% of sampled wells violated WHO drinking water guidelines (Vuai, 2012).

As shown in Figures A4-4 and A4-5 in Appendix D, the depth of the well is correlated with the level of contamination. The highest levels of contamination were detected in the shallow wells. This is similar to other areas such as rural Zimbabwe where (Dzwairo et al., 2006) found that water quality was impacted in shallow wells that were located up to 25 m from a pit latrine (Dzwairo et al., 2006). Based upon to our field observations, majority of shallow wells were unprotected from contamination by surface runoff. The infiltration of contaminated surface runoff into the well is one way in which shallow wells could become polluted. An example of this is through "flooding out", which is common method of emptying sewage especially for the above ground pits in unplanned areas of Dar es Salaam. Another method is the flow of contaminated groundwater from under pit latrines to wells (Jenkins et al., 2014). Although pit flooding can be a concern during the rainy season, because our study was conducted during the dry season, it is unlikely that this procedure would have resulted in the contamination of the wells. The most likely cause of contamination is from contaminated groundwater. Well water quality did not appear to be influenced by well age. Because the extent of pollutant travel was likely less in newer wells as compared to older wells, it was anticipated that contamination would be less extensive than in old wells.

#### 4.6 Recommendations

From our findings, we concluded that the contamination of domestic wells in the study area is due to the depth and proximity to septic tanks. The problem is exacerbated because the soil type in the study area is fine to medium sand (Mtoni et al., 2011). The age of the well did not appear to have any impact on the water quality but the depth of the wells impacted the quality of water, especially for shallow wells because most shallow depths are very close to the depth of the pit latrines. Detailed statistical analyses show a clear association between more than one well characteristic and water quality. Based on the findings of our analyses, we offer several recommendations to protect and improve local water quality in the study area as well as in similar low-income countries and communities.

#### 4.6.1 Sanitation

In Tanzania, standards for septic systems or latrine siting are not enforced, especially in urban and peri-urban areas. In slums or unplanned urban areas of Dar es Salaam, where the vast majority of residents are impoverished, it is a challenge to manage sewage due to poor road access and lack of sewerage systems. Septic tanks and pit latrines are poorly constructed, which leads to the contamination of domestic wells. Improved sanitation is desperately needed.

One potential improvement is the use of Container Based Sanitation (CBS), where toilets collect human excreta in sealable, removable containers (also called cartridges). These containers can then be collected and transported to a treatment system. An empty container is delivered to the latrine at the same time. CBS could help to minimize drinking water contamination in slums or unplanned urban areas where it is a challenge to manage sewage due to poor road access. CBS has several advantages including: it can be used in water-scarce areas since it requires a low amount

of water, is hygienically safe with proper handling, and is affordable (World Bank, 2019). As discussed previously, many of the pit latrines in the study area are unlined and lack soakaway pits. Improved construction of latrines would greatly improve public health. Proper training of local masons in the construction of raised, lined, and ventilated improved pit latrines is also recommended.

Sanitation could also be improved the through the development and enforcement of standards to the siting of latrines. This is especially true in peri-urban areas across sub-Saharan Africa. Results from our study and other similar studies (e.g., Graham & Polizzotto, 2013) show that site specific distances for the separation of domestic wells from pit latrines are necessary due to variations in hydrogeological conditions. Therefore, these standards for safe distance should be specific based on the depth of the proposed wells, the type of sanitation system, and the pumping rate and frequency of the wells.

Where latrines operate at greater than their design capacity, additional latrines should be constructed. However, in peri-urban areas where latrines and drinking water wells are already in close proximity, this poses significant challenges. However, as Ravenscroft et al. (2017) noted, fears of increased groundwater pollution should not constrain expanding latrine coverage. On the other hand, it is imperative that pit latrines are constructed properly and at a sufficient depth and distance from wells to minimize contamination.

#### 4.6.2 Water Supply

One of the most significant improvements to public health in the developed world has been well-operated public water supplies. The construction and operation of public water supplies will discourage the use of contaminated water from domestic wells for drinking water. However, the water must be affordable and accessible. The Tanzanian and city governments should invest in improving the water distribution system to meet the demand of the population of Dar es Salaam, eliminating illegal connections into the water distribution system, and charging those who tap illegally into the supply.

Until the water distribution system can be improved, water vendors and local residents will continue to supply the needs of the community. As such, it is imperative that methods be developed to improve service to residents. This could be accomplished through regular and random (unannounced) testing of both well water and vendor-provided water. The testing results need to be available to residents in an accessible and understandable format. Water quality apps or sensors for early warning of contamination, monitoring, and the operation of water supply systems, along with general notifications to the public could provide residents with critical information (Aisopou et al., 2012). The local and national governments could develop a certification system for vendors and local suppliers whose water meets all WHO guidelines.

Educational programs about sanitation and public health should be developed and available to residents and public health officials. This could include simple and affordable methods for testing and treating water to ensure that it meets the basic criteria for consumption. Where well water from domestic wells is not fit for human consumption, residents could be taught about its other uses, such as for toilet flushing, irrigation of forage crops, and domestic cleaning. Wash stations could be constructed at schools and children can be taught about the importance of proper handwashing. Capacity building for public health workers is also essential. As discussed in detail by Heller et al. (2007), this could include educational initiatives that are based on open resources available online. Educational efforts should include regular community members, local independent providers and water vendors, etc. As Ivey et al. (2006) noted, in developed countries,

community participation and advocacy, along with public education, can results in the protection of water sources and improved public health.

#### 4.6.3 Water Resources Management

Although much needs to be done in many low-income countries, learning about the proper management of water resources from developed countries can be highly beneficial (Wang & Yu, 2014). Stricter laws and governmental regulations that are enforced are critical to the proper management of water sources. In developed countries such as the United States, laws and regulations for managing and protecting water sources have resulted in significant improvements in air and water quality (Smail et al., 2012). Proper management of water sources require interdisciplinary approaches that can easily be available through involving people from different backgrounds including water users themselves, institutions, and even stakeholders in order to help identify problems and help solve different water issues.

Our study focused on a few key predictors, but we acknowledge that other factors may have impacted contamination, such as the size of the well opening, means of collecting water such as using buckets, seasonal variations in rainfall patterns, and spatially variable soil and aquifer material characteristics. Future work should focus on detailed groundwater modelling in the area to further understand and quantify the links between pit latrines, sanitation practices and groundwater contamination in a changing climate. Additionally, given the frequency of pit latrine use in our study area, future studies should focus on additional contaminants beyond standard indicators, monitor temporal changes in water quality parameters, climate change, and evaluate alternative technologies.

## 4.7 Acknowledgements

We are grateful to the Environmental Science and Policy Program at Michigan State University (ESPP-MSU) and the Miriam J. Kelley African Scholarship Grant Program at Michigan State University for financial support. Special thanks to the MSU Centre for Statistical Training and Consulting (CSTAT) for their assistance with our statistical analyses.

APPENDICES

#### **Appendix A: Sanitation Facilities in Dar-es-Salaam**

A typical septic system has two section chambers, the first tank is designed to allow the decomposition of organic matter in the sewage. The tank is usually sealed to prevent seepage of contaminants into the ground; the second tank is a soakaway pit, from which septic tank effluent is allowed to seep into the ground. The average depth of many septic tanks is 1.2 m (EPA, 2000). There are two types of pit latrines that are commonly used; traditional (unventilated) pit latrines and ventilated improved pit latrine (VIP). The recommended typical pit latrine for better sanitation practices is VIP. The average size of the pit is 1.3 m x 1.3 m x 2.5 m (L x W x D) with a PVC vent pipe to prevent odors and flyscreen to prevent flies and other disease-carrying insects from entering (Ryan & Mara, 1983; Mara, 1984). The pit is usually lined with cement mortar to prevent collapsing and seepage in groundwater. The unventilated pit latrines are usually single-pit that must be desludged every 3 - 10 years but too often left unlined and unprotected from collapsing or constructed with openings in it for infiltration to purposely allow seepage (Mara, 1984). The lack of ventilation results in odors and the proliferation of flies and other insects in the latrine.

#### **Appendix B: Hydrogeology and Domestic Wells**

The Dar es Salaam City consists of mainly two aquifers: an upper unconfined sand aquifer and a lower semi-confined sand aquifer that are separated by a clay aquitard of between 10 and 50 m (Mtoni et al., 2012). The unconfined aquifer consists of fine to medium sand that contains varying amounts of silt and clay and it extends down to the second clay layer towards the Indian Ocean (Mjemah et al., 2009). The lower semi-confined aquifer overlies the clay-bound sands and gravels with a thickness of several hundred meters (>740 m in borehole at Kimbiji) and the kaolinitic Pugu Sandstone (Mjema et al., 2009; Mjemah, 2007). Some of the boreholes are drilled into semi unconfined aquifer but not through its maximum thickness. The majority of the city overlays a sand aquifer and clay aquitard (Mjemah et. al., 2009). The main supply of groundwater in Dar es Salaam is from sand aquifers and it is referred to as the main producing zone.

Groundwater has been used as a source of water supply for the Dar-es- Salaam City since 1943 (Mjemah et. al., 2009). According to Baumann et. al. (2005), about 1000 boreholes (shallow and deep wells) are drilled every year. In Dar es Salaam, deep wells are usually drilled by the Drilling and Dam Construction Agency (DDCA) or by hiring a private geological survey contractor. Common drilling equipment used are either power augers or rotary drills with steel or plastic (PVC) casings depending on the type of soil in the area. Water from deep wells is usually extracted using installed submersible pump and stored in either underground or aboveground storage tanks. Water quality testing is performed right after drilling process is completed for chemical and microbiological contaminants. Shallow wells are usually hand dug by using simple tools, such as picks and short shovels or using augers. Water from shallow wells is collected by using a bucket, by a manually operated hand pump, or using jet pumps. There are three main types of shallow wells, those that are 1) protected with lids, 2) unprotected without lids, and 3) protected with installed handpump (Martínez-Santos et al., 2017). It is not common to perform water quality testing in shallow wells to avoid cost because they are usually dug by well owners themselves.

#### **Appendix C: Methodology for Sampling and Analysis**

Our water sampling techniques followed the U.S. EPA interactive sampling guide for drinking water system operators. Samples were collected by hand directly from the well tap from deep wells, and at the sampling depth of 6-12 inches below the water surface from shallow wells. Samples tested for nitrate were preserved with  $H_2SO_4$  to a pH. < 2 and cooled to 4°C at the time of collection. All samples were stored in the water cooler during transit to the laboratory and they were analyzed for TDS and nitrate in the lab within 24 hours and *E. coli* within 2 hours receipt at the laboratory. The nitrate concentration was determined by U. S. EPA Method 353.2 via automated colorimetry (US EPA, 2012). The TDS concentrations were quantified using Method 8163, the Gravimetric Method (Total Filterable Solids), which is adapted from Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater, Part 2540C (Hach, 2017). *E. coli* concentrations were assessed by membrane filtration using modified membrane-thermotolerant *Escherichia coli* Agar (Modified mTEC Method 1603) (EPA, 2009). Water testing and analysis was done at the Muhimbili University of Health and Allied Sciences (MUHAS) microbiology laboratory located 3-5 miles from the study area.

## **Appendix D: Statistical Analysis**



## **Bivariate Correlations**

Figure A4-1. Pearson's r correlation between nitrate concentration and E. coli count



Figure A4-2. Pearson's r correlation between nitrate and TDS concentration



Figure A4-3. Pearson's r correlation between TDS concentration and E. coli count



Figure A4-4. Pearson's r correlation between nitrate concentration and depth of the well



Figure A4-5. Pearson's r correlation between E. coli count and depth of the well



Figure A4-6. Pearson's r correlation between TDS concentration and depth of the well



Figure A4-7. Pearson's r correlation between nitrate concentration and age of the well



Figure A4-8. Pearson's r correlation between E. coli and age of the well



Figure A4-9. Pearson's *r* correlation between TDS concentration and age of the well



Figure A4-10. Pearson's r correlation between nitrate concentrations with distance from a domestic well to its nearest "pit latrine"



Figure A4-11. Pearson's r correlation between *E. coli* with distance from a domestic well to its nearest "pit latrine"



Figure A4-12. Pearson's r correlation between TDS concentrations with distance from a domestic well to its nearest "pit latrine"

# Univariate Multiple Linear Regressions

Independent Variable	Histogram of Raw Residuals	Standardized Pearson Residuals × Model Predicted Values	Raw Residual Sample × Theoretical-Quantiles	
Intercept (null)				
Age	Poor	Poor	Fair	
Depth	Poor	Poor	Good*	
Distance	Good*	Poor	Fair	
Age & Depth	Fair	Fair	Good*	
Age & Distance	Good*	Poor	Fair	
Distance & Depth	Good*	Poor	Fair	
Age, Distance &				
Depth	Good*	Poor	Fair	

Table A4-1. General Linear Model analysis results from 7 combinations of independent variables of nitrate that describe the graphs for *nitrate* 

 Table A4-2. General Linear Model analysis results from 7 combinations of independent variables of nitrate that describe the graphs for *E. coli*

Independent Variable	Histogra m of Raw Residuals	Standardized Pearson Residuals × Model Predicted Values
Intercept (null)		
Age		Poor
Depth	Poor	Good*
Distance	Poor	Good*
Age & Depth	Good*	Poor
Age & Distance	Good*	Poor
Distance & Depth	Good*	Fair
Age, Distance & Depth	Good*	Poor

Independent Variable	Histogram of Raw Residuals	Standardized Pearson Residuals × Model Predicted Values
Intercept (null)		
Age	Fair	Poor
Depth	Good*	Good*
Distance	Good*	Good*
Age & Depth	Good*	Poor
Age & Distance	Good* His	stogram <sup>Poor</sup>
Distance & Depth	Good*	Good*
Age, Distance & Depth	Good*	Poor

Table A4-3. General Linear Model analysis results from 7 combinations of independent variables of nitrate that describe the graphs for Total Dissolved Solids (TDS)



Figure A4-13. Plot of histogram of raw residual for *nitrate and age*, herein, the figure does not emulate the shape of a Normal (bell-curved) distribution



Figure A4-14. Plot of Observed Cumulative Probability and Expected Cumulative Probability for *nitrate and age*, the points here partly form linear pattern, which indicates normal distribution is a poor model for this data set



Figure A4-15. Plot of Regression Standardized Residual for *nitrate and age* which shows some heteroscedasticity because dependent variable is not equal across the values of independent variables

Histogram



Figure A4-16. Plot of histogram of raw residual for *nitrate and depth*, herein, the figure does not emulate the shape of a Normal (bell-curved) distribution



Figure A4-17. Plot of Observed Cumulative Probability and Expected Cumulative Probability for *nitrate and depth*, the points here form linear pattern, which indicates normal distribution is a good model for this data set
# Scatterplot



Regression Standardizers Regelanted Value

Figure A4-18. Plot of Regression Standardized Residual for nitrate and depth which shows some heteroscedasticity because dependent variable is not equal across the values of independent variables



**Regression Standardized Residual** 

Figure A4-19. Plot of histogram of raw residual for *nitrate with age and depth*, herein, the figure somehow emulates the shape of a Normal (bell-curved) distribution



Figure A4-20. Plot of Observed Cumulative Probability and Expected Cumulative Probability for *nitrate with age and depth*, the points here form linear pattern, which indicates normal distribution is a good model for this data set



**Regression Standardized Predicted Value** 

Figure A4-21. Plot of Regression Standardized Residual for *nitrate with age and depth* which shows no heteroscedasticity because dependent variable is equal across the values of independent variables

Histogram



Figure A4-22. Plot of histogram of raw residual for nitrate with age and distance, herein, the figure emulates the shape of a Normal (bell-curved) distribution



# **Observed Cum Prob**

Figure A4-23. Plot of Observed Cumulative Probability and Expected Cumulative Probability for *nitrate with age and distance*, the points here partly form linear pattern, which indicates normal distribution is a fair model for this data set

# Scatterplot



Figure A4-24. Plot of Regression Standardized Residual for *nitrate with age and distance* which shows some heteroscedasticity because dependent variable is not equal across the values of independent variables



**Regression Standardized Residual** 

Figure A4-25. Plot of histogram of raw residual for *nitrate with distance and depth*, herein, the figure emulates the shape of a Normal (bell-curved) distribution



Figure A4-26. Plot of Observed Cumulative Probability and Expected Cumulative Probability for *nitrate with distance and depth*, the points here partly form linear pattern, which indicates poor normal distribution is a fair model for this data set



**Regression Standardized Predicted Value** 

Figure A4-27. Plot of Regression Standardized Residual for *nitrate with distance and depth* which shows some heteroscedasticity because dependent variable is not equal across the values of independent variables

Histogram



Figure A4-28. Plot of histogram of raw residual for *nitrate with distance, depth and age*, herein, the figure emulates the shape of a Normal (bell-curved) distribution



# **Observed Cum Prob**

Figure A4-29. Plot of Observed Cumulative Probability and Expected Cumulative Probability for *nitrate with distance, depth and age* the points here partly form linear pattern, which indicates poor normal distribution is a fair model for this data set

#### Scatterplot



Figure A4-30. Plot of Regression Standardized Residual for *nitrate with distance, depth and age* which shows some heteroscedasticity because dependent variable is not equal across the values of independent variables



Figure A4-31. Plot of histogram of raw residual for *E. coli and age*, herein, the figure doesn't emulate the shape of a Normal (bell-curved) distribution



Figure A4-32. Plot of Regression Standardized Residual for *E. coli and age* which shows some heteroscedasticity because dependent variable is not equal across the values of independent variables



Figure A4-33. Plot of histogram of raw residuals for *E. coli and depth* which doesn't emulate the shape of a Normal (bell-curved) distribution, it shows slight multimodal instead of normal distribution



Figure A4-34. Plot of Regression Standardized Residual for *E. coli and depth* which shows no heteroscedasticity because dependent variable is equal across the values of independent variables



Figure A4-35. Plot of histogram of raw residuals for *E. coli with age and depth* which doesn't emulate the shape of a Normal (bell-curved) distribution, it shows slight multimodal instead of normal distribution



Figure A4-36. Plot of Regression Standardized Residual for *E. coli with age and depth* which shows some heteroscedasticity because dependent variable is not equal across the values of independent variables



Figure A4-37. Plot of histogram of raw residuals for *E. coli with age and distance* which emulates the shape of a Normal (bell-curved) distribution



Figure A4-38. Plot of Regression Standardized Residual for *E. coli with age and distance* which shows some heteroscedasticity because dependent variable is not equal across the values of independent variables



Figure A4-39. Plot of histogram of raw residuals for *E. coli with depth and distance* which emulates the shape of a Normal (bell-curved) distribution



Figure A4-40. Plot of Regression Standardized Residual for *E. coli with depth and distance* which shows some heteroscedasticity because dependent variable is not equal across the values of independent variables



Figure A4-41. Plot of histogram of raw residuals for *E. coli with age, depth and distance* which doesn't emulate the shape of a Normal (bell-curved) distribution, it shows right skewed distribution



Figure A4-42. Plot of Regression Standardized Residual for *E. coli with distance, depth and age* which shows some heteroscedasticity because dependent variable is not equal across the values of independent variables



Figure A4-43. Plot of histogram of raw residuals for *TDS and age* which doesn't emulate the shape of a Normal (bell-curved) distribution, it shows slight multimodal instead of normal distribution



Figure A4-44. Plot of Regression Standardized Residual for *TDS and age* which shows some heteroscedasticity because dependent variable is not equal across the values of independent variables



Figure A4-45. Plot of histogram of raw residuals for *TDS and depth* which doesn't emulate the shape of a Normal (bell-curved) distribution, it shows slight multimodal instead of normal distribution



Figure A4-46. Plot of Regression Standardized Residual for *TDS and depth* which shows some heteroscedasticity because dependent variable is not equal across the values of independent variables



Figure A4-47. Plot of histogram of raw residuals for *TDS with age and depth* which doesn't emulate the shape of a Normal (bell-curved) distribution, it shows slight multimodal instead of normal distribution



Figure A4-48. Plot of Regression Standardized Residual for *TDS with age and depth* which shows some heteroscedasticity because dependent variable is not equal across the values of independent variables



Figure A4-49. Plot of histogram of raw residuals for *TDS with age and distance* which doesn't emulate the shape of a Normal (bell-curved) distribution, it shows slight multimodal instead of normal distribution



Figure A4-50. Plot of Regression Standardized Residual for *TDS with age and distance* which shows some heteroscedasticity because dependent variable is not equal across the values of independent variables



Figure A4-51. Plot of histogram of raw residuals for TDS with depth and distance



Figure A4-52. Plot of Regression Standardized Residual for *TDS with depth and distance* which shows no heteroscedasticity because dependent variable is equal across the values of independent variables



Figure A4-53. Plot of histogram of raw residuals for TDS with age, depth and distance



Figure A4-54. Plot of Regression Standardized Residual for *TDS with age, depth and distance* which shows no heteroscedasticity because dependent variable is equal across the values of independent variables

REFERENCES

# REFERENCES

- 1. Aisopou, A., Stoianov, I., & Graham, N. J. (2012). In-pipe water quality monitoring in water supply systems under steady and unsteady state flow conditions: A quantitative assessment. *Water Research* 46 (1): 235–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2011.10.058.
- 2. Arnade, L. J. (1999). Seasonal correlation of well contamination and septic tank distance. *Groundwater*, 37 (6): 920–23. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-6584.1999.tb01191.x.
- 3. Arwenyo, B., Wasswa, J., Nyeko, M., & Kasozi, N. (2017). The impact of septic systems density and nearness to spring water points, on water quality. *African Journal of Environmental Science and Technology*, 11(1), 11–18. https://doi.org/10.5897/AJEST2016.2216.
- 4. Baumann, E., Ball, P., & Beyene, A. (2005). Rationalization of Drilling Operations in Tanzania: Review of the Borehole Drilling Sector in Tanzania. Retrieved from https://sswm.info/sites/default/files/reference\_attachments.
- 5. Burnham, K. P., & Anderson, D. R. (2002). Model Selection and Multimodel Inference— A Practical Information-Theoretic Approach. Retrieved from //www.springer.com/us/book/9780387953649.
- 6. CDC. (2009). Well siting & potential contaminants. www.cdc.gov. 2009. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/healthywater/drinking/private/wells/location.html.
- 7. Cleophas, T. J., & Zwinderman, A. H. (2012). Statistics applied to clinical studies. *Springer Science & Business Media*.
- 8. DeMaris, A. (2004). Regression With Social Data: Modeling Continuous and Limited Response Variables. *John Wiley & Sons*.
- Dormann, C. F., Elith, J., Bacher, S., Buchmann, C., Carl, G., Carré, G., García Marquéz, J. R., Gruber, B., Lafourcade, B., Leitão, P. J., Münkemüller, T., McClean, C., Osborne, P. E., Reineking, B., Schröder, B., Skidmore, A. K., Zurell D., & Lautenbach, S. (2013). Collinearity: A review of methods to deal with it and a simulation study evaluating their performance. *Ecography*, 36(1), 27–46. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0587.2012.07348.x.
- 10. Dzwairo, B., Love, D., & Hoko, Z. (2006). Assessment of the impacts of pit latrines on ground. *Physics and Chemistry of the Earth*, 31(2006), 779–788. https://doi.org/10.1016/-j.pce.2006.08.031.
- 11. Elisante, E., & Muzuka, A. N. N. (2016). Sources and seasonal variation of coliform bacteria abundance in groundwater around the slopes of Mount Meru, Arusha, Tanzania. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 188(7), 395. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-

016-5384-2.

- 12. EPA. (2000). Code of Practice: Wastewater Treatment and Disposal Systems Serving Single Houses.
- EPA. (2009). Method 1603: Escherichia coli (*E. coli*) in Water by Membrane Filtration Using Modified membrane-Thermotolerant Escherichia coli Agar (Modified mTEC). Retrieved from https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-08/documents/method\_1603\_2009.pdf.
- 14. Epps, T. W., & Singleton, K. J. (1986). An omnibus test for the two-sample problem using the empirical characteristic function. *Journal of Statistical Computation and Simulation*, 26(3–4), 177–203. https://doi.org/10.1080/00949658608810963.
- 15. EWURA. (2013). Water Utilities Performance Report 2012/2013. Tanzania. Retrieved from https://www.ewura.go.tz/?page\_id=225.
- 16. Foppen, J. W. A., & Schijven, J. F. (2006). Evaluation of data from the literature on the transport and survival of Escherichia coli and thermotolerant coliforms in aquifers under saturated conditions. *Water Research*, 40(3), 401–426. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2005.11.018.
- 17. Graham, J. P., & Polizzotto, M. L. (2013). Pit latrines and their impacts on groundwater quality: A systematic review. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 121(5), 521. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1206028.
- 18. HACH. (2017). Gravimetric Method (Total Filterable Solids). HACH COMPANY.
- 19. Hatari Water. (2016). Water Resources Modelling. Retrieved from http://hatariwater.tumblr.- com/?og=1.
- 20. Heller, R.F., Chongsuvivatwong, V., Hailegeorgios, S., Dada, J., Torun, P. Madhok, R, & Sandars, J. (2007). Capacity-building for public health. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 85(12), 901–980. Retrieved from https://www.who.int/bulletin/volumes/85/12/07-044388/en/.
- 21. IBM Corp. (2011). IBM Knowledge Center Omnibus Test. Retrieved from https://www. ibm.com/support/knowledgecenter/en/SSLVMB\_20.0.0/com.ibm.spss.statistics.cs/genlin\_ships\_omnibus.htm.
- 22. IBM Corp. (2016). IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 24.0. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp.
- Islam, M. S., Mahmud, Z. H., Islam, M. S., Saha, G. C., Zahid, A., Zulfiquar Ali, A.H.M., Hassan, O., Islam, K., Jahan, H., Hossain, Y., Hasan, M. M., Cairneross, S., Carter, R., Luby, S. P., Cravioto, A., Endtz, H., Faruque, S.M., & John D. Clemens, J. D. (2016). Safe

distances between groundwater-based water wells and pit latrines at different hydrogeological conditions in the Ganges Atrai floodplains of Bangladesh. *Journal of Health, Population, and Nutrition*, 35. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41043-016-0063-z.

- 24. Ivey, J. L., de Loë, R., Kreutzwiser, R., & Ferreyra, C. (2006). An institutional perspective on local capacity for source water protection. *Geoforum*, 37(6), 944–957. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoforum.2006.05.001.
- 25. Jenkins, M. W., Cumming, O., Scott, B., & Cairncross, S. (2014). Beyond 'improved' towards 'safe and sustainable' urban sanitation: Assessing the design, management and functionality of sanitation in poor communities of Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. *Journal of Water, Sanitation and Hygiene for Development*, 4(1), 131–141. https://doi.org/10.2166/washdev.2013.180.
- 26. Kjellén. (2006). From Public Pipes to Private Hands: Water Access and Distribution in Dar Es Salaam, Tanzania. Department of Human Geography, Stockholm University.
- 27. Kvålseth, T. O. (1985). Cautionary Note about R<sup>2</sup>. *The American Statistician*, 39(4), 279–285. https://doi.org/10.1080/00031305.1985.10479448.
- 28. Mara, D. D. (1984). The design of ventilated improved pit latrines. International Bank for Reconstruction and Development. *The World Bank*.
- 29. Mjemah, I. C., Camp, M. V., & Walraevens, K. (2009). Groundwater exploitation and hydraulic parameter estimation for a Quaternary aquifer in Dar-es-Salaam Tanzania. *Journal of African Earth Sciences*, 55(3), 134–146. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jafrearsci.2009.03.009.
- 30. Mjemah, I. C. (2007). Hydrogeological and Hydrogeochemical Investigation of a Coastal aquifer in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. In PhD thesis. *Ghent University, Belgium*.
- 31. Mkude, I., & Saria, J. (2012). Water Quality in Selected Shallow Wells in Dar es Salaam. *Huria Journal*, XI, 13–24.
- 32. Molenberghs, G., & Verbeke, G. (2006). Models for Discrete Longitudinal Data. *Springer Science & Business Media*.
- 33. Mtoni, Y. E., Mjemah, I., Msindai, K., Van Camp, M., & Walraevens, K. (2012). Saltwater intrusion in the Quaternary aquifer of the Dar es Salaam region, Tanzania. *Geologica Belgica*, 15(1–2), 16–25.
- 34. Mtoni, Y., Mjemah, I. C., Camp, M. V., & Walraevens, K. (2011). Enhancing protection of Dar es Salaam quaternary aquifer: Groundwater recharge assessment. *Environmental Earth Sciences. Advances in the Research of Aquatic Environment* (pp. 299–306). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-19902-8\_35.

- Mtoni, Y., Mjemah, I. C., Bakundukize, C., Van Camp, M., Martens, K., & Walraevens, K. (2013). Saltwater intrusion and nitrate pollution in the coastal aquifer of Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. *Environmental Earth Sciences*, 70(3), 1091–1111. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12665-012-2197-7.
- 36. Nganyanyuka, K., Martinez, J., Wesselink, A., Lungo, J. H., & Georgiadou, Y. (2014). Accessing water services in Dar es Salaam: Are we counting what counts? *Habitat International*, 44, 358–366. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.habitatint.2014.07.003.
- 37. Ngasala, T. M., Masten, S. J., & Phanikumar, M. S. (2019). Impact of domestic wells and hydrogeologic setting on water quality in peri-urban Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. *Science of The Total Environment*, 686, 1238–1250. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.05.202.
- 38. O'brien, R. M. (2007). A caution regarding rules of thumb for variance inflation factors. *Quality & Quantity*, 41(5), 673–690. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-006-9018-6.
- 39. Orner, N. (2018). Pit Toilets (Latrines). Text. Global Water Pathogen Project. Retrieved from http://www.waterpathogens.org/book/pit-toilets-latrines.
- Ravenscroft, P., Mahmud, Z.H., M. Islam, M. S., Hossain, A.K.M.Z., Zahid, A., Saha, G.C., Zulfiquar Ali, A.H.M., Islam, K., Cairncross, S., Clemens, J. D, Sirajul Islam, M. (2017). The public health significance of latrines discharging to groundwater used for drinking. *Water Research*, 124, 192–201. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2017.07.049.
- 41. Richards, R. P., Baker, D. B., Creamer, N. L., Kramer, J. W., Ewing, D. E., Merryfield, B. J., & Wallrabenstein, L. K. (1996). Well water quality, well vulnerability, and agricultural contamination in the Midwestern United States. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 25(3), 389–402. https://doi.org/10.2134/jeq1996.00472425002500030002x.
- 42. Ryan, B. A., & Mara, D. D. (1983). Ventilated improved pit latrines: Vent Pipe Dign Guidelines. *United Nations Development Programme and World Bank.*
- 43. Smail, E. A., Webb, E. A., Franks, R. P., Bruland, K. W., & Sañudo-Wilhelmy, S. A. (2012). Status of metal contamination in surface waters of the coastal ocean off Los Angeles, California since the implementation of the Clean Water Act. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 46(8), 4304–4311. https://doi.org/10.1021/es2023913.
- 44. Sorensen, J.P.R., Sadhu, A., Sampath, G, Sugden, S, Gupta, S.D., Lapworth, D.J., Marchant, B.P., & Pedley, S. (2016). Are sanitation interventions a threat to drinking water supplies in rural India? An application of tryptophan-like fluorescence. *Water Research*, 88, 923–932. https://- doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2015.11.006.
- 45. Sphere Project, ed. (2011). Humanitarian charter and minimum standards in humanitarian response. Third edition. Sphere Handbook. Rugby, Great Britain: *Practical Action Publishing*.

- 46. Still, D. A., & Nash, S. R. (2002). Groundwater contamination due to pit latrines located in a sandy aquifer: A case study from Maputoland. *Water Institute of Southern Africa*.
- 47. United Republic of Tanzania. (2013). Population and housing census: Population distribution by administrative areas. *National Bureau of Statistics Ministry of Finance Dar es Salaam*.
- 48. URT. (2013). Water Sector Development Programme. Retrieved from http://www.tzdpg.or.tz /fileadmin/documents/dpg\_internal/dpg\_working\_groups\_clusters/cluster\_2/water/WSDP /Reviews/2013\_Water\_Sector\_Status\_Report.pdf.
- 49. US EPA. (2002). Drinking water from household wells. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency.
- 50. US EPA. (2012). Total Solids | Monitoring & Assessment | US EPA. Retrieved from https://archive.epa.gov/water/archive/web/html/vms58.html.
- 51. US EPA. (1980). Wastewater treatment and disposal systems. Office of Research and Development Municipal Environmental Research Laboratory.
- 52. Vuai, S. (2012). Microbial and nutrient contamination of domestic well in Urban-West Region, Zanzibar, Tanzania. *Air & Water Borne Diseases*, 1(1). https://doi.org/10.4172/awbd.1000102.
- 53. Wang, H. & Yu, X. (2014). A review of the protection of sources of drinking water in China. *Natural Resources Forum*, 38 (2), 99–108. https://doi.org/10.1111/14778947.12036.
- 54. WHO. (1992). A Guide to the Development of on-Site Sanitation. *Geneva: WHO*.
- 55. WHO. (2017). Guidelines for Drinking-Water Quality. *WHO*.
- 56. World Bank. (2019). Evaluating the potential of container-based sanitation. Retrieved from http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/299041550179057693/pdf/134664-WP-P165603-W.pdf.
- Yamaoka, K., Nakagawa, T., & Uno, T. (1978). Application of Akaike's information criterion (AIC) in the evaluation of linear pharmacokinetic equations. *Journal of Pharmacokinetics and Biopharmaceutics*, 6(2), 165-175.https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01117450.
- 58. Zuur, A. F., Ieno, E. N., & Elphick, C. S. (2010). A protocol for data exploration to avoid common statistical problems. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 1(1), 3–14. https://doi.org/-10.1111/j.2041-210X.2009.00001.x.

# CHAPTER 5: Identifying Safe Sanitation Practices in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania using Groundwater Transport Modeling and Water Quality Monitoring Data

#### Abstract

Groundwater flow and transport simulations were carried out in the peri-urban areas of Dar es Salaam, Tanzania to determine the association between simulated tracer concentrations and observed levels of contaminants in order to identify the site-specific minimum distance(s) for pit latrines to prevent or minimize contamination based on the soil types and aquifer properties in the region. Bivariate correlation and linear regression models were used to find the associations and relationship between 1) tracer and contaminants (nitrate, *E. coli* and total dissolved solids) and 2) tracer with distance measured from the well to the pit latrines. The flow model was successfully calibrated with an R<sup>2</sup> value of 0.95 between observed and simulated heads. The results showed a strong positive correlation between the tracer with nitrate and *E. coli* with Pearson coefficient (*r*) values of 0.80 and 0.79, respectively, but weak correlation with TDS with an r value of 0.23. As expected, a strong correlation between tracer with distance was found with r value of 0.84. Domestic wells that met WHO guidelines were found to be located between 32m and 35 m from the pit latrines. In conclusion, based on the soil types and aquifer properties of our study area, the minimum recommended distance that the well can be placed to minimize contamination is ~33 m. However, in the peri-urban area studied, this distance exceeded the distance between a well and the closest pit latrine for 68% of the wells. The challenge in urban overpopulated areas of developing countries is to develop strategies to protect the public when wells are closer to pit latrines than the distances determined to be safe. Integrated modeling of multiple contaminants of interest from a public health point of view may call for large datasets and detailed site characterization which is expensive. Linking simulated tracer with observed contaminant levels

may provide a reliable alternative approach for assessing human health risks associated with groundwater contamination.

*Keywords:* Developing country, domestic wells, groundwater flow, minimum distance, MODFLOW, MT3DMS, pit latrine

#### **5.1 Introduction**

Contamination of groundwater as a result of poor sanitation is one of the major threats to the safety of drinking water resources throughout the world. People are affected greatly by water scarcity mainly due to unpredictable rainfall patterns, prolonged dry seasons, and limited options to access water caused by climate change and human activities (Haddeland et al., 2014; US EPA, 2017). The urban areas of many developing countries are at high risk due to large population growth rates, increased urbanization, and abject poverty, along with poor sanitation and inadequate water supply, which together result in the rapid spread of waterborne diseases (WHO, 1992). As the population in developing countries continues to increase, it is expected that the global reliance on groundwater and pit latrines will increase (Graham & Polizzotto, 2013; Ravenscroft et al., 2017).

In densely populated cities such as Dar es Salaam where this study was conducted, the main source of city water supply has been the Ruvu River. However, in recent years, the water supply from the Ruvu River has been unreliable and the city is unable to supply water to all residents due to the decrease in water levels (Mato, 2002; Ngoye & Machiwa, 2004). More than 50% of residents rely heavily on groundwater for their daily use (Mtoni et al., 2013). It is estimated that annual withdrawals from the aquifer exceeds 69 million water m<sup>3</sup> (Mtoni et al., 2011). Over-extraction of groundwater often leads to devastating effects, including seawater intrusion into freshwater aquifers and contamination from improper sewage. Poorly constructed septic tanks and pit latrines can lead to groundwater contamination with contaminants, including nitrate ( $NO_3^-$ ), *Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*), viruses, and total dissolved solids (TDS) (e.g., see Chen et al., 2016).

Groundwater modeling (Anderson & Woessner, 1992) is a useful tool to understand how population growth and climate change are likely to impact both groundwater quality and quantity.

Contaminant transport modeling can be used to understand the spatiotemporal dynamics of contaminant plumes in real-life situations, including from landfills, hazardous waste sites, and contaminated aquifers (Zheng & Bennett, 2002) and to assess risks to human health. The conceptual model can be used to provide a qualitative framework for designing a numerical model and represent a groundwater system based on what is known about the modeled area. In the constructed model, as shown in Figure 5-1, proposed features such as pumping wells, injection wells and pit latrines can be included. For areas where groundwater has been contaminated, these models can be used to estimate the time required for the plume to reach water source and to determine the minimum distance a drinking water well can be placed from a pit latrine.



Figure 5-1. Conceptual model of contaminant transport in groundwater with  $C_0$  representing the initial source concentration of the contaminant, Z is the soil layer thickness, and Y as the width of the modeling area.

This study was conducted in one of the peri-urban areas of Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. As water is scarce, residents of this area rely on multiple water sources for household consumption

(Ngasala et al., 2018). One of the most common water sources used is domestic wells, often privately or publicly owned, from which people can purchase water. The average density of wells in this area is 4.6 wells/km<sup>2</sup>. Residents are low-income earners who spend a significant portion (> 50%) of their income to purchase water for domestic use and for wastewater management (Ngasala et al., 2018). While the cost of purchasing water from private wells is high, residents often have few options other than this or purchasing water from street vendors. Water from most domestic wells is contaminated by household sewage due to the close proximity of the wells to poorly constructed septic tanks and pit latrines (Ngasala et al., 2019)

About 90% of the homes in this area use unimproved pit latrines, which are not constructed to meet the definition of a properly constructed pit latrine. Due to lack of access to both a sewer system and roads, more than 50% of residents have to manually empty their pit latrines. Typically these pits are emptied every 1 to 24 months, whereas the typical time to fill a pit latrine is between 3 and 5 years (Orner, 2018). The soil type in this area is sandy clay, which has a high soil permeability (Mtoni et al., 2012). The majority of the study area has a water table that is ~5 m below ground surface, which causes the poorly constructed pit latrines to fill with groundwater especially during the rainy season (Mkude & Saria, 2012).

Ngasala et al. (2018) linked the cross contamination of domestic water with mixing during storage practices at the point of collection and at the point use in this area. The study focused on the water quality analysis of three different water sources used by the community (city water, domestic wells and water vendors) and found out that domestic wells have the highest level of contamination. Ngasala et al. (2019) used statistical analyses to further analyze the impact of these wells and hydrogeologic setting on water quality and examined three possible factors that can cause well contamination - well depth, age of the well, and distance from the well to a pit latrine.

They found that distance had the highest impact to the quality of the wells. Additionally, results revealed that more than 65% of the wells were located less than the recommended safe distance of 15 m (CDC, 2009; Sphere Project, 2011; US EPA, 2002), although Graham & Polizzotto (2013) suggested that the actual distance for the well to be placed depends on the aquifer properties along with the rate of transport of microbiological and chemical contaminants in the aquifer.

Several researchers came up with various recommended well setback distances ranging from 15-30 m (see Table A5-1 in Appendix). Although there is widespread use of groundwater modeling in hydrologic sciences, especially in developed countries, their use is less common in many developing countries (Wilcox et al., 2010). Very few studies have used ground water models to estimate the recommended minimum distance based on specific site conditions such as soil type and aquifer properties in the context of urban areas such as Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. If multiple contaminants such as bacteria, viruses, nutrients, and suspended solids relevant to human health are involved, a holistic assessment calls for multi-component groundwater transport modeling. An additional complicating factor is the need for integrated modeling across multiple domains to include relevant processes such as runoff, infiltration, and transport in the vadose zone before contamination moves to the fully-saturated groundwater domain. While significant progress has been made in the development of subsurface and integrated transport models (e.g., Bradford et al., 2014; Dwivedi et al., 2016; Niu & Phanikumar, 2015), such efforts tend to be expensive due to the need for large datasets, computational times and detailed site characterization that often precedes the modeling effort. A novel aspect of the present work is that it combines groundwater flow and tracer transport modeling with water quality monitoring data to identify setback distances and the approach can be used within a risk assessment framework to identify best practices for future developments in the region (e.g., to identify setback distances for an acceptable level of risk). By linking simulated tracer concentrations with distance from pit latrines and developing relations between observed water quality and simulated tracer, transport modeling can be simplified significantly while still relying on local conditions such as soils and geology to drive decisions.

This work is an attempt to assess the existing regulations for domestic wells and pit latrines or septic systems. Specifically, we have used a groundwater model to the estimate site-specific minimum recommended distance that a well can be located to prevent or minimize contamination by combining tracer transport modeling with water quality data. The ultimate goal is to develop additional drinking water protection strategies for unsewered highly populated peri-urban area of Dar es Salaam. We have expanded upon the work of Ngasala et al. (2019), by using a numerical tracer that represents contaminant transport and determined its association with distance and contaminant levels (nitrate, *E. coli* and TDS). In this study, two main hypotheses are tested, first, we hypothesized that there is a strong correlation and association between the tracer and water contaminants (nitrate, TDS, and *E. coli*). We also hypothesize that, based on the soil types and aquifer properties in our study area, the minimum recommended distance in our study area is greater than the recommended well setback distance of 15 m (CDC, 2009; Sphere Project, 2011; WHO, 1992) and the distance between a vast majority of wells and pit latrines.

#### 5.2 Methods

#### 5.2.1 Study Area

The study area is one of the densely populated low-income, peri-urban areas in Dar es Salaam city with the population density of about 14,250/km<sup>2</sup>. The city is located in Tanzania on the East African coast bordering the Indian Ocean to the east (Figure 5-2). The climate of the city is tropical with average temperature about 22 °C. The country has two rainy seasons, short rains of October-December with an average rainfall of 117 mm and long rains between March-May with an average rainfall of 253 mm (Mtoni et al., 2012). As none of the homes in this area are connected to a sewer system, human waste from this area is discharged to septic tanks or pit latrines, most of which have been poorly constructed with no regard for human health or the environment.



Figure 5-2. Location of the study area in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania showing 63 domestic wells and 64 pit latrines that were used for groundwater modeling

#### **5.2.2 Data Collection**

The site was surveyed to identify existing domestic wells and wastewater systems (pit latrines). The information about these systems including construction method, size, depth, and age of pit latrine, and sewage discharge schedule was collected. For homeowners who also have domestic wells, additional information was obtained, such as the distance between the well and the closest pit latrine. GPS coordinates of each pit latrine and domestic well locations were recorded for mapping and modeling purposes. Additionally, we obtained official well records from the Drilling and Dam Construction Agency (DDCA). The records included soil profiles, well logs, and water quality analyses associated with all wells that were drilled in the study area. Groundwater recharge rates and rainfall patterns were collected from the literature (Mjemah et al., 2009; Mtoni et al., 2011). Hydraulic head and groundwater flow direction data were calculated using the well log information provided and digital elevation model (DEM) data (112 pixels/inch) from Michigan State University library.

#### 5.2.3 Hydrogeology

There are two main aquifers in the city: an upper unconfined sand aquifer and a lower semiconfined sand aquifer that are separated by a clay aquitard (Mtoni et al., 2012). The unconfined aquifer consists of fine to medium sand with traces of silt and clay, which extends to the second clay layer towards the Indian Ocean (Mjemah et al., 2009). The lower semi-confined aquifer overlies the clay-bound sands and gravel with a thickness of several hundred meters (Mjemah, 2007; Mjemah et al., 2009). The majority of the city including the study area overlays a sand aquifer and a clay aquitard, which are the main sources of groundwater (Mjemah et al., 2009). Figure A5-1 in Appendix shows the top view (a) and side view below that (b) of the 3D conceptual model of the study area. The uppermost water-bearing unit is the unconfined fine sand aquifer with a depth of approximately 50-60 m. The second layer is a clayey sand aquitard having a depth of ~20 m. The third layer is comprised of sandy clay with a depth of ~30 m and also consists of a clay lens with a depth of ~7 m.

### 5.2.4 Groundwater Flow and Transport Modeling

Groundwater Modeling System (GMS, 2019) interfaced with MODFLOW-2000 (Harbaugh et al., 2000) and MT3DMS (Zheng & Wang, 1999) was used to simulate flow and conservative solute transport in the fully-saturated groundwater domain within the study area.



Figure 5-3. Step by step procedure for the groundwater simulation process

A MODFLOW numerical model was constructed from the conceptual model using appropriate properties, boundaries, and data from field observations. The conceptual model and grids were the same for both the groundwater flow and the transport models. The study area covered was about 36 km<sup>2</sup> and a horizontal model grid of 100 (*x*) × 100 (*y*) cells was used with three layers in the vertical *z*-direction. The boundary conditions for the upper aquifer were the constant head boundary in the north, east and south of the domain. No flow boundary conditions were incorporated in the western part of the domain and the variable head boundary is in the middle locations.

Input parameters for running the steady state MODFLOW simulation include time steps, sources and sinks such as rivers, wells and recharge, hydraulic parameters and boundary conditions. Three layers were simulated; fine sand (thickness = 60 m), clayey sand (thickness = 20 m), and sandy clay (thickness = 30 m). The soil materials for each layer are classified as described in the *Hydrogeology* section above and as shown on Figure A5-1 in Appendix. The average hydraulic conductivity values used for all three layers; fine sand, clayey sand and sandy clay were 15.14, 0.15, and 0.0022 m/day, respectively, with porosity value of 0.3 for all three layers (EPA, 1984; Mjemah et al., 2009; Sarki et al., 2014). Vertical and horizontal anisotropy values were estimated to be 4 and 1, respectively (Chapuis & Gill, 1989; Mualem, 1984). The starting head was 60 m. The average annual recharge value for the Dar es Salaam is 184 mm/year, which is equivalent to 0.0005 m/day (Mtoni et al., 2011). MODFLOW packages used were Time Variant Specified Head, Drain, Recharge, Well, LPF - Layer Property Flow. Hydrogeological properties information used were soil types, hydraulic conductivity, porosity and observed hydraulic head. The summary table of input parameters is provided in Table 5-2 in Appendix.

Lastly, the model was run to simulate groundwater heads and flows. Model calibration was performed using the observed heads and flow rates obtained from field data. All wells analyzed are located downstream from the source (pit latrines). The calibration process was done until model simulations matched the field observations to a reasonable degree. Heads and fluxes were
computed by MODFLOW during the flow simulation then read by MT3DMS to simulate tracer transport. The longitudinal dispersivity ( $\alpha_L$ ), horizontal ( $\alpha_H$ ) and vertical transverse dispersivity ( $\alpha_V$ ) values were estimated to be 20, 2 m and 0.2 m respectively for all three layers based on Engesgaard et al. (1996). A conservative numerical tracer with an arbitrary initial concentration (C<sub>o</sub>) of 100 mg/L was "released" into the aquifer from each of the 63 pit latrines. The contaminant transport model was run for 1825 days (5 years). The plume migration from the source region was observed at 64 monitoring wells.

### 5.2.5 Statistical Analyses

The predicted heads obtained using MODFLOW were compared to the observed heads to assess the accuracy of the model and appropriateness of the initially input parameters. Both the goodness of fit, R<sup>2</sup> and the root mean square error (RMSE) were calculated to assess model performance. To understand the relationships between tracer concentration and distance from the well to pit latrines, the results from the transport model were used to determine the linear relationship and predict the relationships between the tracer, distance, and the contaminants. Wells were divided into two groups - wells that are less than 15 m deep (shallow) and wells that are more than 15 m deep as deeper wells tend to follow different flow paths (Wilcox et al., 2010). Two statistical analysis methods were applied to the results from the transport model 1) bivariate correlation to determine the strength of the linear relationship between tracer and the distance and 2) linear regression to confirm whether a linear relationship exists between the tracer and distance from the well to pit latrines. SPSS version 24.0 (IBM Corp, 2016) was used for all analyses.

### **Bivariate Correlation and Regression Analysis**

Bivariate correlations were used to determine the relationships between the tracer, distance and the contaminants. Pearson's *r* correlation was used to characterize the linear relationships between the *tracer concentration and distance* from the well to the pit latrines for shallow wells and deep wells as well as for the following combinations: 1) *tracer concentration with nitrate*, 2) *tracer concentration with E. coli*, and 3) *tracer concentration with TDS*. The association between two variables was measured by the correlation coefficient with values between -1 and 1. Results from Pearson's *r* correlation were used to find the relationship between contaminants and distance by using linear regression model.

After confirming that there is a significant association between the tracer, water contaminants, and distance of the well from the pit latrines from the bivariate correlations, linear regression analysis was used to model the relationship between contaminants and distance, see equations (1) through (4). For equation 1, distance was a dependent variable, whereas tracer concentration was a dependent variable. For equation 2, 3 and 4, contaminants were dependent variables, whereas tracer concentration was an independent variable. Results were used to estimate the minimum well setback distance for this peri-urban area of Dar es Salaam for both shallow wells and deep wells.

$$Tracer = \beta_1 + \alpha_1(Distance) \tag{1}$$

$$Nitrate = \beta_2 + \alpha_2(Tracer) \tag{2}$$

$$E.coli = \beta_3 + \alpha_3(Tracer) \tag{3}$$

$$TDS = \beta_4 + \alpha_4(Tracer) \tag{4}$$

where:

 $\alpha_i$  = Slopes of the lines

 $\beta_i$  = Intercepts, the values of y when x = 0

The adjusted  $R^2$  was used to measure the accuracy of linear models to identify the percentage of variance in the input (s). The closer the adjusted  $R^2$  is to 1.0, the more the variation in the dependent variable can be explained by the independent variables in the regression model (Kvålseth, 1985). The significance of the relationship of the combination was indicated when *p*-values were less than 0.01.

#### 5.3 Results

# 5.3.1 Groundwater Flow Model Simulation and Calibration

Figure 5-4 shows the computed hydraulic heads in all three layers. The model was calibrated manually by adjusting the hydraulic conductivities and recharge values that are within the acceptable range to find an optimal set of values. Figure A5-2 in Appendix shows a flow vector map corresponding to these heads. Groundwater flow model output was used to simulate transport. The R<sup>2</sup> value was 0.95 between observed and simulated heads and the RMSE was 1.3 m, which indicates good overall agreement and model performance.



Figure 5-4. Groundwater flow (top) and calibration of the hydraulic head (bottom)

# 5.3.2 Tracer Transport

Tracer breakthrough curves generated for some of the wells are shown in Figure A5-3 in Appendix. The minimum distance the plume travelled to reach the monitoring well with maximum normalized tracer concentration of 100 mg/L ( $\frac{c}{c_0} = 1$ ) was 3 m, corresponding to a travel time of 4.5 days. The longest distance the plume travelled to the well was 35 m, which had the maximum

tracer concentration of 10 mg/L ( $\frac{c}{c_0} = 0.1$ ). The average velocity of 0.67 m/day, resulting in a

travel time of 52 days.



Figure 5-5. Plume transport at 90 days (top left), 365 days (top right) and 730 days (bottom) with red dots representing monitoring wells receiving contamination from the source (pit latrines)

Figure 5-5 shows the tracer transport modeling results in the top layer after 90 days (three months), 365 days (1 year) and 730 days (2 years). After 90 days, the transport model showed the plumes moving towards the east side of the study area. The tracer transport model also showed that, at the maximum simulation time of 1825 d, very few wells were predicted to have concentrations less than 50% of the initial concentration seeping from the pit latrines. This was irrespective of distance and included wells within the 15 m radius assumed to be "safe" according to WHO guidelines. In reality, the wells that were located upstream of the pit latrine should have the less contamination, but according to the model results showed otherwise possibly due to the proximity of wells from latrine. All domestic wells were within 35 m of a pit latrine.

Figure A5-4 in Appendix shows the plume transport for all three layers after 2 years for a

well that was located about 9 m from the pit latrine. After 2 years (730 days), that well had already a tracer concentration of 90 mg/L. After 2 years, just on the first layer, the plume has already travelled more than 175 m. The plume travel distance decreased to about 90 m in the second layer and about 55 m in the third layer.

### **5.3.3 Bivariate Correlations**

Nitrate, *E. coli*, and TDS concentrations detected through sampling and analysis at the drinking water wells were used for bivariate correlation analysis with the tracer from the contaminant transport model. Pearson's r correlations from three combinations of contaminants: 1) *tracer with nitrate*, 2) *tracer with E. coli*, and 3) *tracer with TDS* revealed that nitrate and *E. coli* are positively correlated with tracer transport with Pearson coefficient, r of 0.80 and 0.79, respectively. Tracer with TDS showed a weak positive correlation with r of 0.23, suggesting that these parameters are not well correlated. The summary of the r values for tracer and contaminants is provided in Table 5-1.

Indonandant Variabla	Pearson Coefficient, r	
independent variable	Tracer	
Tracer	1.00	
Nitrate	0.80*	
E. coli	0.79*	
TDS	0.23	

Table 5-1. Bivariate correlations of tracer transport with water quality parameters.

\**Correlation is significant at 0.01 level (2 tailed)* 

Field investigations revealed that, out of 64 wells analyzed, 56% of domestic wells were located less than 15 m from a pit latrine, which is the WHO guideline for the distance of a drinking water well from pit latrines. The maximum distance was found to be 35 m and minimum was 3 m with an average of 17.1 m. Wells were then cataloged into two clusters, shallow wells with depth

less than 15 m and deep wells with depth more than 15 m. Bivariate correlation results between *tracer with distance* for shallow wells showed a strong negative correlation with value of -0.96 and for deep wells was -0.76. Correlative comparisons showed that *nitrate and distance* as well as *E. coli and distance* exhibit strong negative correlations with r values of -0.95 and -0.93, respectively for shallow wells and -0.85 and -0.83, respectively for deep wells. Correlative comparisons for *TDS and distance* showed a weak negative correlation with r values of -0.41 and -0.17, for shallow wells and for deep wells respectively as shown in Table 5-2.

Table 5-2. Bivariate correlations of distance from shallow and deep wells to pit latrines with tracer transport and water quality parameters.

	Pearson Coefficient, r			
	Tracer	Nitrate	E. coli	TDS
Distance for shallow wells $(d < 15m)$	-0.96*	-0.95*	- 0.93*	-0.41
Distance for deep wells (d >15m)	-0.76	-0.85*	-0.83*	-0.17
*Correlation is significant at 0.01 lovel (2 tailed)				

\*Correlation is significant at 0.01 level (2 tailed)

# 5.3.4 Linear Regression

WHO drinking water guidelines were used as the threshold to compare contaminants with the tracer concentration at the well to determine the minimum setback distance from the linear regression analysis results. According to WHO guidelines, the acceptable concentration of nitrate is 10 mg/L as N, for *E. coli* it is 0 CFU/100 mL and for TDS it is 500 mg/L. Results showed that only 32% of the wells tested for nitrate met the WHO guidelines, 6 % for *E. coli* and only 17% for TDS. Linear regression was used to fit the tracer concentration with distance for shallow wells and deep wells. Results showed shallow wells had higher  $R^2$  value (0.92) compared to deep wells (0.62) as shown in Figures A5-5 and A5-6 in Appendix. When linear regression was used to fit the tracer concentration for all wells combined with distance, nitrate, *E. coli* and TDS, results showed  $R^2$  values of 0.71, 0.65, 0.62 and 0.05 respectively as shown in Table 5-3. Figures 5-6, 5-7 and 5-8 show the scatter plots of the linear regression model results of tracer as dependent variable with distance, nitrate and *E. coli* as independent variables. Figure A5-7 in Appendix shows scatter plot for TDS.

Variables	Tracer			
variables	R <sup>2</sup>	Adjusted R <sup>2</sup>	<i>p</i> -value	
Distance	0.71	0.705	0.000*	
Nitrate	0.65	0.640	0.000*	
E. coli	0.62	0.618	0.000*	
TDS	0.05	0.036	0.074	

Table 5-3. Linear regression summary results from all wells with tracer transport and distance, nitrate, *E. coli* and TDS

\*Correlation is significant at 0.01 level (2 tailed)



Figure 5-6. Linear regression model results of distance measured with numerical tracer concentration for all wells combined (shallow and deep)



Figure 5-7. Linear regression model results of nitrate with numerical tracer concentration for all wells combined (shallow and deep).



Figure 5-8. Linear regression model results of *E. coli* with numerical tracer concentration for all wells combined (shallow and deep)

To understand how *E. coli* and nitrate concentrations change with distance and to identify safe distances based on the concentrations of these variables, new values of "fitted distances" for *E. coli* and nitrate were obtained using (a) the regression equation between distance and simulated tracer concentration (Figure 5-6) and (b) regression equations between simulated tracer and observed *E. coli* and nitrate concentrations. The new distance values were referred as "fitted distance". New linear regression results with fitted distance are shown in Table 5-4. R<sup>2</sup> values for nitrate and *E. coli* are close to 1 but for TDS it didn't explain the variance. The scattered plots supporting results from Table 5-4 are shown in Figures A5-8, A5-9 and A5-10 in Appendix. From the fitted distance results, minimum setback distances of wells that met WHO guidelines for all three contaminants were identified as shown in Figure 5-9.

 Table 5-4. Linear regression summary results from all wells with tracer transport and distance, nitrate, *E. coli* and TDS

Demondent Verstehle	Fitted Distance			
Dependent variable	<b>R</b> <sup>2</sup>	Adjusted R <sup>2</sup>	<i>p</i> -value	
Tracer	1.00	1.00	0.000*	
Nitrate	0.65	0.64	0.000*	
E. coli	0.63	0.62	0.000*	
TDS	0.05	0.04	0.075	

Figure 5-9 shows the distance comparison between all 64 wells analyzed (red boxplots) with those wells that contaminants levels are within the WHO guidelines (blue boxplots). The minimum fitted distances for nitrate, *E. coli* and TDS were found to be 18.4 m, 32.3 m and 4.0 m respectively (Figure 5-9). Results for TDS do not show a large variation between fitted distances for TDS for all wells with those wells that were within WHO guideline which is due to weak correlation and regression results as shown earlier. The recommended minimum distance was selected from the largest value between nitrate and *E. coli* for concentration levels that met WHO guidelines, thus, the minimum distance was found to be 32.3 m (Table 5-5).



nitrate, E. coli and TDS levels

Table 5-5. The recommended minimum distance based on the fitted distance from the wells to pit latrines

Water Quality Parameter	Fitted well setback distance within WHO guidelines (m)		
1 al ameter	Max	Min	
Nitrate	31.2	26	
E. coli	35.0	32.3**	
TDS	34.9*	4.0*	
Recommended minimum distance 32.3 m			

\*Not relevant due to weak correlation and with distance and tracer \*\*Maximum number among the minimum setback distances

# **5.4 Discussion**

Bivariate correlations between contaminants and tracer concentration supported our first hypothesis that there is a strong correlation between tracer and water contaminants (nitrate and *E. coli*). However, TDS did not show a significant correlation. Linear regression analysis showed that

there is relationship between distance with the tracer and contaminants. This is consistent with the statistical analysis reported by Ngasala et al. (2019), which indicated that it was plausible that the three contaminants (nitrate, *E. coli* and TDS) originated from pit latrines, but the results present here provide further evidence that nitrate and *E. coli* originate from the same source while TDS does not. Since the study area is peri-urban and there are no agricultural activities or known waste dumping, the only source of nitrate and *E. coli* is believed to be from human waste. The reason of weak correlation with TDS could be because the source of the TDS is due to saltwater intrusion rather than from sewage contamination since the study area is located within ~7 km of the Indian Ocean.

Our results also supported the second hypothesis that based on the soil types and aquifer properties in our study area, the distance simulated from the groundwater model is greater than minimum well setback distance of 15 m according to CDC (2009), Sphere Project (2011) and WHO (1992). Bivariate correlation between distance from the well to the pit latrines and tracer showed a strong negative correlation. These results are similar to that presented by Ngasala et al. (2019) who found that there was a strong negative correlation between distance and nitrate and *E. coli* but weak correlation for TDS, suggesting that TDS levels may not be related to distance. Out of 64 wells analyzed, 68 % of the wells were located less than recommended distance of 15 m, with an average of 10.6 and the shortest distance was 3 m. Additionally, 24% of all wells were shallow wells with a depth less than 15 m, and the rest are deep wells with up to 120 m deep. Linear regression results showed a significant difference between shallow wells and deep wells although as combined, the showed high  $R^2$  which explained the results.

Only 32%, 6% and 27% of the wells had nitrate, *E. coli* and TDS levels that met WHO drinking water guidelines. The minimum residual tracer concentration  $\left(\frac{c}{c_0}\right)$  detected in wells that

met WHO standards was 0.01 (1%) and the maximum was 0.41 (41%) with an average 0.19 (19%). Results from linear regression analysis showed the maximum fitted distance from pit latrines to be 32.3 m. Strong correlations for distance and tracer suggest that contaminants are originating from nearby pit latrines and the risk of domestic well contamination increases as the distance to the pit latrine decreases. Our findings support those of Kiptum and Ndambuki (2012) who determined that the minimum distance a well should be placed from a latrine is 48 m. The study was conducted in Langa, Kenya, where residents rely on groundwater sources. Using MODFLOW modeling with the particle tracking tool (PMPATH), they found that an average velocity that a particle can travel is 1.2 m/day. The longer it takes for a particle to travel, the better the filtration process that will minimize the contamination of wells.

Not surprisingly, our results also showed that deep wells are less likely to be contaminated by seepage from proximate pit latrines than are shallow wells. Based on our modeling results, wells that had depth of were 15 m or less were more contaminated and distance had more influence in those wells than deep wells. Water quality in shallow wells were significantly impacted by pit latrines within the study area. Results are consistent with Ngasala et al. (2019) that showed the correlation between contamination levels and depth. Although shallow wells showed to be more impacted, results also showed that some of the deep wells were impacted by the distance because they had high concentrations of contaminants. As found by Glanville et al. (1997), deeper wells do not always guarantee a high-quality water supply. There is other possible reason for this if the historical land use surrounding this per urban area was agriculture, and if the use of agricultural fertilizers (nitrogen fertilizers in particular) was significant. In our case, close proximity of wells to latrines could be one of the factors especially if septic tanks or pit latrines are placed upgradient from the well. Deep wells might have good quality of water at the beginning, then with time decrease the quality if sewage contaminants introduced at upgradient locations in the flow system reach deeper into the aquifer overtime (Wilcox et al., 2010). According to WHO (1997), septic tanks or pit latrines should be placed down gradient from the well. For public shallow wells serving multiple households, they can be drilled deeper to minimize the chance of being contaminated. The source-water protection can be more easily accomplished for a single well that serve multiple homes and for numerous wells scattered throughout a subdivision.

Groundwater modeling can be applicable in highly populated cities where groundwater contamination is common. Contaminants such as nitrate have been researched more in both surface water and groundwater modeling due to the nature of its source. Obviously, in areas with high number of pit latrines have shown the higher nitrate load as it was found by Rios et al. (2013) who compared two neighborhoods, and found that there was a big difference between the two areas due to a smaller number of pit latrines and higher denitrification rate at one of them.

According to the model results presented, the present regulations nationally and internationally regarding private well construction and setback distances are insufficient to protect drinking water quality in unsewered overpopulated peri-urban areas of Dar es Salaam. One of the challenges for implementing drinking-water protection measures in per urban areas of Dar es Salaam is government regulations do not explicitly give local entities the authority to regulate well construction or setback distances at the local level. As noted by Wilcox et al. (2010), since literature has not covered site-specific variables such as soil type, geology, or groundwater flow direction, therefore these findings are not surprising. In Tanzania, groundwater is heavily used not only in urban areas, also in rural areas where both shallow and deep wells are common. The major benefit of the approach we have used in this study is that it can be applied to in other peri-urban areas or in regions with different hydrologic information and provide a scientifically based method

for designing private water supplies.

# **5.5** Conclusion

In this paper, we expand upon the work of Ngasala et al. (2019, 2018) that assessed the water quality from various sources and then evaluated the factors affecting water contamination in domestic wells. In this work, using numerical modeling we were able to estimate the site-specific minimum distance that drinking water wells can be placed from pit latrines by incorporating site specific data such as hydrogeology, soil properties, and rainfall, and then used a tracer to represent sewage contaminants emanating from the leaky pit latrine. Simulated tracer concentrations were correlated with well contaminants (nitrate, *E. coli* and TDS) to determine the recommended minimum well setback distance.

According to the results of contaminant transport modeling, the wells showed to be contaminated significantly. The minimum "safe" distance to place the drinking water well was found to be 32.3 m. The results also indicated that groundwater flows at an average rate of 0.67 m/day. The distance can aid in reduction of contamination because it subjects the contaminants to a longer travel time from a latrine to a drinking water well which will allow the filtration process of any pollutants (Kiptum & Ndambuki, 2012). To prevent contamination of water in the wells, it is recommended that lining to the wells especially for shallow wells and concrete covering be done to prevent surface runoff and spillage from entering the well. For the wells that are already too close to pit latrines, it is critical for the residents to treat that water before drinking by using affordable household treatment methods such as boiling or chlorination.

In the future, if at all possible, the wells should not be placed less than 32.3 m (~33 m). In areas where it is impossible to meet this standard due to close proximity of houses, decentralized water supply systems such as having community wells that will serve small enough number of

homes instead of having too many wells in the community will help minimize the contamination. Additionally, treatment systems can be applied to points at or near these community points where drinking water is consumed, at either the household or community level. This can be done through community water committees, community members themselves as well as the leaderships of local governments. Proper wastewater and sewage management can help minimize contamination significantly. We highly recommend proper construction of the pit latrines and septic tanks in the area by following the engineering requirements and standards in order to reduce sewage leakages into groundwater and overflows into surface water sources. Additionally, decentralized wastewater collection and treatment systems can be introduced in communities to serve small number of households at a time. The capital costs associated with decentralized systems for both water and wastewater can be significantly lower than centralized systems which will results in savings for individual families and to the agencies responsible for water distribution networks (Ali, 2010).

To conclude, groundwater modeling has proven to be a useful tool to understand contamination within an aquifer system in urban overpopulated areas of developing countries. Although the model only considers point sources, nonpoint sources could also contribute to groundwater contamination. The future work for groundwater modeling should consider non-point sources as well as seasonal variations (rainy vs dry seasons).

176

APPENDIX

# APPENDIX



(b) The side view of the 3D conceptual model

Figure A5-1. The top view (a) and side view (b) of the 3D conceptual model of the study area with three soil layers, fine sand aquifer, clayey sand with layers of clay aquitard and the sandy clay mixed with clay lenses



Figure A5-2. A flow vector map corresponding to groundwater flow and calibration of the hydraulic head



Figure A5-3. Tracer breakthrough curves generated for selected domestic wells



Figure A5-4. Plume migration at 1<sup>st</sup>, 2<sup>nd</sup> and 3<sup>rd</sup> layers after 730 days, showing a well located about 9 m from the pit latrine



Figure A5-5. Linear regression model results of the measured distance from pit latrine with numerical tracer concentration for shallow wells



Figure A5-6. Linear regression model results of the measured distance from pit latrine with numerical tracer concentration for deep wells



Figure A5-7. Linear regression model results of TDS with numerical tracer concentration for all wells combined



Figure A5-8. Linear regression model results of fitted distance with nitrate for all wells combined



Figure A5-9. Linear regression model results of fitted distance with *E. coli* for all wells combined



Figure A5-10. Linear regression model results of fitted distance with TDS concentration for all wells combined

Source	Distance (m)
CDC, 2009; Sphere Project, 2011; US EPA, 2002	15
NRCS/USDA-NHS, WHO	15-30
Koralegedara & M.M.M., 2013	30
Dzwairo et. al, 2006	25
Still & Nash, 2002	20
Vinger et. al., 2012	12

Table A5-1. Different recommended well setback distances from literature

Table A5-2. MODFLOW model input parameters for the groundwater flow

Model Input Parameters				
MODFLOW	Layer 1	Layer 2	Layer 3	
Soil materials	Fine sand	Clayey sand	Sandy clay	
Hydraulic Conductivities (m/day)	15.14	0.15	0.0022	
Vertical Anisotropy	4	4	4	
Horizontal Anisotropy	1	1	1	
Starting Head (m)	60	60	60	
Top Elevation (m)	60	-10	-30	
Bottom Elevation (m)	-10	-30	-60	
Porosity	0.3	0.3	0.3	
Recharge (m/day)	0.005	0.005	0.005	
Packages: Time Variant Specified Head, Drain, Recharge, Well, LPF - Layer Property Flow				

Table A5-3. MT3DMS model input parameters for the contaminant transport

MT3DMS	Layer 1	Layer 2	Layer 3
Model Parameters	Unit	Value	Value
Longitudinal dispersivity, $\alpha_L$	20	20	20
Horizontal transverse dispersivity, $\alpha_H$ (m)	2	2	2
Vertical transverse dispersivity, $\alpha_V(m)$	0.2	0.2	0.2
Initial concentration of the tracer (mg/L)	100	100	100
Packages: Advection, Dispersion, Source/sink mixing, Transport observation			

REFERENCES

# REFERENCES

- 1. Ali, S. I. (2010). Alternatives for safe water provision in urban and peri-urban slums. *Journal of Water and Health*, 8(4), 720–734. https://doi.org/10.2166/wh.2010.141.
- Arwenyo, B., Wasswa, J., Nyeko, M., & Kasozi, N. (2017). The impact of septic systems density and nearness to spring water points, on water quality. *African Journal of Environmental Science and Technology*, 11(1), 11–18. https://doi.org/10.5897/AJEST2016-.2216.
- 3. Anderson, M., & Woessner, W. (1992). Applied groundwater modeling simulation of flow and advective transport. *Academic Press*.
- 4. Bradford, S. A., Wang, Y., Kim, H., Torkzaban, S., & Šimůnek, J. (2014). Modeling Microorganism Transport and Survival in the Subsurface. *Journal of Environment Quality*, 43(2), 421–440. https://doi.org/10.2134/jeq2013.05.0212.
- 5. CDC. (2009). Well siting & potential contaminants. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/healthywater/drinking/private/wells/location.html.
- Chapuis, R. P., & Gill, D. E. (1989). Hydraulic anisotropy of homogeneous soils and rocks: Influence of the densification process. *Bulletin of the International Association of Engineering Geology-Bulletin de l'Association Internationale de Géologie de l'Ingénieur*, 39(1), 75–86. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02592538.
- 7. Chen, C.-S., Tu, C.-H., Chen, S.-J., & Chen, C.-C. (2016). Simulation of groundwater contaminant transport at a decommissioned landfill site—A case study, Tainan City, Taiwan. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 13(5). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph13050467.
- 8. Dwivedi, D., Mohanty, B. P., & Lesikar, B. J. (2016). Impact of the linked surface watersoil water-groundwater system on transport of *E. coli* in the subsurface. *Water, Air, & Soil Pollution*, 227(9), 351. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11270-016-3053-2.
- 9. Dzwairo, B., Love, D., & Hoko, Z. (2006). Assessment of the impacts of pit latrines on ground. *Physics and Chemistry of the Earth*, 31(2006), 779–788. https://doi.org/10.1016-/j.pce.2006.08.031.
- Engesgaar, P., Jensen, K., Molson, J., Frind, E. O., & Henrik Olsen, H. (1996). Large-scale dispersion in a sandy aquifer: Simulation of subsurface transport of environmental tritium. Water Resources Research, 32(11), 3253–3266. https://doi.org/10.1029/96WR02398
- 11. EPA. (1984). Soil properties, classification, and hydraulic conductivity testing technical resource. Retrieved from https://nepis.epa.gov.

- 12. Glanville, T. D., Baker, J. L., & Newman, J. K. (1997). Statistical analysis of rural well contamination and effects of well construction. *Transactions of the ASAE*, 40(2), 363–370.
- 13. GMS, A. I. (2019). Groundwater Modeling System. Retrieved from https://www.aquaveo.com.
- 14. Graham, J. P., & Polizzotto, M. L. (2013). Pit latrines and their impacts on groundwater quality: A systematic review. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 121(5), 521. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1206028
- Haddeland, I., Heinkeb, J., Biemansd, H., Eisnere, S., Flörkee, M., Hanasakif, N., Konzmannb, M., Ludwigd, F., Masakif, Y., Scheweb, J., Stackeg, T., Tesslerh, Z. D., Wadai, Y., & Wisseri, D. (2014). Global water resources affected by human interventions and climate change. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 111(9), 3251–3256. https://doi.org/10.- 1073/pnas.1222475110.
- 16. Harbaugh, A. W., Banta, E. R., Hill, M. C., & McDonald, M. G. (2000). MODFLOW-2000, The U.S. Geological Survey Modular Ground-Water Model—User Guide to modularization concepts and the ground-water flow process. U.S. Geological Survey, https://doi.org/10.-3133/ofr200092.
- 17. Hatamleh, A. I. (2007). Using Modflow and MT3D Groundwater flow and transport models as a management tool for the Azraq Groundwater System. Jordan Journal of Civil Engineering, 1(2). https://doi.org/10.1.1.864.9181.
- 18. IBM, S. S. (2016). IBM SPSS Statistics 24 Brief Guide. IBM.
- 19. Kiptum, C. K., & Ndambuki, J. M. (2012). Well water contamination by pit latrines: A case study of Langas. *International Journal of Water Resources and Environmental Engineering*, 4(2), 35–43. https://doi.org/10.5897/IJWREE11.084.
- 20. Koralegedara, S., & M.M.M., N. (2013). Compliance with standards and emerging issues of household sewage disposal systems in Gampaha Municipality Area in Western Sri Lanka. Journal of Environmental Professionals Sri Lanka, 2, 2013. https://doi.org/10.4038/- jepsl.v2i2.6326.
- 21. Kvålseth, T. O. (1985). Cautionary Note about R<sup>2</sup>. *The American Statistician*, 39(4), 279–285. https://doi.org/10.1080/00031305.1985.10479448.
- 22. Mato, R. R. A. M. (2002). Groundwater pollution in urban Dar es Salaam, Tanzania: Eindhoven: *Printed by University Press, Technische Universiteit Eindhoven*.
- 23. Mjemah, I. C. (2007). Hydrogeological and hydrogeochemical investigation of a coastal aquifer in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. In PhD thesis. Ghent University, Belgium.

- 24. Mjemah, I. C., Camp, M. V., & Walraevens, K. (2009). Groundwater exploitation and hydraulic parameter estimation for a Quaternary aquifer in Dar-es-Salaam Tanzania. *Journal of African Earth Sciences*, 55(3), 134–146. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ja frearsci.2009.03.009.
- 25. Mkude, I., & Saria, J. (2012). Water quality in selected shallow wells in Dar es Salaam. *Huria Journal*, XI, 13–24.
- 26. Mtoni, Y. E., Mjemah, I., Msindai, K., Van Camp, M., & Walraevens, K. (2012). Saltwater intrusion in the quaternary aquifer of the Dar es Salaam region, Tanzania. *Geologica Belgica*, 15(1–2), 16–25.
- Mtoni, Y., Mjemah, I. C., Bakundukize, C., Camp, M. V., Martens, K., & Walraevens, K. (2013). Saltwater intrusion and nitrate pollution in the coastal aquifer of Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. *Environmental Earth Sciences*, 70(3), 1091–1111. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12665-012-2197-7.
- 28. Mtoni, Y., Mjemah, I. C., Camp, M. V., & Walraevens, K. (2011). Enhancing protection of Dar es Salaam quaternary aquifer: Groundwater recharge assessment. *In Environmental Earth Sciences. Advances in the Research of Aquatic Environment* (pp. 299–306). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-19902-8\_35.
- 29. Mualem, Y. (1984). Anisotropy of unsaturated soils. Soil Science Society of America Journal, 48(3), 505–509.
- 30. Ngasala, T. M., Masten, S. J., & Phanikumar, M. S. (2019). Impact of domestic wells and hydrogeologic setting on water quality in peri-urban Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. *Science of The Total Environment*, 686, 1238–1250. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.05.202.
- 31. Ngasala, T. M., Gasteyer, S. P., Masten, S. J., & Phanikumar, M. S. (2019). Linking cross contamination of domestic water with storage practices at the point of use in urban areas of Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. *Journal of Environmental Engineering*, 145(5), 04019017. https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)EE.1943-7870.0001516.
- 32. Ngoye, E., & Machiwa, J. F. (2004). The influence of land-use patterns in the Ruvu river watershed on water quality in the river system. *Physics and Chemistry of the Earth*, Parts A/B/C, 29(15), 1161–1166. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pce.2004.09.002.
- Niu, J., & Phanikumar, M. S. (2015). Modeling watershed-scale solute transport using an integrated, process-based hydrologic model with applications to bacterial fate and transport. *Journal of Hydrology*, 529, 35–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2015.07.013.
- 34. Orner, N. (2018). Pit toilets (latrines). *Global Water Pathogen Project*. Retrieved from http://www.waterpathogens.org/book/pit-toilets-latrines.

- Ravenscroft, P., Mahmud, Z.H., M. Islam, M. S., Hossain, A.K.M.Z., Zahid, A., Saha, G.C., Zulfiquar Ali, A.H.M., Islam, K., Cairncross, S., Clemens, J. D, Sirajul Islam, M. (2017). The public health significance of latrines discharging to groundwater used for drinking. *Water Research*, 124, 192–201. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2017.07.049.
- Rios, J. F., Ye, M., Wang, L., Lee, P. Z., Davis, H., & Hicks, R. (2013). ArcNLET: A GISbased software to simulate groundwater nitrate load from septic systems to surface water bodies. *Computers* & *Geosciences*, 52, 108– 116.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cageo.2012.10.003.
- Sarki, A., Mirjat, M. S., Mahessar, A. A., Kori, S. M., & Qureshi, A. L. (2014). Determination of saturated hydraulic conductivity of different soil texture materials. *Journal of Agriculture and Veterinary Science*, 7(12), 56–62. https://doi.org/10.9790/2380-071245662.
- 38. Sphere Project (Ed.). (2011). Humanitarian charter and minimum standards in humanitarian response (Third edition). *Rugby, Great Britain: Practical Action Publishing*.
- 39. Still, D. A., & Nash, S. R. (2002). Groundwater contamination due to pit latrines located in a sandy aquifer: A case study from Maputoland. *Water Institute of Southern Africa*
- 40. US EPA. (2002). Drinking water from household wells. Retrieved from https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-05/documents/epa816k02003.pdf
- 41. US EPA. (2017). Climate impacts on water resources: Overviews and Factsheets. Retrieved from /climate-impacts/climate-impacts-water-resources
- 42. Vinger, B., Hlophe, M., & Selvaratnam, M. (2012). Relationship between nitrogenous pollution of borehole waters and distances separating them from pit latrines and fertilized fields. *Life Science Journal*, 9(1), 402–407.
- 43. WHO. (1992). A guide to the development of on-site sanitation. Geneva: *WHO*.
- 44. WHO. (1997). Surveillance and control of community supplies (2. ed). *WHO Geneva*.
- 45. Wilcox, J. D., Gotkowitz, M. B., Bradbury, K. R., & Bahr, J. M. (2010). Using groundwater models to evaluate strategies for drinking-water protection in rural subdivisions. *Journal of the American Planning Association*, 76(3), 295–304. https://doi.org/10.1080/019443610037- 42403.
- 46. Zheng, C., & Bennett, G. D. (2002). Applied contaminant transport modeling. *Wiley*.
- 47. Zheng, C., & Wang, P. P. (1999). MT3DMS: A modular three-dimensional multi-species transport model for simulation of advection, dispersion and chemical reactions of

contaminants in groundwater systems. US Army Corps of Engineers Engineer Research and Development Center.

# **CHAPTER 6: Conclusion**

#### 6.1 Summary

This study showed that there is an urgent need to address the public health and environmental problems related to water scarcity, sanitation, water quality, and household hygiene practices in the highly populated peri-urban areas of Dar es Salaam. The assessment of water collection and storage practices at the household level confirmed that poor water storage and mixing practices in the study area were the main cause of the contamination of the relatively clean city water at the household level. Water quality results showed that there were differences in water quality from each water source analyzed, and statistical analysis identified the predominant reasons that residents mixed water prior to and during storage. Unfortunately, the residents were largely unaware of variations in the quality of their water between sources and therefore used storage practices that led to contamination of the water of highest quality (city water). Findings also indicated that respondents made these choices because of lack of education and because of financial barriers.

The contamination of domestic wells in the study area was found to be due to the short distance from drinking water wells to pit latrines. Shallow well depth also contributed to contamination. The problem of contamination of wells is exacerbated because the wells are bored into fine to medium sand aquifer material, which is highly permeable. Site-specific distances for the separation of domestic wells from pit latrines were developed using simulations of groundwater flow and contaminant transport that considered variations in hydrogeological conditions. Based on the soil characteristics of our study area, the minimum recommended distance to locate the drinking water well from pit latrines was ~33 m, which is greater than the distance recommended

by (WHO, 1992) and (CDC, 2009) and also greater than the average distance between most homes which is between 5 - 10 meters. The density of homes in the study area is about 14,250/km<sup>2</sup>.

#### **6.2 Recommendations**

Proper management of water sources requires interdisciplinary approaches by involving community members, governmental officials, members of educational institutions, public health personnel, and other stakeholders. Programs that educate, inform, and galvanize the residents of peri-urban areas like Dar es Salaam to take actions that will protect their health are critically needed. To succeed, the community members must feel empowered. They must believe in measures that have been recommended and know that they have control over their situation in ways that will effectively protect their health. Based on the findings of this study, the following recommendations are suggested within the integrated approach that addresses education, engineering technology, and social aspects:

# 6.2.1 Engineering and Economic Aspects

Traditional centralized water supply systems are not feasible in peri-urban areas of Dar es Salaam due to economic and technical reasons. Decentralized systems for both water supply and wastewater management are recommended as a cost-effective engineering solution to improve water access and minimize contamination. Decentralized systems refer to the small-scale water supply or sewage management systems for communities and buildings, serving between 50 and 500 households. They can be an alternative to centralized systems due to their ease of use and maintenance, along with reduced gas or fuel consumption and cost.

### **Decentralized Water Supply**

The existing centralized water supply system in Dar es Salaam failed to meet the demand of the community due to rapid population growth, poor infrastructure and outdated, under-sized water treatment and distribution systems. Instead, decentralized water supply systems could meet the needs of the communities due to their low capital and operating costs. In addition, they can be easily right-sized for a specific community. There are a wide range of decentralized water supply systems technologies that are inexpensive, simple to install, and cost-effective. Since surface water sources in this area are not highly reliable, groundwater (shallow or deep wells) or rainwater are recommended. Pumping costs will be significantly lower as the water does not have to be pumped great distances and the risk of recontamination in smaller networks is low.

Another advantage of decentralized water supply system is that water treatment can be tailored to the community's needs based on source water quality. The use of a decentralized water supply system can help address water quality issues because water can be treated at water source intake before it is distributed to the community. Cost-effective water treatment technologies that are available in Dar es Salaam, can be used in the decentralized system such as heat or radiation methods (e.g., boiling and solar water disinfection (SODIS)), chemical disinfection methods (e.g., chlorination (chlorine tablet, water guard etc). At the source, from the small water treatment system, physical removal processes such as sedimentation or filtration techniques or granular filter media such as bio sand filters, slow sand filtration, and rapid sand filtration can also be used.

Unlike the centralized water supply system, decentralized systems can be independent from an institutional set-up and run locally. The management at the local level is much easier and local community members can be employed for the operation and maintenance of the system. They can be in cooperated with other stakeholders such as small-scale vendors, informal market and smallscale businesses.

### **Decentralized Wastewater and Sewage Management**

In Dar es Salaam, the traditional centralized wastewater management system (lagoons) that was in place have not worked fully for more than 15 years, treating only 8% of the population. Although the system seemed to be cost efficient at the time it was implemented, rapid population growth, poor maintenance of infrastructure and its inability to keep up with the population growth are the main reasons for system failure. Decentralized wastewater systems for sewage management are the best alternative and long-term solution in this community due to their reliability and cost effectiveness such as low capital costs, low operation and maintenance costs, and even promoting business and job opportunities. Additionally, decentralized systems allow for better local management and are simple and effective, as compared to centralized treatment system which are often expensive and challenging to operate. As Jung et al. (2018) found on their cost comparison study, the cost of operation and maintenance of the decentralized wastewater management systems is 20% - 30% less as compared to the centralized system.

Another advantage of decentralized wastewater treatment is greywater recycling. Water recycling can help solve the problem of water scarcity and reduce expenditures for purchasing water and for wastewater management and treatment in peri-urban areas of Dar es Salaam. Greywater used from laundry, bath, showers, and house cleaning can be recycled for reuse. Water produced from the recycling process can be used for cleaning toilets, house cleaning, laundry, etc. Since the system is locally operated and managed, local community members can be employed for the operation and maintenance of the system and people will feel more responsible of their treatment system may pay more attention to the issues of greywater.

#### **Alternative Sanitation Practices**

Due to poor road access to some of the homes in the study area, we recommend the use of new and improved ways of sewage management for the collection and transportation to a treatment system. One of the recommended practices is dry sanitation toilets (dehydrating and composting). Dry sanitation toilets allow for the treatment and disposal of human waste without the addition of water. The composted solids can be used as fertilizer. Dry sanitation toilets have the advantage over traditional pit latrines as they are economical, environmentally acceptable, and hygienic. These toilets are commonly used in remote areas, however, increasing environmental awareness has led to some people using them as an alternative to conventional systems even in urban areas of several developing countries (Lachapelle, 1995; Pacey et. al., 1978). The urine is usually collected separately, and the solids are collected in a separate chamber. The main advantage of dry sanitation practice in this community is to minimize the sewage overflow from pit latrines since urine will be separated from solids. As mentioned in Chapter 4, another recommendation is the use of Container Based Sanitation (CBS). These are toilets that collect human excreta in sealable, removable containers that are then transported to a treatment system. CBS could help minimize drinking water contamination in peri-urban areas such as Dar es Salaam, where it is a challenge to manage sewage due to poor road access. CBS can be used in water-scarce areas because it requires low amount of water, it is hygienically safe with proper handling, and is affordable (World Bank, 2019).

#### 6.2.2 Social Aspects

The Tanzanian government should invest in improving access to the city water to meet the demand of this community and the population of Dar es Salaam as a whole. It is highly important to have a good water governance to ensures that water and sanitation services provided by both public and private sectors meet the needs of the people they serve. For the better management of existing water resources and environmental sustainability, proper and effective management of existing water resources and environmental sustainability requires an integrated, cross-sectoral. We recommend the implementation of Integrated Water Resources Management (IWRM) with the main responsibility of addressing the growing demands for water. As suggested by UNDP (2004), IWRM is designed to replace the traditional, sectoral approach to water resources and management that has led to poor services and unsustainable resource use. IWRM expands the development objectives to include environmental health and sustainability, human well-being, and women's empowerment. It addresses the interlinkages between these important areas and makes possible the realistic assessment of trade-offs (UNDP, 2004). Additionally, it is critical to increase the number of women working in the urban water supply management systems through operation and maintenance, water distribution, policymaking and regulations. According to World Bank, water projects that included women were about seven times more effective than those that did not.

# Regulations

One of the effective ways of helping this community and others in peri-urban areas of Dar es Salaam increase access to water and sanitation is through community-based institutions, however, these institutions need good support to advocate effectively for their needs and manage resources fairly and sustainably. Enforcing regulations is critical to ensure that community-based
institutions are functional and public health is protected. More importantly, regulations must be supported by adequate policies, programs, guidelines, standards and codes of practice. This includes holding responsible those who tamper with the existing systems including those who tap illegally into the city water supply.

## Water Vendor Unions

Small-scale water vendors provide an important service for households in this community and in the city of Dar es Salaam as a whole, however, there are many challenges that community members and vendors themselves face, such as poor water quality, high cost and reliability of water. There is a need for more regulatory supervision through the local government to address these issues related to informal water delivery from water vendors. One of the recommendations to address these challenges is to develop mechanisms that ensure better standards of the practice. Given our findings, we believe that vendor unions or trade associations may help address these challenges. These unions should have vendor membership and community engagement to improve the quality of water delivery services. Organized water vendor unions should involve community meetings and advisory boards to improve water delivery outcomes by facilitating vendor cooperation around the establishment and enforcement of rules and norms.

The role of the unions could include:

- Discussing fair prices for water based on circumstances (e.g., availability and demand).
- Hold responsible those vendors who charge more than they should or refuse to give service to those who live far from populated areas or on rough roads.
- Be aware and participate in the development, implementation, and enforcement water quality standards

- Hold regular community meetings to discuss complaints from community members and to assess delivery and treatment
- Be available for emergencies, such as during fires or droughts

## Latrines and Well Sitting

Enforcing standards and regulations for siting and proper construction of septic systems or latrine in this area will help better manage sewage and address challenges related to poor road access and lack of sewerage systems. Sanitation could also be improved through the development and enforcement of standards for the siting of domestic wells. These standards should be based on the depth of the proposed wells, the type of sanitation system, the pumping rate, and hydrogeological properties. Where latrines operate at greater than their design capacity, additional latrines should be constructed except in areas where latrines and drinking water wells are already in close proximity. In this case, other proposed sanitation practices can be implemented as mentioned earlier in this chapter. Additionally, we recommend proper training of local masons in the construction of raised, lined, and ventilated improved pit latrines as well as the use of the compositing latrines (dry sanitation and container-based sanitation practices).

## **Education and Capacity Building**

Programs for sanitation and public health as well as capacity building for public health workers should be developed and made freely available to the community. There is evidence from literature that health education can significantly reduce water contamination at the household level (Metwally et.al., 2007). One of the ways to improve hygiene is to implement integrating hygiene promotion and environmental awareness-related interventions. Through governmental and nongovernmental organizations, hygiene promotion should involve 1) interpersonal communication, such as house-to-house visits, public support meetings, as well as the development and distribution of promotional materials such as posters, flyers, and booklets; and 2) education efforts related to personal hygiene such as hand washing, especially after using the toilet, before eating, before preparing and serving food, and personal hygiene for children. Other relevant practices that can be taught to the community are proper drinking water storage and proper use and maintenance of latrines, for example, covering the latrine while not using it. In addition, it is necessary to implement a multi-barrier approach such as improving the availability of affordable and reliable water storage containers to help residents make better decisions when storing water.

At the household level, education to promote better choices of water treatment technologies will help improve drinking water quality. Basic education about household water treatment methods such as boiling, use of inexpensive water filters, chlorine tablets, and UV light disinfection, could provide a multi-barrier system to protect water quality. Additionally, community education about the quality of water sources is the key to improving water quality and human health at the household level. When residents become aware of the differences in water quality from different sources, it will change their perspective and will encourage them to pay more attention during storage. The key is to empower the community so that they feel that they are responsible for making changes in their own community. Once the community is aware of the condition of their water, education about proper water storage practices along with cost effective household drinking water treatment methods can be implemented.

#### 6.2.3 Future Work

Based on the findings of this study, the following are suggestions for future work:

- 1. Future studies should focus on the larger scale surveys and controlled studies to better assess serious problems related to poor risk perception, low self-efficacy, and low response self-efficacy.
- 2. We acknowledge that other sources of contamination and other factors that may have impacted contamination to water sources, were not covered in this study. Future studies should focus on other factors such as the size of the well opening, means of collecting water such as using buckets, seasonal variations in rainfall patterns, and spatially variable soil and aquifer material characteristics.
- 3. Given the high number and frequency of pit latrine use in our study area, future studies should focus on additional contaminants beyond standard indicators, monitor temporal changes in water quality parameters, climate change, and evaluate alternative technologies that can be used for water quality analysis.
- 4. The groundwater model only considered point sources; however, nonpoint sources could also contribute to groundwater contamination. The future work for groundwater modeling should consider non-point sources that could be the source of groundwater contamination as well as modeling surface water sources such as river and lakes and interactions between hydrologic domains.
- 5. This study was done during the dry season, future work should focus on the wet season as well for the seasonal variation comparison of water quality.

It is hoped that based on the work done so far, some insight has been provided about the way forward in addressing some of the enduring and endemic public health and environmental conditions. REFERENCES

# REFERENCES

- 1. CDC. (2009). Well Siting & Potential Contaminants. Retrieved from Www.cdc.gov website: https://www.cdc.gov/healthywater/drinking/private/wells/location.html
- 2. Jung, Y. T., Narayanan, N. C., & Cheng, Y.-L. (2018). Cost comparison of centralized and decentralized wastewater management systems using optimization model. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 213, 90–97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2018.01.081
- 3. Lachapelle, P. (1995). A Report on human waste management in Mt Everest National Park. Retrieved from http://www.uvm.edu/~rlachape/toilets.html
- 4. Metwally, A., Saad-Hussein, A., Ibrahim, N., Emam, H., & Etreby, L. (2007). Monitoring progress of the role of integration of environmental health education with water and sanitation services in changing community behaviors. *International Journal of Environmental Health Research*, 17, 61–74. https://doi.org/10.1080/09603120600937856
- 5. Pacey, A., & Ross Institute of Tropical Hygiene (Eds.). (1978). Sanitation in developing countries. *Chichester; New York: Wiley*.
- 6. UNDP. (2004). Water governance for poverty reduction. UNDP.
- 7. WHO. (1992). A guide to the development of on-site sanitation. Geneva: *WHO*.
- 8. World Bank. (2019). Evaluating the potential of container-based sanitation. *World Bank* Retrieved from http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/299041550179057693/pdf/-134664-WPP165603-W.pdf